
 
 

Planning Committee 
 

Date: Thursday, 8 June 2023 
Time: 
 

6.00 p.m. 

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Birkenhead Town Hall 

 
 
Contact Officer: Katy Brown 
Tel: 0151 691 8543 
e-mail: katherinebrown@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

 
This meeting will be webcast at 

https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

 
AGENDA  
 
 
 
1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION  
 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
3. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 28) 
 
 To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the Planning Committee 

meeting held on 19 April 2023 and the Strategic Applications Sub 
Committee meeting held on 27 April 2023. 
 

4. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Please note that public seating is limited, therefore members of the public 
are encouraged to arrive in good time. 
 
Wirral Council is fully committed to equalities and our obligations under The 
Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. If you have any 
adjustments that would help you attend or participate at this meeting, please 
let us know as soon as possible and we would be happy to facilitate where 
possible. Please contact committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk 
 

Public Document Pack

https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 Members are asked whether they have any personal or prejudicial 
interests in connection with any application on the agenda and, if so, to 
declare them and state the nature of the interest. 
 

5. APP/23/00471: GRAZING LAND LEASOWE ROAD, WALLASEY 
VILLAGE, WIRRAL, CH45 8LP, ERECTION OF 13 DWELLINGS 
TOGETHER WITH ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE, ACCESS, 
INTERNAL ROADS, LANDSCAPING AND ASSOCIATED WORKS 
(Pages 29 - 56) 

 
6. APPH/22/01521: DEE HAVEN, 94 CALDY ROAD, CALDY, WIRRAL, 

CH48 2HZ, REFURBISHMENT OF EXISTING DWELLING, 
ERECTION OF NEW SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION WITH 
ASSOCIATED LANDSCAPING, INCLUDING DEMOLITION OF 
EXISTING GARAGE AND OUTBUILDINGS, CREATION OF 
ADDITIONAL PARKING SPACE AND REMOVAL OF PART OF 
BOUNDARY WALL TO FACILITATE SAME, AND ERECTION OF 
GARDEN STORE AT REAR. (Pages 57 - 68) 

 
7. APP/22/00334: CAMELL LAIRD, CAMPBELTOWN ROAD, 

BIRKENHEAD, WIRRAL, CH41 9BP, CONSTRUCTION OF A 
BUILDING FOR EMPLOYMENT PURPOSES CLASS E(G)IIII, B2 
AND B8, ALONG WITH A GATEHOUSE ASSOCIATED 
INFRASTRUCTURE INCLUDING: SERVICE YARD, CAR PARKING, 
DRAINAGE AND HARD AND SOFT LANDSCAPING (Pages 69 - 
110) 

 
8. APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO STRATEGIC APPLICATIONS 

SUB-COMMITTEE (Pages 111 - 116) 
 
Planning Committee Terms of Reference 
 
 The terms of reference for this committee can be found at the end of 

this agenda. 
 
 



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 19 April 2023 
 

Present: Councillor S Kelly (Chair) 

 
 Councillors S Foulkes 

G Davies 
T Elzeiny 
H Gorman 
K Hodson 
 

M Jordan 
B Kenny 
P Martin 
P Stuart 
A Wright 
 

In attendance: Councillors  S Powell-Wilde 
 

  
 

Apologies Councillors J McManus  
 

  

 
 

134 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION  
 
The Chair welcomed Members of the Planning Committee, Officers and 
members of the public to the meeting. 
 

135 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Julie McManus, she was deputised 
by Councillor Sue Powell-Wylde. 
 

136 MINUTES  
 
The Director of Law and Governance submitted the minutes of the Planning 
Committee meeting held on 16 March 2023.  
 
Resolved – That the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 
16 March 2023 be approved. 
 

137 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Members of the Committee were asked whether they had any personal or 
prejudicial interests in connection with any item on the agenda and if so, to 
declare them and state what they were. No such declarations were made. 
 

138 APP/22/01656: LAND ADJACENT TO OAK COTTAGE NOCTORUM ROAD, 
NOCTORUM, PRENTON, WIRRAL, CH43 9UQ, THE ERECTION OF A 
SEMI-DETACHED VILLA ON LAND ADJACENT TO OAK COTTAGE,  
WITH ASSOCIATED PARKING PROVISION AND ACCESS (2NO. 
DWELLINGS).  

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
The Development Management Manager presented the report of the Director 
of Regeneration and Place in relation to the above application for 
consideration. 
 
Objector to the application, Mr Matthew Gilbert, addressed the Committee. 
 
Ward Councillor Gillian Wood addressed the Committee. 
 
A representative of the applicant, Mr Simon Halliwell, addressed the 
Committee. 
 
On a motion by Councillor Steve Foulkes and seconded by Councillor Kathy 
Hodson it was –  
 
Resolved (9:3) – that the application be refused on the following 
grounds. 
 
The loss of this previously undeveloped site for a residential 
development, particularly one that has a higher density than the 
prevailing character of the area, would have a clear adverse impact on 
the character of this area and therefore conflicts with Wirral Unitary 
Development Plan Policy HS4 and HS5 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework, in particular Paragraph 124d. 
 
 

Page 2



STRATEGIC APPLICATIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 27 April 2023 
 
Present: Councillors S Foulkes 

K Hodson 
S Kelly (Chair) 

P Stuart 
H Gorman 
 

In attendance: Councillors  A Wright  
G Davies 

  
 

Apologies Councillors  M Jordan 
B Kenny 

  

 
 

23 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION  
 
The Chair welcomed Members of the Planning Committee, Officers and 
members of the public to the meeting. 
 

24 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Brian Kenny and Councillor Mary 
Jordan, they were deputised by Councillor George Davies and Councillor 
Alison Wright. 
 

25 MEMBERS DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Members of the Sub Committee were asked whether they had any personal 
or prejudicial interests in connection with any application on the agenda and if 
so to declare them and state the nature of the interest.  
 
No such declarations were made. 
 

26 APP/22/01686: LAND EAST OF PASTURE ROAD, (INCLUDING MORETON 
LIBRARY, FORMER MORETON YOUTH AND COMMUNITY CENTRE AND 
FORMER FAMILY CENTRE), MORETON.  HYBRID PLANNING 
APPLICATION SEEKING: FULL PLANNING PERMISSION FOR THE: I) 
DEMOLITION OF THE FORMER YOUTH AND COMMUNITY CENTRE AND 
CONSTRUCTION OF A FOOD STORE ON PLOT A TOGETHER WITH 
ACCESS, SERVICING, PARKING, PEDESTRIAN AND CYCLE ROUTE, 
SUBSTATION, LANDSCAPING AND ALL OTHER ASSOCIATED WORKS. 
II) FRONT EXTENSION AND EXTERNAL ALTERATIONS TO MORETON 
LIBRARY ON PLOT B TO INCORPORATE YOUTH PROVISION 
TOGETHER WITH OUTDOOR ACTIVITY AREAS, SUMMER HOUSE, 
LANDSCAPING AND ALL OTHER ASSOCIATED WORKS. OUTLINE 
PLANNING PERMISSION (WITH ALL MATTERS RESERVED EXCEPT 
FOR ACCESS) FOR THE DEMOLITION OF THE FORMER FAMILY 
CENTRE, THE CONSTRUCTION OF A RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT ON 

Public Document Pack

Page 3



PLOT C AND AN EXTRA CARE APARTMENT DEVELOPMENT ON PLOT 
D, BOTH WITH ASSOCIATED PRIVATE AMENITY SPACE, PARKING, 
LANDSCAPING, DRAINAGE AND HIGHWAY WORKS ALONGSIDE THE 
PROVISION OF AN AMEN  
 
The Principal Planner presented the report in relation to the above application 
for consideration. 
 
A representative of the applicant, Hannah Walker, addressed the committee. 
 
On a motion by the Chair, seconded by Councillor Steve Foulkes it was –  
 
Resolved (unanimously) that the application be approved subject to 
following conditions and subject to the completion of an agreement 
pursuant to section 106 of the Town and County Planning Act 1990 in 
accordance with the heads of terms set out in paragraph 3.19 of the 
report: 

 
1. The following plots, as shown on plan Site Masterplan Parameters 
Plan Dwg No. PL(01) 005 Rev E Dated 28/09/17, are hereby permitted in 
FULL:  
• Plot A – Foodstore  
• Plot B - front extension and external alterations to the library 
Development shall be commenced before the expiration of 3 years from 
the date of permission.  
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended).  
2.  The following plots, as shown on plan Site Masterplan Parameters 
Plan Dwg No. PL(01) 005 Rev E Dated 28/09/17, are hereby permitted in 
OUTLINE:  
• Plot C - to provide up to 45 residential dwellings (C3 use)  
• Plot D: - the development of a 100% affordable 80 bed extra care 
apartment development (Use Class C3, with restriction to occupancy 
solely by residents aged 55 years of age and over) with associated 
communal garden, parking, access and boundary treatments.  
• Plot E: to provide a new amenity area (Sui Generis Use 
Classification).  
Approval of the all the reserved matters pertaining to the plots referred 
to in this condition must be made no later than the expiration of 3 years 
from the date of this permission.  
Development of the plots referred to in this condition shall be 
commenced before the expiration of 2 years from the date of the 
approval of the last reserved matters to be approved in relation to the 
relevant plot. 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to comply with Section 92 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  

Page 4



3. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out 
otherwise than in complete accordance with the approved plans and 
documents. The approved site location plan for this application is:  
Site Location Plan Dwg PL(0)001 Rev E Dated 28.09.17 The elements for 
which full planning permission is sought are identified on the following 
plan:  
Detailed Element Location Plan Dwg No. PL(01)002 Rev D Dated 28.09.17  
The remainder of the site outwith the hatched area is the subject to 
outline planning permission. 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt, and in the interests of proper 
planning. 
4. No development shall commence until approval of the details of 
the landscaping, layout, scale and appearance hereinafter called the 
reserved matters for Plots C, D and E shall be obtained in writing from 
the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended). 
5. No tree felling, scrub clearance, hedgerow removal, vegetation 
management, ground clearance or building works is to take place during 
the period 1 March to 31 August inclusive. If it is necessary to undertake 
works during the bird breeding season then all buildings, trees, scrub, 
hedgerows and vegetation are to be checked first by an appropriately 
experienced ecologist to ensure no breeding birds are present. If 
present, details of how they will be protected are required to be 
submitted for approval prior to carrying out any work during this period.  
Reason: To maintain the population of protected species, and to 
maintain and enhance the ecological value of the site in accordance with 
the provisions of the Policy NC7, GR7 of the Wirral UDP and Section 15 
of the National Planning Policy Framework 
 
6.  The following Reasonable Avoidance Measures (RAMs) shall be 
complied with:  
• Existing vegetation on the site shall be gradually cut and removed 
under ecological supervision to encourage any amphibians / reptiles 
present to move away from the affected areas;  
• The working area, together with any storage areas, shall be kept 
clear of debris, and any stored materials will be kept off the ground on 
pallets so as to prevent amphibians / reptiles from seeking shelter or 
protection within them; and  
• Any open excavations (e.g. foundations / footings / service 
trenches etc) shall be covered with plywood sheeting (or similar) at the 
end of each working day. The edges of these sheets shall be covered 
with a thick layer of topsoil or similar) to prevent amphibians / reptiles 
from seeking shelter beneath them. Any excavation must be in-filled and 
made good to ground level with compacted stone or similar at the 
earliest opportunity, so as to remove any hazard to amphibians / 
reptiles.  

Page 5



Reason: To maintain the population of a protected species, and to 
maintain and enhance the ecological value of the site in accordance with 
the provisions of the Policy NC7 of the Wirral UDP and Section 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
7.  The following reasonable avoidance measures should be put in 
place to ensure that there are no adverse effects on hedgehog and 
badger:  
• A pre-commencement check for badger and/or hedgehog 
mammals;  
• All trenches and excavations should have a means of escape (e.g. 
a ramp);  
• Any exposed open pipe systems should be capped to prevent 
mammals gaining access; and, 
• Appropriate storage of materials to ensure that mammals do not 
use them 
All closeboarded fences within the site shall contain 13cm x 13cm gaps 
to allow access and egress for hedgehog, and create ‘hedgehog 
highways’.  
Reason: To maintain the population of a protected species, and to 
maintain and enhance the ecological value of the site in accordance with 
the provisions of the Policy NC7 of the Wirral UDP and Section 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
8. If during re-development contamination not previously considered 
is identified, then an additional written Method Statement regarding this 
material shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. No building shall be occupied until a method 
statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, and measures proposed to deal with the 
contamination have been carried out. Should no contamination be found 
during development then the applicant shall submit a signed statement 
indicating this to discharge this condition.  
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future 
users of the land and dwellings are minimised and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to any 
future occupants, in accordance with Policy POL1, PO5 of the Wirral 
UDP and Section 12 and 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
9.  Noise mitigation measures shall be undertaken in line with the 
mitigation measures as set out in Chapter 5 of the Noise Assessment 
Report for Planning Purposes AEC REPORT: P4405/R01c/DMT, dated 
26th September 2022.  
Reason: To ensure satisfactory living conditions and impacts on nearby 
occupiers having regards to Wirral UDP Policy HS4 and Section 12 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
10. A footpath running from Knutsford Road through to Pasture Road 
towards the south of Plot A and Plot C, and to the north of plots B and E 
shall be provided. Once constructed access should be available to the 
path public in perpetuity, along with the right to pass and repass. This 

Page 6



path shall be shown on any relevant plans submitted at reserved 
matters stage.  
Reason: To ensure access to the proposal can be achieved via a range 
of modes of sustainable transport. In accordance with the provisions of 
Sections 9 and 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
11. To submit an Affordable Housing Scheme with the first Reserved 
Matters Application and obtain written approval from the Council for the 
Affordable housing Scheme prior to Commencement of the first 
Reserved Matters Approval. The Affordable Housing Scheme shall 
include and provide for (inter alia) the following:-  
• The number, type, tenure and size (number of bedrooms) of the 
Affordable Housing Units subject always to the achievement of the 
Tenure Mix;  
• The Location and layout of the Affordable Housing Units;  
• Details of the proposed programme for the construction and 
transfer of the Affordable Housing Units to an Agency (or Agencies); 
and  
• Details of the proposed Agency (or Agencies) To construct the 
Affordable Housing Units in accordance with the approved Affordable 
Housing Scheme together with all associate roads, footpaths, parking 
spaces and services in a good workmanlike manner with good quality 
materials in accordance with the Planning Permission and Tenure Mix 
and in accordance with drawings approved.  
Reason: To ensure that the contribution towards affordable housing is 
delivered on the site in an appropriate manner which meets local need 
and to ensure that any affordable housing remains affordable having 
regard to Policy HS6 of the Wirral UDP (2000) and Policy WS3.3 of the 
emerging Wirral Local Plan (2022). 
Plot A - Foodstore - Conditions  
12.  Plot A shall be developed as a Foodstore (1,895sqm gross floor 
space and 1,251sqm sales floor space). This shall be split:  
• 1,251sqm of sales floorspace;  
• 427sqm of warehouse floorspace including freezers, chillers and 
storage; and,  
• 217sqm of ancillary floorspace including lobby, bakery, meeting 
room, cash room, staff w/c’s, cloakroom and canteen, LT room and 
utility room. 
Reason: In order to ensure the planning application is developed as 
envisaged, in accordance with Policies SHO1 and SH1 of the Wirral UDP 
and Sections 6 and 7 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
13. The development referred to as Plot A hereby permitted shall not 
be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with the approved 
plans and documents. The approved plans and documents for this 
development are:  
• Plot A Site Location Plan Dwg No. PL(01)008 Rev E Dated 28/09/17  
• Proposed Site Plan GA Dwg No. AD_110 April 2022 Rev M Dated 
04.08.22  

Page 7



• Proposed Site Plan Finishes Dwg No. AD_116 Rev L Dated 
04.08.22 
• Proposed Site Plan Topo Overlay Dwg No. AD_119 Rev M Dated 
04.08.22  
• Proposed Site Section Dwg No. AD_121 Rev G Dated 04.08.22  
• Proposed Roof Plan Dwg No. AD_113 Rev F Dated 29.07.22  
• Proposed Elevations Dwg No. AD_114 Rev E Dated 29.07.22  
• Proposed Site Plan Boundary Treatments Dwg No. AD_115 Rev P 
Dated 12.08.22  
• Detailed Element Demolition Plan Dwg No. PL(01)010 Rev E Dated 
28.09.17  
• Proposed Ground Floor Dwg No. AD_111 Rev D Dated 29.07.22  
• Typical Traditional Building Details for 11Kv Brickbuilt Substation 
(Close Couple Gear) Dwg No. SP3020357 Rev 6.0 Dated 27.11.17  
• Delivery, Servicing and Waste Management Plan Doc Ref 
SCP/210089/DSWMP/00 Date Aug 2022 
• Proposed Lighting Layout Dwg No. DWG 01 Rev 2 Dated 29.07.22 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 
14. The opening hours of the foodstore to be located on Plot A to the 
public shall be limited to:  
• 07:00 – 22:00 Monday to Saturday; and,  
• 10:00 – 17:00 on Sundays (6 Hour operation within this to comply 
with Sunday Trading Law).  
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of nearby occupiers, and in 
order to ensure the planning application is developed as envisaged, in 
accordance with Policies SHO1 and SH1 of the Wirral UDP and Sections 
6 and 7 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
15. Notwithstanding the details shown on the submitted plans, prior 
to the commencement of development, except for clearance and 
demolition works, of the food retail store on Plot A full details showing 
the proposed finished ground and floor levels of the hereby approved 
development and nearby dwellings and the existing ground levels, 
including cross sections, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be 
constructed in complete accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the 
development upon completion, the character and appearance of the site 
and surrounding environment and residential amenity, in accordance 
with the provisions of Policies NC7 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
16. Notwithstanding the details submitted with the application, a 
detailed landscaping scheme (including maintenance regime) for Plot A 
shall be submitted and approved prior to first operation of the proposed 
foodstore, showing both hard and soft landscaping proposals, shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
This shall include the planting of locally native trees (including sufficient 
trees to replace any trees that have been removed to develop the 

Page 8



scheme), shrubs and wildflowers of local provenance including a 
planting schedule setting out species, numbers, densities and locations, 
the provision of screen walls or fences, the mounding of earth, the 
creation of areas of hardstanding, pathways, etc., areas to be seeded 
with grass, and other works or proposals for improving the appearance 
of the development. The scheme shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved scheme not later than the expiry of the next planting 
season (November – March inclusive) following commencement of the 
development in that phase, or within such other time as may be 
approved with the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, conservation of ecology and 
biodiversity, and the satisfactory appearance of the development upon 
completion, in accordance with the provisions of Policies NC7, GR5, and 
GR7 of the Wirral UDP and Sections 12 and 15 the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
17. Notwithstanding any description of the materials in the 
application, no construction of the Foodstore, located on Plot A, above 
damp proof course level shall be undertaken until precise details, to 
include samples, of the materials to be used in the construction of the 
external walls and roofs of the Food store have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. All roofing and 
external facing materials used in the construction of the development 
shall conform to the materials thereby approved.  
Reason: In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the 
development upon completion and the character and appearance of the 
site and surrounding environment, in accordance with the provisions of 
Policies SHO1, SH8 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
18. A waste audit or a similar mechanism (e.g. a site waste 
management plan) for the construction of the proposed Foodstore on 
Plot A shall be submitted and approved prior to commencement of 
development of the Foodstore to be located on Plot A.  
Reason: In order to deal with waste from the site effectively and in order 
to comply with Policy WM8 of the Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste 
Local Plan. 
19. During the operation of the foodstore located on Plot A the 
measures included within the Delivery, Servicing and Waste 
Management Plan (SCP August 2022) shall be complied with.  
Reason: In order to deal with waste from the site effectively and in order 
to comply with Policy WM9 of the Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste 
Local Plan. 
20.  Plot A shall include:  
• Full height glazing to utilise natural light;  
• Composite paneling to reduce Maintenace and increase thermal 
insulation, also it is fully rescuable/reusable;  
• Air Source Heat Pump; and,  
• Water efficient fixtures and fittings.  

Page 9



Reason: To ensure the proposal is developed as envisaged, and in 
accordance with Policy REN1, and Section 12 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
21. The development of Plot A shall not be implemented until the 
surface water drainage of the site has been designed to prevent the 
discharge of water on to the public highway. The drainage design shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council as Local 
Planning Authority, and shall be implemented in line with the approved 
details.  
Reason: To prevent unnecessary surface water from being deposited on 
to the highway thus causing a potential source of danger to other road 
users in the interests of highway safety, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Policy WA2, WA5 of the Wirral UDP and Sections 12 
and 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
22. The development of plot A shall not be brought into use until the 
areas indicated on the submitted plans to be set aside for parking and 
servicing have been surfaced, drained and permanently marked out or 
demarcated in accordance with the details and specifications shown in 
drawing number AD_110 Proposed Site Plan GA. The parking and 
servicing areas shall be retained as such thereafter.  
Reason: To ensure that adequate provision is made on the site for the 
traffic generated by the development, including allowance for safe 
circulation, manoeuvring, loading and unloading of vehicles as well as 
parking, and that hard-surfaced areas have a satisfactory appearance, in 
the interest of highway safety, and in accordance with the provisions of 
the Policies WA2, WA5, TR9, TR13 of the Wirral UDP and Section 9 the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
23. The development of plot A shall not be brought into use until the 
areas indicated on the submitted plans to be set aside for cycle parking 
have been provided in accordance with the details and specifications 
shown in drawing number AD_110 Proposed Site Plan GA. The cycle 
parking shall be retained as such thereafter.  
Reason: To ensure that adequate provision is made for parking cycles 
on the site; and to establish measures to encourage non-car modes of 
transport, in accordance with the provisions of the Policy TR12 of the 
Wirral UDP and Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
24. Prior to the commencement of development of Plot A, a 
Construction and Environmental Management Plan for the development 
on Plot A shall be submitted to and approved in writing by The Local 
Planning Authority. The provisions of the Construction and 
Environmental Management Plan shall be implemented in full during the 
period of demolition and construction and shall not be varied unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To prevent nuisance in the interests of ecology and biodiversity 
conservation and enhancement, residential amenity and highway safety, 
in accordance with the provisions of the Policies NC7, GR5, WA2, WA5, 

Page 10



TRT3 of the Wirral UDP and Sections 9, 12, 14 and 15 the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
25. Twelve months after first occupation of the Foodstore to be 
located on Plot A details of a Full Employee Travel Plan for Plot A of the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. At all times thereafter the approved Full Travel Plan 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details on both 
elements of the development. This Full Travel Plan must include: i. 
details of and results from an initial travel survey; ii. clearly specified 
ongoing targets for travel mode shares; iii. a plan for monitoring and 
reviewing the effectiveness of the Full Travel Plan; and iv. a scheme 
providing for a biennial monitoring report to be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority regarding the implementation of the Full Travel Plan.  
Reason: In the interests of Sustainable Development, in accordance with 
Policies TRT1, TRT3, TR9, TR11, TR12, and TR13 of the Wirral UDP and 
Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
26. Prior to the installation of any external plant on Plot A the 
specification of plant and an acoustic report shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any external plant 
shall thereafter be installed and maintained in accordance with the 
approved information.  
Reason: For the protection of public amenity in accordance with Policy 
POL1, PO1, PO3, PO4 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
27. Prior to the commencement of development on Plot A, details of a 
sustainable surface water drainage scheme and a foul water drainage 
scheme, and satisfactory Flood Risk Assessment for the development 
on Plot A shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The drainage schemes must include:  
(i) An investigation of the hierarchy of drainage options in the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (or any subsequent amendment thereof). 
This investigation shall include evidence of an assessment of ground 
conditions and the potential for infiltration of surface water in 
accordance with BRE365;  
(ii) A restricted rate of discharge of surface water agreed with the local 
planning authority (if it is agreed that infiltration is discounted by the 
investigations) of 5 litres per second. 
(iii) Levels of the proposed drainage systems including proposed 
ground and finished floor levels in AOD;  
(iv) Incorporate mitigation measures to manage the risk of sewer 
surcharge if required; and 
(v) Foul and surface water shall drain on separate systems. The 
approved schemes shall also be in accordance with the Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage. Prior to occupation of the 
proposed development, the drainage schemes shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter for the 
lifetime of the development.  

Page 11



Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage 
and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 
28. Construction of the development on plot A authorised by this 
permission shall not begin until the LPA has approved in writing a full 
scheme of works on the adopted highway and any amendments to the 
existing highway made necessary by this development, including details 
of the removal of obsolete vehicle crossing accesses, a new footway, a 
pedestrian refuge with dropped tactile crossing points and new TRO 
requirements. The approved works shall be completed in accordance 
with the LPA written approval and prior to occupation of the 
development.  
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy 
TR8, TR9, TRT3, TRT1 of the Wirral UDP and Section 9 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
Plot B – Library – Conditions 
29. The development on Plot B hereby permitted shall not be carried 
out otherwise than in complete accordance with the approved plans and 
documents. The approved plans and documents for this development 
are:  
• Library (Plot B) Proposed Site Plan Dwg No. B03536-P05 Date 
June 2022  
• Library (Plot B) Proposed Floor Plan Dwg No. B03536-P06 Dated 
June 2022  
• Library (Plot B) Proposed Elevations Dwg No. B03536-P07 Dated 
June 2022  
• Library (Plot B) Existing and Proposed Site Sections Dwg No. 
B03536-P08 Date June 2022 
• Library (Plot B) Existing Roof Plan and Proposed Roof Plan Dwg 
No. B03536-P09 Date June 2022 
• Plot B Site Location Plan Dwg No. PL(01)009 Rev E Date 28/09/17  
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 
30.  Notwithstanding the details shown on the submitted plans, prior 
to the commencement of development of alterations and extension to 
the library, located on Plot B, full details showing the proposed finished 
ground and floor levels of the hereby approved development and 
dwellings and the existing ground levels, including cross sections, shall 
be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall thereafter be constructed in complete 
accordance with the approved details. Reason: In the interests of the 
satisfactory appearance of the development upon completion, the 
character and appearance of the site and surrounding environment and 
residential amenity, in accordance with the provisions of Policies WA2, 
WA5, PO1, POL1 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  
31. Prior to the installation of any external lighting in association with 
the development on Plot B hereby permitted, details of the external 

Page 12



lighting shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Details shall include:  
• the specific location of all external lighting units;  
• design of all lighting units; - details of beam orientation and lux 
levels; and,  
• any proposed measures such as motion sensors and timers that 
will be used on lighting units The approved lighting scheme for shall be 
installed in accordance with the approved details and shall be 
maintained as such thereafter, unless removed entirely.  
Reason: In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the 
development upon completion and the character and appearance of the 
site and surrounding environment, in accordance with the provisions of 
Policies NC7, PO1, POL1 of the Wirral UDP and Sections 12 and 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
32.  The development of plot B shall not be implemented until the 
surface water drainage of the site has been designed to prevent the 
discharge of water on to the public highway. The drainage design shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council as Local 
Planning Authority. 
Reason: To prevent unnecessary surface water from being deposited on 
to the highway thus causing a potential source of danger to other road 
users, in accordance with the provisions of the Policies WA2, WA5 of 
the Wirral UDP and the Sections 12 and 14 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
33. Prior to the commencement of development of Plot B, a 
Construction and Environmental Management Plan, for Plot B, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by The Local Planning Authority. 
The provisions of the Construction Management Plan shall be 
implemented in full during the period of demolition and construction and 
shall not be varied unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  
Reason: To prevent nuisance in the interests of ecology and biodiversity 
conservation and enhancement, residential amenity and highway safety, 
in accordance with the provisions of the Policies NC7, GR5, WA2, WA5 
of the Wirral UDP and Sections 9, 12, 14, and 15 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  
34.  The Library shall not be open for patrons between the hours of 
22:00 and 07:00.  
Reason: To ensure the amenity of nearby occupiers is ensured, in 
accordance with Policies PO1, POL1 of the Wirral UDP and S12 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
35. No development shall commence on Plot B until detailed plans 
and particulars of the sustainable drainage system, in the form of a 
‘Confirmed/Final’ Sustainable Drainage Strategy, for the management 
and disposal of surface water from the site has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with 
the Lead Local Flood Authority. This is to include details of how surface 

Page 13



water will be managed during the construction phase and detailing 
mitigation measures to ensure no increase in flood risk to adjacent 
plots, highway or properties.  
The drainage strategy shall comply with the Terms of Condition below 
and shall be developed in accordance with the discharge hierarchy and 
limit the surface water discharge rate to no more than 5 l/s. The 
sustainable surface water drainage strategy shall be in accordance with 
the following submitted document:  
• Flood Risk Assessment - Pasture Road, Moreton, Wirral Growth 
Company [18-01-23/ document ref: 078293-CUR-XX-XX-RP-C-
00001/Curtins]  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory drainage system is provided to serve 
the site in accordance with Paragraphs 167 & 169 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and 
Nonstatutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems.  
36. The development of “Plot B” hereby permitted by this planning 
permission, including all components of the sustainable drainage 
system, shall be carried out in accordance with the approved final 
Sustainable Drainage Strategy, including any phasing embodied within, 
and maintained in perpetuity in accordance with an agreed Operation 
and Maintenance Plan in consultation with the Lead Local Flood 
Authority.  
The approved drainage scheme for Plot B shall be fully constructed 
prior to occupation. ‘As built’ drainage design/layout drawings and a 
final Operation and Maintenance Plan, confirming asset details and 
maintenance arrangements in accordance with the approved details, 
shall be submitted prior to occupation or within any other period as may 
subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Lead Local Flood Authority.  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory drainage system is provided to serve 
the site in accordance with Paragraphs 167 & 169 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and 
Nonstatutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems. 
Plot C - Dwellings - Conditions  
37. Plot C Shall be developed for residential development (Use Class 
C3) Reason: In order to ensure the planning application is developed as 
envisaged. 
38. The development on Plot C hereby permitted shall not be carried 
out otherwise than in complete accordance with the approved plans and 
documents. The approved plans and documents for this development 
are:  
• Plot C Proposed Access Arrangement Visibility Splays and Swept 
Path Analysis Rev F Dated 12/07/22  
• Plot C Proposed emergency access Knutsford Road Rev C Date 
21/06/22  
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans, in the interests of proper planning. 

Page 14



39. Notwithstanding the details shown on the submitted plans, prior 
to the commencement of development of the dwellings on Plot C full 
details showing the proposed finished ground and floor levels of the 
hereby approved development and nearby dwellings and the existing 
ground levels, including cross sections, shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall thereafter be constructed in complete accordance with the 
approved details.  
Reason: In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the 
development upon completion, the character and appearance of the site 
and surrounding environment and residential amenity, in accordance 
with the provisions of Policies WA2, WA5, PO1, POL1 of the Wirral UDP 
and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
40. Notwithstanding any description of the materials in the 
application, no construction of the dwellings on plot C above damp 
proof course level shall be undertaken until precise details, to include 
samples, of the materials to be used in the construction of the external 
walls and roofs of the dwellings and garages have been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. All roofing and 
external facing materials used in the construction of the development on 
Plot C shall conform to the materials thereby approved. Reason: In the 
interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development upon 
completion and the character and appearance of the site and 
surrounding environment, in accordance with the provisions of Policies 
HS4 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
41 Prior to the installation of any external lighting in association with 
the development hereby permitted on plot C, details of the external 
lighting shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Details shall include:  
• the specific location of all external lighting units;  
• design of all lighting units; - details of beam orientation and lux 
levels; and,  
• any proposed measures such as motion sensors and timers that 
will be used on lighting units The approved lighting scheme for shall be 
installed in accordance with the approved details and shall be 
maintained as such thereafter, unless removed entirely.  
Reason: In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the 
development upon completion and the character and appearance of the 
site and surrounding environment, in accordance with the provisions of 
Policies NC7, PO1, POL1 of the Wirral UDP and Sections 12 and 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
42. Prior to the commencement of the landscaping works to be 
approved, a detailed landscape management plan and details of 
management and maintenance for the provision and subsequent 
maintenance of the areas of open space (excluding private gardens) for 
plot C shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 

Page 15



Planning Authority. This shall include provision to replace any trees to 
be removed as part of this scheme. The landscaped areas shall be 
subsequently maintained to ensure establishment and management of 
the approved scheme in accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and the satisfactory 
appearance of the development upon completion, in accordance with 
the provisions of Policies NC7, GR5, GR6, GR7, WA2, WA5, HS4 of the 
Wirral UDP and Section 12 and 15 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
43. Notwithstanding the details shown on the submitted plans, prior 
to their construction precise details for the elevations of the boundary 
treatments for plot C hereby approved shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall thereafter be constructed in complete accordance with the 
approved details.  
Reason: In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the 
development upon completion and the character and appearance of the 
site and surrounding environment, in accordance with the provisions of 
Policies NC7, GR5, GR6, HS4 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 and 15 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
44. An ecological mitigation strategy shall be incorporated within the 
detailed landscaping plan for the wider site and submitted with the 
future Reserved Matters application for Plots C. This shall include the 
following:  
• The provision of invertebrate refugia and bird boxes;  
• Provision of wildflower areas and maximising the extent of nectar 
bearing species; and, 
• Provision of native species throughout the site.  
Reason: To maintain the favourable conservation status of protected 
species and encourage Biodiversity, in accordance with the provisions 
of the Policies NC7, GR5, GR6 and HS4 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 
and 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
45. A waste audit or a similar mechanism (e.g. a site waste 
management plan) for the construction of the proposed development on 
Plot C shall be submitted and approved prior to commencement of 
development to be located on Plot C.  
Reason: In order to deal with waste from the site effectively and in order 
to comply with Policy WM8 of the Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste 
Local Plan. 
46. Prior to occupation of the first dwelling on Plot C Details 
regarding household waste storage and collection shall be submitted 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Household 
Storage and Collection shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details.  
Reason: In order that waste from the site is dealt with effectively policy 
WM9 of the Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste Local Plan.  

Page 16



47. The development of plot C shall not be implemented until the 
surface water drainage of the site has been designed to prevent the 
discharge of water on to the public highway. The drainage design shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council as Local 
Planning Authority. Surface water drainage shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: To prevent unnecessary surface water from being deposited on 
to the highway thus causing a potential source of danger to other road 
users, in accordance with the provisions of the Policies WA2, WA5 of 
the Wirral UDP and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
48. Prior to the commencement of development of Plot C, a 
Construction and Environmental Management Plan for Plot C shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by The Local Planning Authority. 
The provisions of the Construction and Environmental Management 
Plan for Plot C shall be implemented in full during the period of 
demolition and construction and shall not be varied unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To prevent nuisance in the interests of ecology and biodiversity 
conservation and enhancement, residential amenity and highway safety, 
in accordance with the provisions of the Policies NC7, GR5, GR6, WA2, 
WA5, PO1, POL1, PO3, PO4 of the Wirral UDP and Sections 9, 12, 14 and 
15 the National Planning Policy Framework. 
49. Twelve months after first occupation of the dwellings on plot C 
details of a Full Travel Plan for the development on Plot C shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. At 
all times thereafter the approved Full Travel Plan shall be implemented 
in accordance with the approved details on both elements of the 
development. This Full Travel Plan must include: i. details of and results 
from an initial travel survey; ii. clearly specified ongoing targets for 
travel mode shares; iii. a plan for monitoring and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the Full Travel Plan; and iv. a scheme providing for a 
biennial monitoring report to be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority regarding the implementation of the Full Travel Plan.  
Reason: In the interests of Sustainable Development, in accordance with 
Policies TRT1, TRT3, TR9, TR11, TR12, and TR13 of the Wirral UDP and 
Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
50. The reserved matters application for the development of plot C 
shall be submitted with a masterplan for the whole plot demonstrating a 
comprehensive and phased approach to plot delivery including 
timescales for development of associated infrastructure and public 
realm. Each reserved matters application shall also include a daylight 
and sunlight analysis of the impact of any development on surrounding 
residential properties (both proposed and existing).  
Reason: To ensure a comprehensive approach is followed and to ensure 
the proposal safeguards residential amenity, in accordance with the 

Page 17



provisions of the Policy HS4 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
51. 66% of dwellings on Plot C shall be for C3 dwellings with 3+ 
Bedrooms  
Reason: To ensure the Plot is developed as envisaged and achieves a 
suitable housing mix in accordance with Section 5 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and WS3.4 of the Wirral Local Plan.  
52. Schemes for Reserved matters applications on plot C shall be 
designed so as to achieve secured by design principles. Details of how 
each plot complies with this shall be included with the reserved matters 
application, and where appropriate include:  
• Security provisions in place prior to and through the construction 
phase;  
• Details of new street lighting;  
• Installation of CCTV;  
• Site layout utilized to maximise natural surveillance;  
• Avoidance of blank elevations in order to reduce opportunities for 
graffiti, inappropriate loitering and potentially anti-social ball games.  
Reason: To provide a safe and secure environment, in accordance with 
the provisions of the Policy PO1, POL1 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
53. 10% of dwellings on Plot D shall be compliant with Building 
Regulations Part M4(3), with the remainder of dwellings on Plot D and 
Plot C to be compliant with Building Regulations Part M4(2).  
Reason: To ensure the Plot is developed as envisaged and achieves a 
suitable housing mix to help meet local housing needs.  
54. No development above damp proof course level for any dwelling 
on Plot C shall commence until a Construction Statement detailing how 
new homes on Plot C shall meet a water efficiency standard of 110 litres 
or less per person per day unless it has been otherwise demonstrated 
that this requirement for sustainable water use cannot be achieved on 
technical or viability grounds. The development shall be carried out and 
maintained in accordance with the approved detail.  
Reason: In the absence of such details being provided within the 
planning submission, details are required to ensure that the 
development delivers a level of sustainable water use in accordance 
with Section 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
55. Prior to the commencement of any development of Plot C and as 
part of an application for the approval of reserved matters for layout, 
appearance and landscaping, full and final details of a sustainable 
surface water drainage system to serve the site alongside details of how 
surface water will be managed during the construction phase that 
details any mitigation measures to ensure no increase in flood risk to 
adjacent plots, highway or properties shall be submitted for 
consideration by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the 
Lead Local Flood Authority.  

Page 18



The drainage strategy shall comply with the Terms of Condition below 
and shall be developed in accordance with the discharge hierarchy and 
limit the surface water discharge rate to greenfield QBAR. The 
sustainable surface water drainage strategy shall be in accordance with 
the following submitted document:  
• Flood Risk Assessment - Pasture Road, Moreton, Wirral Growth 
Company [18-01-23/ document ref: 078293-CUR-XX-XX-RP-C-00001/Rev 
V07/Curtins]  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory drainage system is provided to serve 
the site in accordance with Paragraphs 167 & 169 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and 
Nonstatutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems.  
56. The development of “Plot C” hereby permitted by this planning 
permission, including all components of the sustainable drainage 
system, shall be carried out in accordance with the approved final 
Sustainable Drainage Strategy, including any phasing embodied within, 
and maintained in perpetuity in accordance with an agreed Operation 
and Maintenance Plan in consultation with the Lead Local Flood 
Authority.  
The approved drainage scheme for Plot C shall be fully constructed 
prior to occupation. ‘As built’ drainage design/layout drawings and a 
final Operation and Maintenance Plan, confirming asset details and 
maintenance arrangements in accordance with the approved details, 
shall be submitted prior to occupation or within any other period as may 
subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Lead Local Flood Authority.  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory drainage system is provided to serve 
the site in accordance with Paragraphs 167 & 169 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and Non-
statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems. 
57.  Construction of the development authorised by this permission 
on plot C shall not begin until the LPA has approved in writing a full 
scheme of works on the adopted highway and any amendments to the 
existing highway made necessary by this development, including details 
of the removal of obsolete vehicle crossing accesses, a new footway, a 
pedestrian refuge with dropped tactile crossing points and new TRO 
requirements. The approved works shall be completed in accordance 
with the LPA written approval and prior to occupation of the 
development.  
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with 
PolicyTR8, TR9, TRT3, TRT1 of the Wirral UDP and Section 9 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
58. Plot D shall be developed as an 80 unit Care Home (Extra Care 
‘Lite’) (C3 Use Class with restriction to occupancy solely by residents 
aged 55 years of age and over)  
Reason: In order to ensure the planning application is developed as 
envisaged. 

Page 19



59. Notwithstanding the details shown on the submitted plans, prior 
to the commencement of development of the Care Home, on Plot D, full 
details showing the proposed finished ground and floor levels of the 
hereby approved development and dwellings and the existing ground 
levels, including cross sections, shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
thereafter be constructed in complete accordance with the approved 
details.  
Reason: In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the 
development upon completion, the character and appearance of the site 
and surrounding environment and residential amenity, in accordance 
with the provisions of Policies HS8, POL1, PO1, PO3, PO4 of the Wirral 
UDP and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
60. Notwithstanding any description of the materials in the 
application, no construction of the Care Home on Plot D, above damp 
proof course level shall be undertaken until precise details, to include 
samples, of the materials to be used in the construction of the external 
walls and roofs of the dwellings and garages have been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. All roofing and 
external facing materials used in the construction of the development 
shall conform to the materials thereby approved.  
Reason: In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the 
development upon completion and the character and appearance of the 
site and surrounding environment, in accordance with the provisions of 
Policies HS8 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  
61. Prior to the installation of any external lighting in association with 
the development hereby permitted on plot D, details of the external 
lighting shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Details shall include:  
• the specific location of all external lighting units;  
• design of all lighting units; - details of beam orientation and lux 
levels; and,  
• any proposed measures such as motion sensors and timers that 
will be used on lighting units The approved lighting scheme for shall be 
installed in accordance with the approved details and shall be 
maintained as such thereafter, unless removed entirely. 
Reason: In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the 
development upon completion and the character and appearance of the 
site and surrounding environment, in accordance with the provisions of 
Policies POL1, PO1 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
62. Prior to the commencement of the landscaping works to be 
approved, a detailed landscape management plan and details of 
management and maintenance for the provision and subsequent 
maintenance of the areas of open space for Plot D shall be submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This shall 

Page 20



include provision to replace any trees to be removed as part of this 
scheme. The landscaped areas shall be subsequently maintained to 
ensure establishment and management of the approved scheme in 
accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and the satisfactory 
appearance of the development upon completion, in accordance with 
the provisions of Policies NC7, GR5, GR7, WA2, WA5, HS8 of the Wirral 
UDP and Sections 12 and 15 the National Planning Policy Framework.  
63. Notwithstanding the details shown on the submitted plans, prior 
to the construction of the Care Home above damp proof course level 
precise details for the elevations of the boundary treatments for Plot D 
hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be 
constructed in complete accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the 
development upon completion and the character and appearance of the 
site and surrounding environment, in accordance with the provisions of 
Policies NC7, GR5, HS8 of the Wirral UDP and Sections 12 and 15 the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
64. An ecological mitigation strategy shall be incorporated within the 
detailed landscaping plan for the wider site and submitted with the 
future Reserved Matters application for Plot D. This shall include the 
following:  
• The provision of invertebrate refugia and bird boxes;  
• Provision of wildflower areas and maximising the extent of nectar 
bearing species; and, 
• Provision of native species throughout the site.  
Reason: To maintain the favourable conservation status of protected 
species and encourage biodiversity in accordance with the provisions of 
the Policies NC7, GR5 of the Wirral UDP and Section 15 the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  
65. A waste audit or a similar mechanism (e.g. a site waste 
management plan) for the construction of the proposed development on 
Plot D shall be submitted and approved prior to commencement of 
development to be located on Plot C.  
Reason: In order to deal with waste from the site effectively and in order 
to comply with Policy WM8 of the Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste 
Local Plan. 
66. Prior to first occupation of the Care Home on Plot D Details 
regarding waste storage and collection shall be submitted and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Waste Storage and Collection 
shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: In order that waste from the site is dealt with effectively policy 
WM9 of the Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste Local Plan.  
67. The development of plot D shall not be implemented until the 
surface water drainage of the site has been designed to prevent the 
discharge of water on to the public highway. The drainage design shall 

Page 21



be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council as Local 
Planning Authority. The drainage system shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: To prevent unnecessary surface water from being deposited on 
to the highway thus causing a potential source of danger to other road 
users, in accordance with the provisions of the Policies WA2, WA5 of 
the Wirral UDP and Sections 9 and 14 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
68. Prior to the commencement of development of Plot D, a 
Construction and Environmental Management Plan for Plot D shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The provisions of the Construction and Environment Management Plan 
shall be implemented in full during the period of demolition and 
construction and shall not be varied unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To prevent nuisance in the interests of ecology and biodiversity 
conservation and enhancement, residential amenity and highway safety, 
in accordance with the provisions of the Policies NC7, GR5, WA2, WA5 
of the Wirral UDP and Sections 9, 12, 14 and 15 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
69. Twelve months after first occupation of the development on plot D 
(Care Home) details of a Full Travel Plan shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. At all times 
thereafter the approved Full Travel Plan shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details on both elements of the 
development. This Full Travel Plan must include: i. details of and results 
from an initial travel survey; ii. clearly specified ongoing targets for 
travel mode shares; iii. a plan for monitoring and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the Full Travel Plan; and iv. a scheme providing for a 
biennial monitoring report to be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority regarding the implementation of the Full Travel Plan.  
Reason: In the interests of Sustainable Development, in accordance with 
Policies TRT1, TRT3, TR9, TR11, TR12, and TR13 of the Wirral UDP and 
Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
70. The reserved matters application for the development of plot C 
shall be submitted with a masterplan for the whole plot demonstrating a 
comprehensive and phased approach to plot delivery including 
timescales for development of associated infrastructure and public 
realm. The reserved matters application shall also include a daylight and 
sunlight analysis of the impact of the development on surrounding 
residential properties (both proposed and existing).  
Reason: To ensure a comprehensive approach is followed and to ensure 
the proposal safeguards residential amenity, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Policy HS8 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
71. Prior to the installation of any external plan on Plot D the 
specification of plant and an acoustic report shall be submitted to and 

Page 22



approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any external plant 
shall thereafter be installed and maintained in accordance with the 
approved information.  
Reason: For the protection of public amenity in accordance with Policy 
POL1, PO1, PO3, PO4 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
72. Schemes for Reserved matters applications on plot D shall be 
designed so as to achieve secured by design principles. Details of how 
each plot complies with this shall be included with the reserved matters 
application, and where appropriate include:  
• Security provisions in place prior to and through the construction 
phase;  
• Details of new street lighting;  
• Installation of CCTV;  
• Site layout utilized to maximise natural surveillance;  
• Avoidance of blank elevations in order to reduce opportunities for 
graffiti, inappropriate loitering and potentially anti-social ball games.  
Reason: To provide a safe and secure environment, in accordance with 
the provisions of the Policy NC7 HS8 of the Wirral UDP and Section 12 
and 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
73. Prior to the commencement of any development of Plot D and as 
part of an application for the approval of reserved matters for layout, 
appearance and landscaping full and final details of a sustainable 
surface water drainage system to serve the site and method of 
implementation shall be submitted for consideration by the Local 
Planning Authority in consultation with Lead Local Flood Authority. The 
drainage strategy shall comply with the terms of condition below and 
shall be developed in accordance with the discharge hierarchy and limit 
the surface water discharge rate to greenfield QBAR. The sustainable 
surface water drainage strategy shall be in accordance with the 
following submitted document:  
• Flood Risk Assessment - Pasture Road, Moreton, Wirral Growth 
Company [18-01-23/ document ref: 078293-CUR-XX-XX-RP-C-00001/Rev 
V07/Curtins]  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory drainage system is provided to serve 
the site in accordance with Paragraphs 167 & 169 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and Non-
statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems. 
74. The development of “Plot D” hereby permitted by this planning 
permission, including all components of the sustainable drainage 
system, shall be carried out in accordance with the approved final 
Sustainable Drainage Strategy, including any phasing embodied within, 
and maintained in perpetuity in accordance with an agreed Operation 
and Maintenance Plan in consultation with the Lead Local Flood 
Authority.  
The approved drainage scheme for Plot B shall be fully constructed 
prior to occupation. ‘As built’ drainage design/layout drawings and a 

Page 23



final Operation and Maintenance Plan, confirming asset details and 
maintenance arrangements in accordance with the approved details, 
shall be submitted prior to occupation or within any other period as may 
subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Lead Local Flood Authority.  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory drainage system is provided to serve 
the site in accordance with Paragraphs 167 & 169 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and Non-
statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems 
75. Construction of the development authorised by this permission 
on plot D shall not begin until the LPA has approved in writing a full 
scheme of works on the adopted highway and any amendments to the 
existing highway made necessary by this development, including details 
of the removal of obsolete vehicle crossing accesses, a new footway, a 
pedestrian refuge with dropped tactile crossing points and new TRO 
requirements. The approved works shall be completed in accordance 
with the LPA written approval and prior to occupation of the 
development.  
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with 
PolicyTR8, TR9, TRT3, TRT1 of the Wirral UDP and Section 9 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
76. Plot E Shall be developed as an Amenity Area  
Reason: In order to ensure the planning application is developed as 
envisaged. 
77.  Prior to the installation of any external lighting in association with 
the development hereby permitted on plot E, details of the external 
lighting shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Details shall include:  
• the specific location of all external lighting units;  
• design of all lighting units; - details of beam orientation and lux 
levels; and,  
• any proposed measures such as motion sensors and timers that 
will be used on lighting units The approved lighting scheme for shall be 
installed in accordance with the approved details and shall be 
maintained as such thereafter, unless removed entirely.  
Reason: In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the 
development upon completion and the character and appearance of the 
site and surrounding environment, in accordance with the provisions of 
Policies NC7, POL1, PO1 of the Wirral UDP and Sections 12 and 15 the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
78. Prior to the commencement of the landscaping works to be 
approved, a detailed landscape management plan and details of 
management for the provision and subsequent maintenance of the areas 
of amenity space for plot E shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The landscaped areas shall be 
subsequently maintained to ensure establishment and management of 
the approved scheme in accordance with the approved details.  

Page 24



Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and the satisfactory 
appearance of the development upon completion, in accordance with 
the provisions of Policies NC7, GR5 of the Wirral UDP and Sections 12 
and 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
79. Notwithstanding the details shown on the submitted plans, prior 
to the construction of the amenity area precise details for the elevations 
of the boundary treatments for plot E hereby approved shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall thereafter be constructed in complete 
accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the 
development upon completion and the character and appearance of the 
site and surrounding environment, in accordance with the provisions of 
Policies NC7, GR5 of the Wirral UDP and Sections 9 and 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
80. An ecological mitigation strategy shall be incorporated within the 
detailed landscaping plan for the wider site and submitted with the 
future Reserved Matters application for Plot E. This shall include the 
following:  
• The provision of invertebrate refugia and bird boxes;  
• Provision of wildflower areas and maximising the extent of nectar 
bearing species; and, 
• Provision of native species throughout the site.  
Reason: To maintain the favourable conservation status of protected 
species and encourage biodiversity, in accordance with the provisions 
of the Policies NC7, GR5 of the Wirral UDP and Section 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
81. The development of Plot E shall not be implemented until the 
surface water drainage of the site has been designed to prevent the 
discharge of water on to the public highway. The drainage design shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council as Local 
Planning Authority.  
Reason: To prevent unnecessary surface water from being deposited on 
to the highway thus causing a potential source of danger to other road 
users, in accordance with the provisions of the Policies WA2, WA5 of 
the Wirral UDP and Sections, 9, 12 and 14 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  
82. Prior to the commencement of development of plot E, a 
Construction and Environmental Management Plan shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by The Local Planning Authority. The provisions 
of the Construction and Environmental Management Plan shall be 
implemented in full during the period of demolition and construction and 
shall not be varied unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  
Reason: To prevent nuisance in the interests of ecology and biodiversity 
conservation and enhancement, residential amenity and highway safety, 
in accordance with the Policies NC7, GR5, WA2, WA5, POL1, PO1, PO3, 

Page 25



PO4 of the Wirral UDP and Sections 9, 12, 14 and 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
83. The reserved matters application for the development of plot E 
shall be submitted with a masterplan for the whole plot demonstrating a 
comprehensive and phased approach to plot delivery including 
timescales for development of associated infrastructure and public 
realm.  
Reason: To ensure a comprehensive approach is followed and to ensure 
the proposal safeguards residential amenity, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Policy POL1, PO2, PO3, PO4 of the Wirral UDP and 
Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
84. Prior to the commencement of any development of Plot E and as 
part of an application for the approval of reserved matters for layout, 
appearance and landscaping full and final details of a sustainable 
surface water drainage system to serve the site and method of 
implementation shall be submitted for consideration by the Local 
Planning Authority in consultation with Lead Local Flood Authority. The 
drainage strategy shall comply with the terms of condition below and 
shall be developed in accordance with the discharge hierarchy and limit 
the surface water discharge rate to greenfield rates. The sustainable 
surface water drainage strategy shall be in accordance with the 
following submitted documents:  
• Flood Risk Assessment - Pasture Road, Moreton, Wirral Growth 
Company [18-01-23/ document ref: 078293-CUR-XX-XX-RP-C-00001/Rev 
V07/Curtins] 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory drainage system is provided to serve 
the site in accordance with Paragraphs 167 & 169 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and Non-
statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems. 
85. Prior to the commencement of any works on Plot E the applicant 
shall submit a method statement for Wall Cotoneaster, prepared by a 
competent person, which includes the following information:  
• A plan showing the extent of the plants;  
• The methods that will be used to prevent the plant/s spreading 
further, including demarcation;  
• The methods of control that will be used, including details of post-
control monitoring; and  
• How the plants will be disposed of after treatment/removal. The 
method statement should be submitted for approval to the Local 
Planning Authority prior to commencement of any works on site.  
Reason: To protect and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity in line 
with Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
86. Construction of the development authorised by this permission 
on plot E shall not begin until the LPA has approved in writing a full 
scheme of works on the adopted highway and any amendments to the 
existing highway made necessary by this development, including details 
of the removal of obsolete vehicle crossing accesses, a new footway, a 

Page 26



pedestrian refuge with dropped tactile crossing points and new TRO 
requirements. The approved works shall be completed in accordance 
with the LPA written approval and prior to occupation of the 
development. Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance 
with PolicyTR8, TR9, TRT3, TRT1 of the Wirral UDP and Section 9 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



  

Planning Committee 8 June 2023 

  

Reference: Area Team: 
Case 
Officer: 

Ward: 

APP/23/00471 DM Mr C Heather Wallasey 

  

Location: Grazing Land Leasowe Road, Wallasey Village, Wirral, CH45 8LP 

Proposal: 
Erection of 13 dwellings together with associated infrastructure, 
access, internal roads, landscaping and associated works 

Applicant: c/o agent (Starship Group) 

Agent : Nicole Roe, Eden Planning &Development Ltd 

  

Qualifying Petition Yes 

  

Site Plan: 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100019803 You are not 
permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any 
form. 
  

Development Plan 
designation: 

Primarily Residential Area 

   

Planning History:   
Applications 
APP/22/01323 
Erection of 14 homes together with associated infrastructure, 
access, internal roads, landscaping and associated works 
(Amended Description 06.12.2022) - Refused (16 March 2023) 

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



 
OUT/15/00977 
Outline application for 10 dwellings - Granted (August 2016) 
 
OUT/14/00105 
Resubmission of outline application for 16 dwellings Planning 
Application Reference: OUT/13/00810 - Refused and dismissed at 
Appeal 
 
OUT/13/00810 
Outline planning application for the erection of 16no. residential 
units - Refsued (November 2013) 
  
OUT/02/06143 
Outline planning permission for the erection of 8 no. detached 
houses with access road to Greenleas Close - Withdrawn (July 
2002) 
 
Pre-Applications  
PRE/15/00099/ENQ 
Residential development on land adjacent to Leasowe Road 
  

   

Summary Of Representations and Consultations Received: 

   

1. Ward Member 
Comments  

  

An objection was received from Councillor Lewis, on behalf of 
himself and Councillors Rennie and Hayes on the following 
grounds: 

 The proposed development is too close in proximity to 
existing nearby dwellings 

 The loss of former grazing land which has never previously 
been developed 

 The proximity of the Council’s ‘school streets’ initiative at 
Greenleas Primary School 

2. Summary of 
Representations 

Having regard to the Council Guidance on Publicity for Applications 
and the Statement of Community Involvement 25 notifications were 
sent to adjoining properties. A notice was published in the press. 
There was a second 14 day consultation undertaken. At the time of 
writing this report 45 representations have been received.  

Two petitions have been received. One petition contained 38 
signatures and is from Greenleas Primary School. The petition 
allowed each signatory to indicate why they objected. Although the 
majority of records were blank, some comments were included that 
indicated that traffic and road safety were the main grounds of 
objection, with one signatory identifying a loss of green space 
resulting from the development.  

The second petition contained 116 signatures but does not indicate 
any grounds of objection.  

Page 30



Of the other representations received, the following are the main 
issues raised: 

 Principle of Development  
o The site is grazing / greenfield land rather than a 

brownfield site. It was also used as a market garden 
and not as a commercial enterprise.  

o No need for the housing in the area.  
o Land should become a park.  

 Design  
o Out of keeping with surrounding area.  
o More dense and taller than existing. 
o Inadequate landscaping.  
o Overdevelopment.  
o Preference for bungalows. 

 Residential Amenity  
o Overlooking, overshadowing, loss of daylight and 

sunlight, loss of views. 
o Increased noise, and noise report is from 2018.  
o Removal of access to site to be able to maintain 

fences. 
o Security due to a new path. Greenleas Close is a cul-

de-sac which has deterred crime.  
o Proximity of 2 storey flank wall would reduce outlook. 
o Light pollution.  

 Quality of the Resulting Residential Accommodation  
o The houses are small.  

 Highways and Transportation  
o Vehicle movements adding to existing vehicles. 
o Access road is too narrow.  
o Highway safety and relationship with School Street 

Scheme at Greenleas Primary School during 
construction and operation. 

o Potential for vehicles to come off the link road and on 
to the grass verge. 

o Lack of pavement. 
o Access for emergency vehicles and delivery 

vehicles. 
 Drainage and Flood Risk Matters  

o Existing issues would be made worse. 
 Ecology  

o Impact on existing habitats and species, and 
mitigation would not be sufficient. 

 Waste Matters  
o Bin storage against fences. Inadequate space for 

refuse bins and inconvenient to use.  
 Other matters  

o Inaccuracies in documents. 
o Greenleas Close is unadopted and the Council 

cannot grant access across it.  
o No local benefits. 
o Consultation period was not long enough.  

  

Page 31



  

Consultations 

Traffic and Transportation / Highways – No objection subject to 
conditions and informative. 

Active Travel Officer – Detail of School Street ETRO at Greenleas 
Primary School provided.  

Environment Agency – No objection, subject to conditions. 

Local Lead Flood Authority – No objection, subject to conditions. 

Environmental Health – No objection, subjection to conditions. 

Housing Strategy – Comments received. 

Land Contamination – No objection, subject to conditions. 

United Utilities – No objection, subject to conditions. 

  

3.1 Site and 
Surroundings 

The site is located at the western edge of the settlement of 
Wallasey Village, within a Primarily Residential Area and 
surrounded by established residential development on two sides 
and highways on the other sides. The site is bounded by Leasowe 
Road to the south. There is a slip road leading from the A554 to the 
west that joins Leasowe Road along the southern boundary of the 
site. Land beyond the A554 is designated as Green Belt. Here, 
there are a number of agricultural uses and areas of semi-open 
countryside. Existing two storey residential properties border the 
site to the east and north. The site area is approximately 0.8ha, and 
has a topography that is relatively flat, with a slight incline towards 
the northern boundary. To the west of the site, the topography is 
raised artificially to accommodate the slip-road. Greenleas Road to 
the east of the site is characterised by traditional semi-detached 
properties with rear. Greenleas Close to the north is characterised 
by an estate of detached brick dwellings. There is a Primary School 
at the head of Greenleas Close.  

  

3.2 Proposed 
Development 

The proposal seeks the erection of 13 homes together with 
associated infrastructure, access, internal roads, landscaping and 
associated works. This is a reduction from 17 dwellings at the point 
of submission. The applicant has the intention for this to be 100% 
affordable housing (and this is discussed in the Assessment section 
below). 

  

3.3 Development 
Plan 

The adopted development plan (as is relevant to this proposal) is 
the Wirral Unitary Development Plan (2000) (hereafter referred to 
as the ‘UDP’). Relevant policies are: 

 URN1 Development and Urban Regeneration  
 URN2 Planning Agreements  
 HS4 Criteria for New Housing Development  

Page 32



 HS6 Principles for Affordable Housing 
 HS9 Mobility Housing 
 HSG2 Affordable Housing 
 GRE1 The Protection of Urban Greenspace 
 GR5 Landscaping and New Development 
 GR6 Greenspace Within New Family Housing Development 
 GR7 Trees and New Development 
 NCO1 Principles for Nature Conservation  
 NC7 Species Protection 
 LAN1 Principles for Landscape 
 LA7 Criteria for Development at the Urban Fringe 
 TRT1 Provision for Public Transport  
 TRT3 Transport and the Environment  
 TR9 Requirements for Off-Street Parking 
 TR11 Provision for Cyclists in Highway and Development 

Schemes 
 TR12 Requirements for Cycle Parking 
 WAT1 Fluvial and Tidal Flooding  
 WAT2 Protection of the Water Environment 
 WA3 Development and Groundwater Protection 
 WA5 Protecting Surface Waters 
 PO2 Development Near Existing Sources of Pollution 
 PO3 Noise 
 PO4 Noise Sensitive Development 

The Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and Halton. Relevant 
policies are: 

 WM8 Waste Prevention and Resource Management 
 WM9 Sustainable Waste Management Design and Layout 

for New Development 

  

3.4 Other Material 
Planning 
Considerations 

The National Planning Policy Framework (2021). Relevant sections 
are: 

 Introduction 
 Achieving sustainable development 
 Decision-making 
 Delivering a strong supply of homes 
 Promoting healthy and safe communities 
 Promoting sustainable transport 
 Making effective use of land  
 Achieving well-designed places 
 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and 

coastal change 
 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

The National Planning Policy Framework Consultation Draft (2022) 

Supplementary Planning Document 2: Designing for Self-Contained 
Flat Development and Conversions 

Supplementary Planning Document 4: Parking Standards 

Page 33



  

Wirral Borough Council is in the process of submitting a new local 
plan for examination. 

On the 21 March 2022 full council approved publication of the Draft 
Local Plan Under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 before submission 
to the Secretary of State. The Local Plan was submitted to the 
Secretary of State on the 26th of October 2022. The local plan and 
supporting evidence base can be viewed online at 
www.wirral.gov.uk/lpexam 

As the Wirral Local Plan has been submitted for examination it (and 
the supporting evidence base) is a material consideration and can 
be afforded weight in the decision making process. In attaching 
weight to individual policies, paragraph 48 of the NPPF is relevant 
as it states: 

“Local planning authorities may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 

 the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more 
advanced its preparation, the greater the weight that may be 
given); 

 the extent to which there are unresolved objections to 
relevant policies (the less significant the unresolved 
objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and 

 the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the 
emerging plan to this Framework (the closer the policies in 
the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the 
greater the weight that may be given).” 

The following strategic policies are considered to be relevant to this 
proposal: WS1, WS2, WS3, WS5, WS6, WS7, WS8, WS9, WS10, 
WD1, WD3, WD4, WD14, WD15, WD18, WM6.  

At the present time, the Wirral Local Plan is a Material 
Consideration and can be afforded weight in the decision making 
process. 

Wirral Tree, Hedgerow and Woodland Strategy 2020-2030 and 
National Design Guide (2021) are also material considerations. 

  

3.5 Assessment Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
requires applications for planning permission to be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The adopted Development Plan 
where the site is located, comprises the saved policies of the Wirral 
Unitary Development Plan (Adopted 2000) and the Joint Waste 
Local Plan for Merseyside and Halton (Adopted 2013) 

Page 34



The application has been assessed against development plan 
policies, national planning policy and guidance, and other material 
planning considerations and the advice of statutory consultees. The 
key planning issues raised by the proposal include: 

 Principle of Development 
 Housing Quality, Mix and Affordable Housing 
 Design; 
 Residential Amenity;  
 Highways and Transportation 
 Drainage and Flood Risk Matters 
 Ecology 
 Waste Matters. 

  

3.6 Principle of 
Development 

This is a full application for the erection of 13 no. residential units on 
grazing land between Leasowe Road and Greenleas Close. There 
have been several previous applications on the site. The first 
(OUT/02/06143) for 8 dwellings was withdrawn in 2002. The second 
(OUT/13/00810) was for 16 dwellings and was refused in 2013. A 
third application (OUT/14/00105) was also refused, and a 
subsequent appeal was dismissed in 2014. The two reasons for 
refusing the earlier applications related to over development of the 
site by reason of the quantum and scale of the proposed 
development and highway safety and additional traffic generation 
fronting Greenleas school. These did not relate to the principle of 
development, with the same development plan containing the same 
policies still applying. 

In 2016 planning permission (OUT/15/00977) was granted for 10 
residential dwellings. More recently, a planning application 
(APP/22/01323) was refused in March 2023 for 14 dwellings with 
associated infrastructure, access, internal roads, landscaping and 
associated works. The application was refused for the following 
reason: 

“In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority the proposal would 
represent an unacceptable form of development, by virtue of the 
proximity of the proposed dwelling to the rear of 19 Greenleas 
Road, which would result in an overbearing impact that would be 
detrimental to the amenities to the occupants of 19 Greenleas 
Road. This is contrary to policies HS4 of the adopted Wirral Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.” 

Therefore, the reason for refusal did not consider the overriding 
principle of development unacceptable, but identified an issue with 
one of the proposed dwellings proposed.  

Chapter 5 of the NPPF sets out national planning policy in relation 
to housing, this states that the government’s objective is to 
significantly boost the supply of homes. It is important that a 
sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where it is 
needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing 
requirements are addressed. 

Page 35



The site is designated as a Primarily Residential Area in the Wirral 
Unitary Development Plan, and the principle of residential dwellings 
are acceptable subject to UDP Policy HS4 ‘Criteria for New Housing 
Development’ and the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
significance of being within the Primarily Residential Area is that 
even though it visually has different characteristics to the existing 
houses immediately to the north and east, in planning policy terms it 
has the same designation and has done since the UDP was 
adopted in 2000.  

A range of representations have been received from nearby 
occupiers and interested parties (including Councillors) querying the 
principle of development of the site, such as the agricultural nature 
of the site and querying whether the site has been previously 
developed. The proposal is considered to be in compliance ‘in 
principle’ with the relevant policies in the Development Plan, as a 
site within the urban area, given the allocation within the UDP as a 
‘Primarily Residential Area’. This is considered to be a key 
consideration when balanced against the appropriate material 
considerations where these can be given weight, including the 
planning history, emerging Local Plan and the NPPF. 

  

3.7 Housing 
Quality, Mix and 
Affordable Housing 

Planning Policies regularly require a mix of housing to be 
developed, this is in the interest of meeting differing housing needs 
across society. Policy HSG2 and HS6 of the Wirral UDP goes into 
specific local detail; with the National Design Guide providing 
national guidance on this. 

The National Design Guide States “Well-designed neighbourhoods 
provide a variety and choice of home to suit all needs and ages. 
This includes people who require affordable housing or other rental 
homes, families, extended families, older people, students, and 
people with physical disabilities or mental health needs.”  

This application as ‘major development’ is deemed appropriate to 
contribute to the affordable housing delivered in the borough. Policy 
in relation to this is set by the Wirral UDP (policy HSG2 and HS6) 
and the NPPF (Section 5), with evidence about up to date 
requirements taken from the evidence base of the emerging Local 
Plan.  

The current requirement, based on evidence from the most recent 
SHMA is that a contribution equivalent to 20% of the site should be 
provided. The emerging Local Plan also has policy relating to 
affordable housing, but this would only seek 10% in this location.  

The proposal includes 3 bedroom properties designed for 6 people. 
The Council’s Housing Strategy Team has identified a need within 
Wirral for 3 bedroom affordable units. The Housing Strategy Team 
has also advised that within the Wallasey Ward only 9 affordable 

Page 36



properties became available for rent in 2021/22 (the most recent 
information available), and none of them were three-bedroom units.  

All of the proposed units would have a Gross Internal Area of 97m2. 
This is below the advice within the National Technical Housing 
Standards, but this is not currently adopted policy in Wirral. The 
proposed houses would be well laid out with good outlook to front 
and rear. There are generous rear gardens, with the smallest being 
approximately 55sqm but others being in excess of 100sqm. 
Overall, this would be excellent provision. Adequate space is 
proposed for refuse and cycle storage.    

The affordable housing would be secured via an appropriately 
worded condition, but it is only considered appropriate to secure 
20% of the dwellings as affordable dwellings even if in practice the 
development is intended to be 100% affordable housing.  

Subject to the condition referred to above, and insofar as affordable 
housing and housing mix matters are concerned, the proposal is 
considered to accord with relevant Wirral policy from the UDP and 
other relevant sections of the development plan, taking into account 
relevant material considerations and the provisions and intentions of 
the NPPF; where these can be given weight. 

  

3.8 Design This section seeks to assess the design of the proposal, for which 
the key considerations are the impact the proposal would have on 
local character and townscape.  

The standards for new housing development are set out under UDP 
Policy HS4 which includes visual implications. Policy GR5 is also 
relevant to this proposal. Development proposals should be of a 
scale that relates well to surrounding property with regard to 
existing densities and form of development. Proposals should not 
result in detrimental change in the character of the area. 

Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should 
ensure that “developments will function well and add to the overall 
quality of the area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of 
the development, are visually attractive as a result of good 
architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping and 
establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the 
arrangement of streets, spaces, building types and materials to 
create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and 
visit”. Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states that “development that is 
not well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to 
reflect local design policies and government guidance on design.” 

The NPPF should be read alongside the National Design Guide 
(2021). Paragraph 21 of the Design Guide advises that “a well-
designed place is unlikely to be achieved by focusing only on the 
appearance, materials and detailing of buildings. It comes about 
through making the right choices at all levels, including: the layout 

Page 37



(or masterplan); the form and scale of buildings; their appearance; 
landscape; materials; and their detailing" 

Part 2 of the Design Guide sets out the ten characteristics of well-
designed places. This includes (but is not limited to) the following: 

 Contextual design which responds positively to the features 
of the site and the surrounding area beyond its boundary. 
Paragraph 43 advises well-designed development is 
integrated into its surroundings and designed around an 
understanding of the landscape character and existing 
patterns of built form and architectural styles which should 
inform the layout, grain, form and scale of development. 

 Design which responds to local identity and elements of a 
place that make it distinctive. This includes the height, scale, 
massing and relationships between buildings, façade design 
and landscape setting; and  

 Built form which relates well to the site and its context. 

The application is for full planning permission and the applicants 
have provided a layout and elevational treatments. The site is to be 
accessed via Greenleas Close to the north and will utilise a single 
road running through the site. To this end, the scheme will integrate 
well into its surroundings by reinforcing existing connections and 
creating a new one. The submitted drawings also identify a 
pedestrian/cycle access onto Leasowe Road which will ensure that 
the site is permeable for pedestrians and cyclists. Concerns have 
been raised from neighbouring properties about this, and the 
potential for this to compromise security for existing residents, and 
potential nuisance caused by scooters. The route would not be 
directly overlooked by the proposed houses themselves but would 
be overlooked from the internal roads. This would provide some 
surveillance which would assist in reducing opportunities for anti-
social behaviour. A condition can provide details of lighting, 
alongside additional information on how the space would be 
managed. Overall, having a new pedestrian route from Leasowe 
Road to Greenleas Close is considered positive, and would improve 
permeability. It is not possible to completely design out the potential 
for anti-social behaviour in this location (as it is not in any location), 
but the positives of the new route are considered to outweigh the 
potential negatives.  

The scheme proposes a mix of dwellings, with off street parking 
provided for each property. The submitted plans and elevations 
demonstrate the quality of the design proposed, which is an 
improvement to an otherwise vacant site within a predominantly 
residential location. The proposed height of homes is reflective of 
the residential form in the surrounding suburban area, with the scale 
and massing of homes is also considered appropriate and suitable 
for a low-density residential location on a settlement’s outskirts. 
Whilst some of the proposed homes extend above 2 storeys, with a 
3rd storey in the roof space, these would remain comparable to 
others in the locality, with two storeys and a pitched roof being 
characteristic of the area. Materials would be controlled by 
condition, but the elevations show suitable materials. This includes 

Page 38



red / brown brickwork, white render and grey roof tiles are the main 
materials and they are proposed throughout the different house 
types, with the exception of one house type which does not include 
render. Similar materials are in evidence on the houses nearby. 
Concern has been raised about the proposed canopies being out of 
place. However, they are considered to be a small component of 
the design and, as noted above, there is not complete uniformity 
nearby. Hence, they are not objected to.  

The proposal also includes for a small public landscaped area to the 
south east of the site, which is considered positive and would be an 
amenity for residents in the proposed development as well as 
existing residents in the surrounding area. Details of how this is to 
be managed would be sought by conditions.  

Comments have been raised by nearby occupiers and interested 
parties that the proposal would appear out of character with the 
nearby dwellings. The houses to the east are traditional semi-
detached houses fronting on to Greenleas Road which is a straight 
road running north-south. They were constructed with a uniform 
building to front and back, albeit many of the houses have 
subsequently been altered over time through side and rear 
extensions, and a dormer window.  

The detached houses to the north on Greenleas Close are more 
recent. The street pattern is less regular than Greenleas Road with 
variation in building lines with houses slightly staggered, and some 
at different angles. Some have adjoining garages and others have 
standalone garages.  

Therefore, there is not a uniformity in the immediate context that the 
development has to follow. The shape of the site also influences the 
layout which includes a single detached dwellinghouse, three pairs 
of housing and two groups of three. This is considered acceptable.  

Whilst not within the Green Belt, the site is adjacent to it. The land 
to the west is within the Green Belt, including the link road and the 
A554 which are elevated above the land to varying extents. Hence, 
views from the site and surrounding area into the Green Belt would 
be in the context of the highways but with some screening provided 
by trees and hedges to reduce visibility. From the Green Belt, the 
same screening would partially restrict views of the site itself with a 
backdrop of existing residential properties on Greenleas Road and 
Greenleas Close. Hence, the visual impact on the Green Belt is 
considered acceptable.  

On this basis the design of the proposal is considered appropriate, it 
therefore is considered in accordance with relevant policies from the 
development plan, the relevant sections of the NPPF and the 
relevant policies from the emerging Local Plan, and other material 
considerations e.g. National Design Guide, where these can be 
given weight. 

  

Page 39



3.9 Residential 
Amenity 

NPPF Paragraph 130 requires that planning should always seek to 
secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all 
existing and future occupants of land and buildings. Paragraph 180 
requires that planning decisions should aim to avoid impacts on 
health and quality of life. Chapter 12 of the NPPF stresses the 
importance of planning positively for the achievement of high quality 
and inclusive design for all development. The relevant local policy in 
relation to this is HS4 of the UDP. 

In the context of the above, the proposals are not considered to be 
in conflict with paragraph 130 of the NPPF. The NPPF (Chapter 12) 
requires that planning should always seek to secure high quality 
design and seek to secure better places in which to live and work. 
Paragraph 185 requires that planning decisions should aim to avoid 
impacts on health and quality of life. Paragraph 92 of the NPPF 
stresses the importance of aiming to achieve healthy, inclusive and 
safe places. 

SPD2 (Designing for self-contained flat development and 
conversions) provides standards for separation distances which 
have been fully satisfied. It is important to note that the proposed 
development is not for the construction of self-contained flats, but 
separation distances are relevant for houses as well, and in the 
absence of a specific standard for houses it is considered 
reasonable to have regard to the guidance within SPD2. Habitable 
room windows directly facing each other should be at least 21 
metres apart. Main habitable room windows should be at least 14 
metres from any blank gable. If there are differences in land levels 
or where development adjoins that of different ridge height, such as 
three-storey development adjacent to two-storey property, a greater 
separation should be provided. For every metre difference in ridge 
height (or part thereof) the above distances should be increased by 
2 metres. The proposed scheme can therefore meet the required 
interface distances. 

The scheme has been reduced from 14 dwellings to 13 when 
compared to the most recent application. Previously there were two 
dwellings in the part of the site to the rear of 19 Greenleas Road, 
and to a lesser extent 17 Greenleas Road, and the previous reason 
for refusal specified the impact on 19 Greenleas Road. The current 
proposal removes the unit that was nearest to the site’s eastern 
boundary, closest to the rear gardens of 17 and 19 Greenleas 
Road. The reason for refusal cited an overbearing impact, which is 
different to overlooking. Reference to the separation distances 
within SPD2 the distance between the rear walls of 17 and 19 
Greenleas Road and the side of the proposed house has increased 
from 15.26m (as previously refused) to 19.96m (as now proposed). 
The distance of the proposed house from the rear fence line of 19 
Greenleas Road would be just short of 5.5m. This is considered a 
substantial increase and would reduce the impact on both 17 and 
19 Greenleas Close compared to what was previously refused.  

Page 40



Otherwise, the layout of the proposal has not been amended 
compared to the recent refusal and so the impact on amenity 
remains the same, which was considered to be compliant with 
relevant separation distances and was considered to not have be 
negative impact on nearby occupants that was significant enough 
as to warrant the refusal of the application. Separation distances 
elsewhere on the site are all in excess of 22m when measured from 
the windows of the proposed houses to the rears of existing houses 
on Greenleas Road. There is not considered to be potential for a 
material loss of daylight or overshadowing of gardens given the 
distances involved.  

Concern has been raised in respect of potential for light pollution. 
The houses themselves are not expect to generate light materially 
differently than other houses nearby.  

The layout and scale of the development as now presented is 
deemed to be acceptable and demonstrates satisfactory separation 
distances can be achieved between the dwellings proposed, which 
ensure that residential amenity is protected. In the context of the 
above, the proposals are not considered to be in conflict with 
Chapter 12 of the NPPF, subject to the imposition of appropriate 
condition such as an obscured glazing condition. 

The application is supported by an Acoustic Report prepared by 
Red Acoustics. The report confirms that with appropriate mitigation 
in place, the proposed development accords with Policy PO4. 
Specifically, the proposal has considered sources of noise (level, 
tone, duration, and regularity), background noise, and any 
mitigation required in the design of any proposed housing 
development.  

The report indicates the areas of the site that experience the most 
external noise and so require noise mitigation. The report identifies 
the greatest noise levels concentrated along a western portion of 
the site. These have been accounted for in the proposed design, 
through at least 15 additional trees to be planted which will help to 
mitigate both the visual and acoustic impacts of traffic along the 
slip-road. Mitigation is also proposed in terms of acoustic fencing.  

The Environmental Noise Survey is supplemented by an updated 
cover note dated July 2022. It states that a review of current traffic 
flow data indicates that the noise climate at the site is unlikely to 
have changed significantly since the original date of the report. 
However, due to a change in the number of homes proposed, a 
detailed noise break-in review will be required to confirm that the 
mitigation strategy remains wholly applicable.  

To confirm, the Environmental Health Team have commented on 
the proposal and have confirmed they have no objection. A 
condition is proposed requiring compliance with the mitigation 
measures as set out in the acoustic report. 

Page 41



It is therefore considered that the proposal, subject to conditions, is 
compliant with the relevant policies in the Development Plan, 
relevant sections of the NPPF and those in the emerging Local 
Plan; where these can be given weight. 

Concerns have been raised regarding the impact of the scheme on 
nearby occupiers, particularly in relation to the impact of the 
scheme on occupiers of Greenleas Road. However, it is considered 
that the impact the proposal may have on these occupiers is not 
sufficient enough as to warrant refusal in this instance. 

  

3.10 Highways and 
Transportation 

This section seeks to appraise the impacts that the proposal may 
have on the surrounding Highways and Transport Network. 
Typically, the key issues around Highways and Transport matters in 
relation to residential developments, such as this, are highway 
safety, access, car parking and sustainable transport options. 
Policies TRT1, TRT3, TR9, TR11 and TR12 of the UDP are relevant 
in relation to this section. SPD4 is also relevant to this application, 
which sets out the Parking Standards. Consultation has been 
undertaken with the Highways Team and their comments are 
considered as part of the commentary below. 

Representations from interested parties (including Councillors) have 
been received objecting to the proposal, these have raised the 
following issues: Impact on physical infrastructure; local highway 
infrastructure/volume of traffic created by the proposal; highway 
access concerns; and potential highways safety concerns, 
particularly in relation to Greenleas Primary School. 

The requirements for off-street vehicle and cycle parking are set out 
as maximums under Policies TR9 and TR12 of the UDP and the 
accompanying Supplementary Planning Document on Parking 
Standards. 

Paragraph 110 of the NPPF states “In assessing sites that may be 
allocated for development in plans, or specific applications for 
development, it should be ensured that: a) appropriate opportunities 
to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have been – 
taken up, given the type of development and its location; b) safe 
and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and c) 
any significant impacts from the development on the transport 
network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, 
can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree.” 

Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that “development should only 
be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual 
cumulative impacts of development are severe.” 

Paragraph 112 of the NPPF adds to this and states “Within this 
context, applications for development should: a) give priority first to 
pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and with 

Page 42



neighbouring areas; and second - so far as possible – to facilitating 
access to high quality public transport, with layouts that maximise 
the catchment area for bus or other public transport services, and 
appropriate facilities that encourage public transport use; b) address 
the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation 
to all modes of transport; c) create places that are safe, secure and 
attractive - which minimise the scope for conflicts between 
pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street clutter, 
and respond to local character and design standards; d) allow for 
the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and 
emergency vehicles; and, e) be designed to enable charging of plug 
in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, accessible and 
convenient locations.” 

As mentioned earlier, a previous scheme was subject to an appeal, 
with one of the reasons cited being on highway safety grounds. The 
inspector in dismissing the appeal stated that the elongated nature 
of the site and its awkward configuration of the site necessitates 
confining most of the proposed dwellings to the southern portion of 
the plot. The Inspector further noted that Greenleas Close ends in a 
shared surface approximately 30m in length that curves between 
some six properties. While the use of this section by the traffic 
generated from the proposed development, might at first sight, 
appear to meet the guidance in Manual for Streets, it seemed to the 
inspector that there would be elements in the configuration of the 
cul-de-sac that would undermine the proper application of that 
concept. Drivers from almost all of the proposed dwellings would 
approach the shared surface via a virtually straight stretch of 
carriage, about 130m in length, and accommodating only 3 fairly 
modest chicanes. Given the likely low level of traffic, the inspector 
did not accept that such a configuration would be commensurate 
with a design speed suitable to appropriately negotiate the shared 
surface. For these reasons, the inspector considered that the limited 
level of traffic likely to materialise would not greatly exacerbate road 
hazards. These comments were made in respect of 16 residential 
units. 

The scheme has been reduced to 13 dwellings, with the roadway 
and associated street infrastructure proposed being brought in line 
with adoptable standards. As noted above the end of Greenleas 
Close is a shared space with a pavement on the western side of 
Greenleas Close but not the eastern side. Where the proposed road 
extends Greenleas Close there would be a pavement on the 
eastern side of the proposed road. This means that a pedestrian 
would have to across the road, but this is not unusual and the road 
would not be subject to heavy traffic. The design involves the 
formation of a more standard T-junction style cul-de-sac in the 
south of the site, with a pedestrian access to Leasowe Road 
providing more direct access to public transport options for 
pedestrians and cyclists. Therefore, the Local Highway Authority 
has not objected to the scheme and considers that it has been 
brought up to the standard to satisfy the requirements of Paragraph 
111 of the NPPF, subject to conditions. Further to this, as a scheme 
within the urban fabric, with onward pedestrian and cycle links, in 

Page 43



close proximity to public transport services, the scheme can also be 
considered to comply with paragraphs 110 and 112 of the NPPF. 

The Active Travel Officer previously raised concerns, echoed by 
residents relating to impacts on the School Street (Education Traffic 
Regulation Order) ETRO at Greenleas Primary School. The active 
Travel Officer highlights that driving private vehicles into/out of 
Greenleas Close past the school is not allowed between 08:30 - 
09:30 and 14:30 - 15:30 Monday- Friday unless they have a permit 
e.g. residents permit or blue badge). Deliveries are permitted under 
the ETRO, but there is a request for no deliveries to take place via 
Greenleas Close during the times when children are arriving and 
leaving. They should generally be mindful for the safety of children 
being dropped off and picked up from the school on foot, as well as 
pedestrians and other vehicles.  

Since the previous refusal the Council has been advised that the 
Statutory Instrument “The Civil Enforcement of Moving Traffic 
Contraventions Designations Order 2023” will be laid before 
parliament on 27 June 2023 and it has been confirmed that the 
Council will be included in that Order. Subject to no objections being 
lodged, this will come into force in 22 July 2023 and it is anticipated 
that the Council can start to implement these powers later in the 
year. The implication of this is that the Council can operate a mobile 
camera to enforce moving vehicle offences, as currently only the 
police can do this. Therefore, this will improve the current situation. 
It is considered that the impacts on the School Street ETRO should 
be taken into account in drafting and considering the Construction 
Management Plan for this proposal, which would be the subject of a 
condition. 

The level of car parking proposed is considered appropriate, with 
two spaces per house. Objections concern the increase in vehicles 
using Greenleas Close. There would be an increase on the current 
level, but this is not expected to be so great as to be a problem and 
the Transport Statement that accompanies the planning application 
considers this. The proposed access road is considered sufficient 
for emergency or delivery vehicles to access the site in the event 
that they need to.  

Subject to the imposition of suitably worded highway conditions on 
any grant of consent, it is considered that there would be no 
grounds to refuse the application in relation to highway safety and 
the proposal would accord with relevant UDP policies. 

The concerns of residents and Councillors are noted. However, it is 
considered that the proposal’s impact on highway and transport 
matters (including highway safety) is not significant enough as to 
warrant the refusal of the application, and given the conditions and 
an informative that are recommended to be appended to the 
decision notice. 

  

Page 44



3.11 Drainage and 
Flood Risk Matters 

This section seeks to appraise the proposal in the context of flood 
risk and drainage matters. Chapter 14 of the NPPF forming the 
national planning policy context, Policies WA2, WA5, WAT2. The 
applicant has submitted the following: Flood Risk and Drainage 
Strategy; and a Design and Access Statement. 

The National Design Guide (September 2019) is also relevant to 
this element of the report, particularly the section relating to 
'resources' In relation to ‘resources’ the National Design Guide 
states “Well designed places: have a layout, form and mix of uses 
that reduces their resource requirement, including for land, energy 
and water; are fit for purpose and adaptable overtime, reducing the 
need for redevelopment and unnecessary waste; use materials 
adopt technologies to minimise their environmental impact” 

Consultation has taken place in relation to surface water drainage 
with the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) and, as well as 
consultation with the Environment Agency (EA). No concerns have 
been raised, subject to the imposition of conditions.   

Concerns have been raised by representors. However, it is 
considered that the proposal is acceptable, and the drainage impact 
of the proposal is not significant enough as to warrant the refusal of 
the application. Further to this, the proposal seeks to introduce a 
range of drainage solutions, including SUDs. 

Following consideration of the responses of consultees, it is 
considered that the application has demonstrated that appropriate 
flood risk, drainage and water related matters can be successfully 
achieved on site. It is considered that the proposed development 
would not increase the risk of flooding to the area. The proposals 
are therefore compliant with the NPPF. 

The proposal is therefore considered to be compliant with the 
relevant policies in the Development Plan, the NPPF, and other 
material considerations, in relation to surface water drainage 
matters. 

  

3.12 Ecology This section seeks to appraise the proposal and protect and 
enhance the biodiversity and geodiversity of the borough, 
particularly in relation to its impact on habitats and protected 
species and, especially those areas designated as of international, 
national and local importance. Policies NCO1, NC1, NC7 of the 
Wirral UDP are relevant to this section, as is Section 15 of the 
NPPF.  The following ecological information has been submitted in 
support of the planning application:   

 Preliminary Ecology Appraisal, Environmental Business 
Solutions (Rev 01 Dated 15th July 2022) 

NPPF, Chapter 15, Paragraph 174 requires the planning system to 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 
minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in 

Page 45



biodiversity where possible. Paragraph 180 requires Local Planning 
Authorities to encourage opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in 
and around developments. 

Habitats  

The habitat on site is dominated by Improved Grassland, areas of 
scrub and ruderal vegetation are also present. A number of mature 
trees are also close to the boundary of the Site, with the majority 
formed by Sycamore along the western boundary, Willow and 
Cherry trees are also present within the adjacent gardens to the 
east.  A Species Poor hedge consisting entirely of Privett (Ligustrum 
ovalifolium) is found on the southern edge of the site, along with a 
regularly mown road verge. The habitats present are common and 
widespread in Wirral and are not of significant ecological value in 
their own right. Notwithstanding this, they are suitable to support a 
number of protected species. The following makes an assessment 
of their potential for hosting protected species. 

Amphibians 

The site is isolated in terms of accessibility for Great Crested Newts 
and there are not considered suitable water bodies within the 
immediate area of the site. Great Crested Newts are recorded 
within the search area with the nearest being approximately 1,250m 
south west of the site and separated by the A551. In addition, 
Common Toad are recorded within the search area. The nearest 
being approximately 1,250m south west of the site and separated 
from the site by the A551. Therefore, there are no records within the 
immediate area close to the site. 

Bats 

A number of trees adjacent to the site have features suitable for use 
by roosting bats; however, no trees are to be affected by the 
development. There are records of bats within 2km from the Site, 
but no records are within 200m. Therefore, Bats are unlikely to be 
impacted by the development. 

Birds 

There is suitable nesting habitat in hedgerows and trees onsite and 
the Preliminary Ecology Appraisal therefore recommends that any 
tree or scrub clearance should be conducted outside of the 
breeding bird season (March – September). If this is not possible 
then a breeding bird survey should be conducted by a suitably 
qualified ecologist prior to works commencing. If nesting birds are 
discovered then the area around the nest shall be isolated and 
works halted until nesting has finished. A suitably worded condition 
to secure this is appended to this report. 

Terrestrial Mammals 

Page 46



This mainly relates to Badger and Dormouse and the site is 
considered to be isolated in terms of accessibility to Badger and 
Dormouse networks and no records within the immediate area. 
There is therefore not considered to be any impact on Badger and 
Dormouse. 

Reptiles 

The site is isolated in terms of habitats that would support reptiles, 
and there are no records within the immediate area of reptiles. 
There is therefore not considered to be any impact on Reptiles. 

Otters and Watervoles 

The site is considered isolated in terms of accessibility to suitable 
habitats for Otters and Watervoles as there are no suitable water 
bodies within immediate area of the site, nor are there any records 
within the immediate area. Water Vole have been recorded 
approximately 1000m west of the site which is on the other side of 
the A554. There is therefore not considered to be any impact on 
Otters and Watervoles. 

Designated Sites 

Due to the size of the proposed project, it is not considered that the 
proposal shall have an adverse effect on designated sites. 

The proposal is, subject to conditions, considered to be compliant 
with the relevant policies in the Development Plan, the NPPF, and 
with the relevant policies in the Emerging Local Plan. 

Representations have been received from interested parties 
regarding Ecology and Biodiversity matters, including the impact of 
the proposal on wildlife, protected and non-protected species. 
These comments have been noted, however it is considered that 
protected species are not negatively impacted and relevant 
ecological considerations can be satisfactorily mitigated for through 
the proposal and the conditions appended to this report. 

  

3.13 Waste Matters The proposal is major development and involves excavation and 
construction activities which are likely to generate significant 
volumes of waste. Policy WM8 of the Merseyside and Halton Waste 
Joint Local Plan (WLP), the National Planning Policy for Waste 
(paragraph 8) and Planning Practice Guidance (paragraph 49) 
apply.  

These policies require the minimisation of waste production and 
implementation of measures to achieve efficient use of resources, 
including designing out waste and minimisation of off-site disposal. 

Page 47



In accordance with policy WM8, evidence through a waste audit or 
a similar mechanism (e.g. a site waste management plan) 
demonstrating how this will be achieved must be submitted and can 
be secured by a suitably worded planning condition. 

The proposed development would include provision for refuse 
storage for each house which is considered sufficient. One of the 
storage areas is behind an existing garden on Greenleas Road. 
However, this is not considered to be detrimental to the amenity of 
the existing house and bins are often stored in close proximity to 
neighbouring properties. 

  

3.14 Other Matters Some of the documents submitted quoted 17 residential units, 
which is the number of units originally proposed when the most 
recent application (APP/22/01323) was submitted. This was 
subsequently reduced to 14 units and the refusal was based on this. 
The applicant has since updated some of these documents. The 
main principle is that the impact of 13 units has to be less than 14 
and 17 units and so if an impact of the larger developments was 
previously not a reason for refusal then it is not identified as a 
reason for refusal now.  

It was noted that Greenleas Close is unadopted and the Council 
cannot grant access across it. This would be a separate legal 
matter and the applicant would need to ensure that this is 
addressed.  

The consultation period is considered to have been sufficient and in 
accordance with Council and national guidance.  

  

Summary of 
Decision 

Considering the individual merits of this application the 
recommendation to grant planning permission has been taken 
having regards to the relevant Policies and Proposals in the Wirral 
UDP (Adopted February 2000) and all relevant material 
considerations including national policy advice. In reaching this 
decision the Local Planning Authority has considered the following:- 

 The redevelopment of this underutilised site within the Primarily 
Residential Area as identified in the Wirral UDP would make a 
positive contribution to the local setting, and efficiently help boost 
the supply of homes in the area, including 20% affordable housing 
with 100% likely to be delivered in practice. It proposes the 
development of 13 family homes, in a style and manner that is in 
keeping with the local character and vernacular.  

 The proposed residential development is sustainably located, 
allowing easy access to local amenities, businesses and transport 
links. The proposals include a provision of native planting and 
landscaping to minimise the potential environmental impact of 
redeveloping the site. 

Page 48



 The proposed development is considered to be acceptable and it 
will not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the amenities of 
neighbouring properties through overlooking, poor outlook or 
through the amount of traffic generated or highway safety issues, 
subject to conditions. The application site is in a sustainable 
location close to shops and good public transport links. In addition 
to this, concerns regarding flood risk and surface water drainage 
have been overcome.  

 The proposal is therefore considered to comply with the relevant 
Development Plan policy, principally formed by the Wirral Unitary 
Development Plan Policy and the Joint Waste Local Plan for 
Merseyside and Halton; as well as other material considerations, 
such as the National Planning Policy Framework. 

    

  

Recommended 
Decision: 

Approval subject to the following conditions 

  

Recommended Conditions and Reasons: 

 1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from the date of 
this decision. 

Reason: To comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

2. Except where modified by the conditions attached to this planning permission, the 
development hereby approved relates to and shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plan: 

·       Location Plan PL.001(B) 

·       Existing Site Plan PL.002(B) 

·       Proposed Site Plan 1:500 PL.003(K) 

·       Proposed Site Plan 1:200 PL.004(H) 

·       Proposed Street Elevations PL.005(D) 

·       Proposed Boundary Location and Details PL.006(D) 

·       Unit Type 1 – 3B6P House – Plans and Elevations PL.007(E) 

·       Unit Type 2 – 3B6P House – Plans and Elevations PL.007-01(C) 

Page 49



·       Unit Type 2a – 3B6P House – Plans and Elevations PL.007-02(A) 

·       Unit Type 2b – 3B6P House – Plans and Elevations PL.007-03(A) 

·       Indicative External Works PL.0013(A) 

·       Indicative Landscaping Plan PL.0012(D) 

·       Proposed Finished Floor Levels PL.0015(C)   

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans, 
in the interests of proper planning. 

 
3. Prior to the commencement of development an Affordable Housing Scheme shall be 
submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. As part of this affordable 
housing scheme, and this development. At least 20% (At least 3 units) of the development 
shall form Affordable Housing Units within the development. The affordable housing shall 
be retained in accordance with the approved scheme. 

Reason: In order to ensure that a policy compliant level of affordable housing is secured on 
the site, and in order to comply with Policy HSG2 and HS6 of the Wirral Unitary 
Development Plan (Adopted 2000), and Section 5 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
 4. Prior to development above damp proof course level proposed site levels shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details 
shall be implemented before the development is brought into use.    

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity of the area, and in order to comply with Policy 
HS4 of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan (Adopted 2000) and Section 12 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
5. Notwithstanding any description of the materials in the application, no development shall 
be commenced above damp-proof course levels until samples of the materials to be used 
in the construction of the external walls and roof(s) of the building(s) have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All roofing and external facing 
materials used in the construction of the development shall conform to the materials 
thereby approved.  

Reason: To retain control over the external appearance of the development, and in order to 
comply with Policy HS4 of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan (Adopted 2000) and 
Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
6. Windows identified as obscure glazing in the approved drawings, shall be installed as 
such before the proposed dwellings are brought into use and shall not be altered, and 
maintained as such in perpetuity. This shall be level 4 obscurity or above.  

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and in order to avoid any overlooking or loss 
of privacy that may have resulted, in accordance with Policies HS4 of the UDP and section 
12 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 50



 
7. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted flood risk 
assessment (ref: Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Management Strategy / ref: 
HYD779_GREENLEAS.CLOSE_FRA&DMS / rev 3.0 / dated 20 April 2023 / by BETTS 
HYDRO Consulting Engineers) and the following mitigation measures it details:  
 

·       Finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 5.00 metres above Ordnance Datum 
(AOD)  

·       Incorporation of flood resilience and resistance measures and materials into the 
developments design and construction.  

·       Safe access and egress from the site during all flood event scenarios.  

These mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently 
in accordance with the scheme’s timing/ phasing arrangements. The measures detailed 
above shall be retained and maintained thereafter throughout the lifetime of the 
development.  

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants 
and in accordance with Policies WA2 and WA5 of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan 
(Adopted 2000), and Section 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

 
8. Prior to the commencement of development, a Construction and Environmental 
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by The Local Planning 
Authority. The provisions of the Construction and Environmental Management Plan shall be 
implemented in full during the period of construction and shall not be varied unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  
 

Reason: In the interest of highway safety and to comply with Policies HS4, WA2, WA5, 
TRT3 of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan (Adopted 2000), and Section 9 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

9. Prior to the removal of the existing footway a full scheme of works for the reinstatement 
to standard footway levels of the existing vehicle access on Leasowe Road from the 
highway that is rendered obsolete by the development shall be submitted and approved in 
writing by the LPA. The development shall not be occupied until the approved works have 
been completed in accordance with the approved scheme.  

Reason: In the interest of highway safety and to comply with Policy HS4 of the Wirral 
Unitary Development Plan (Adopted 2000), and Section 9 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

10. No development, except for site enabling works including site clearance, groundworks, 
and foundations, shall commence until a full scheme of works and timetable for the 
construction of the new highways and/or amendment of the existing highway made 
necessary by this development, including new carriageways, footways, street lighting, 
surface water drainage, traffic signs, road markings, traffic calming, tactile paved 
pedestrian crossings, street furniture, access onto the adjacent highway. The approved 

Page 51



works shall be completed in accordance with the Local Planning Authority written approval 
prior to occupation of the development. 

Reason: In the interest of highway safety and to comply with Policies HS4 and TR3 of the 
Wirral Unitary Development Plan (Adopted 2000), and Section 9 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 
11. Any tree or scrub clearance shall be conducted outside of the breeding bird season 
(March – September). If this is not possible then a breeding bird survey should be 
conducted by a suitably qualified ecologist prior to works commencing. If nesting birds are 
discovered, then the area around the nest shall be isolated and works halted until nesting 
has finished. 

Reason: To maintain the favourable conservation status of protected species and comply 
with Policy NC7 of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan (Adopted 2000), and Section 15 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
12. All construction activities shall comply with general environmental best practice 
measures including: 

·       the measures set out in the Environment Agency’s Pollution Prevention Guidelines;  

·       excavations should be sealed overnight or should have at least one shallow sloping 
side allowing animals to escape should they fall in;  

·       an ecologist shall be contacted for advice should any protected species be discovered 
during construction; and,  

·       appropriate measures to suppress dust should be put in place during hot, dry, or 
windy weather;  

·       broadleaved trees, hedgerows and the ruderal vegetation on site are suitable to be 
used by nesting birds. Therefore, vegetation removal should be undertaken outside of 
the breeding bird season (which is from March to August inclusive). If this is not 
possible, a suitably experienced ecologist should check the habitat for breeding bird 
activity no more than 48 hours before clearance. If nesting activity is found, it will need 
to be left in situ until the nesting effort has been completed. 

Reason: To maintain the favourable conservation status of protected species and in 
accordance with Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and comply with 
Policy NC7 of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan (Adopted 2000). 

 
13. Prior to development reaching damp-proof course level and installation of landscaping 
features a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan (including stock details and quantities) 
demonstrating a Biodiversity Net Gain will be provided to the LPA for approval in writing, 
and should include clearly marked-up plans showing: 

·       bat and bird nesting boxes; and,  

·       the creation of habitats through planting of native trees, hedgerows and grassed 
areas. 

Page 52



  

The approved plan shall be fully implemented as approved.  

Reason: to maintain the landscape and biodiversity value of the site and comply with Policy 
NC7 of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan (Adopted 2000) and comply with Section 15 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

14. The development hereby permitted by this planning permission, including all 
components of the sustainable drainage system, shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Drainage Layout shown on:  

·       23010-AJF-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-001 dated March 2023 – Proposed Surface Water Drainage 
Layout – Sheet 1 / by AJF Structural Engineering; and,  

·       23010-AJF-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-002 dated March 2023 – Proposed Surface Water Drainage 
Layout – Sheet 2 / by AJF Structural Engineering. 

  

For the avoidance of doubt, the surface water discharge rate from the development shall be 
no more than 2.0 l/s.  

The approved scheme shall be fully constructed prior to occupation in accordance with the 
approved details, phasing and timetable embodied within the approved Sustainable 
Drainage Strategy (shown on the Drainage Layout drawings), or within any other period as 
may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with 
the Lead Local Flood Authority.  

Reason : To ensure satisfactory sustainable drainage facilities are provided to serve the 
site in accordance with Paragraphs 167 and 169 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
15. The development hereby permitted by this planning permission, including all 
components of the sustainable drainage system, shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved final Sustainable Drainage Strategy, including any phasing embodied within, and 
maintained in perpetuity in accordance with an agreed Operation and Maintenance Plan, to 
be submitted for each development phase, approved by the Local Planning Authority, in 
consultation with the Lead Local Flood Authority.  

The approved drainage scheme shall be fully constructed prior to occupation in accordance 
with the approved details, phasing and timetable embodied within the approved final 
Sustainable Drainage Strategy, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, 
in writing, by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Lead Local Flood 
Authority. ‘As built’ drainage design/layout drawings and a final Operation and Maintenance 
Plan, confirming asset details and maintenance arrangements, shall be submitted to the 
Lead Local Flood Authority, in accordance with any approved phasing, prior to occupation.  

Reason: To ensure satisfactory sustainable drainage facilities are provided to serve the site 
and that maintenance arrangements are in place to ensure an acceptable standard of 
operation for the lifetime of the development in accordance with Paragraphs 167 and 169 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 53



 
 
16. In the event that previously unidentified contamination is found at any time when 
carrying out the approved development immediate contact must be made with the Local 
Planning Authority and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation 
scheme must be prepared, submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation strategy 
a verification report must be prepared, submitted to and approved in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority.  

Reason To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with 
Policy EP3 of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan. 

17. Prior to development above damp proof course level a scheme of landscaping shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
landscaping shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the development. Any 
trees or plants that within a period of five years after planting, are removed, die or become, 
in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or defective shall be 
replaced with others of a species, size and number as originally approved in the first 
available planting season unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to 
any variation. 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to comply with Policy GR5 of the Wirral 
Unitary Development Plan. 

18. Prior to occupation of the approved houses, refuse and cycle provision shall be 
provided within the rear gardens of each house and made available for use, and the 
provision shall be maintained as such thereafter.  

Reason: To ensure high quality residential accommodation. 
 
19. The residential houses hereby approved shall be constructed to incorporate the noise 
mitigation measures identified within the Environmental Noise Survey by Red Acoustics 
(ref: R1577-REP01-PB) 

Reason: To ensure a suitable internal noise environment for future occupiers of the houses 
hereby approved. 
 
20. Prior to occupation of each individual house hereby approved, the car parking spaces 
associated with that individual house, shown on approved drawing PL.004(H), shall be 
provided and made available for use, and shall be maintained as such thereafter.  

Reason: To ensure that the impact on the highway is appropriate to minimise disruption 
from on-street parking. 

 
21. Prior to development above damp proof course level a Management Plan to cover the 

Page 54



areas of the site that are not buildings, private amenity space or highway shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Management Plan shall 
include details of appearance, landscaping, lighting, use, accessibility, security and 
maintenance of these areas.  

Prior to occupation of the residential units hereby approved the Management Plan shall be 
enacted, and the development shall be operated in accordance with the approved 
Management Plan thereafter.  

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, ecology, access and security. 

 
22. No development shall take place until a Site Waste Management Plan, confirming how 
demolition and construction waste will be recovered and re-used on the site or at other 
sites, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved 

Plan shall be implemented in full unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development would include the re-use of limited 
resources, and to ensure that the amount of waste for landfill is reduced to accord with 
Policy WM8 of the Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and Halton. 

 
  

Last Comments By:  29-05-2023 

Expiry Date: 28-June-2023 

  

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



  

Planning Committee  8th June 2023 

  

Reference: 
Area 
Team: 

Case 
Officer: 

Ward: 

APPH/22/01521 DM 
Mr G 
Roberts 

West Kirby and 
Thurstaston 

  

Location: Dee Haven, 94 Caldy Road, Caldy, Wirral, CH48 2HZ 

Proposal: 

Refurbishment of existing dwelling, erection of new single storey 
rear extension with associated landscaping, including demolition of 
existing garage and outbuildings, creation of additional parking 
space and removal of part of boundary wall to facilitate same, and 
erection of garden store at rear. 

Applicant: Ellena Byrne 

Agent : Antony OToole SHACK Architecture ltd 

  

Qualifying Petition yes 

  

Site Plan: 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100019803 You are not 
permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any 
form. 
  

Development Plan 
designation: 

1. Primarily Residential Area; 
2. Density and Design Guidelines Area; 
3. Caldy Conservation Area; 
4. Grade II Listed Building; 
5. Archaeological Site; and 

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



6. B Class Road. 

   

Planning History: Location: 92-94 CALDY ROAD, CALDY, CH48 2HZ 

Application Type: Listed Building Consent 

Proposal: Internal & External Alterations 

Application No: LBC/10/01228 

Decision Date: 07/12/2010 

Decision Type: Approve 

    

  

Location: 92-94 CALDY ROAD, CALDY, CH48 2HZ 

Application 
Type: 

Pre-Application Enquiry 

Proposal: Internal & External Alterations 

Application No: PRE/22/00054/ENQ 

Decision Date: 20/06/2022 

Decision Type:   

    

  

Location: 92-94 CALDY ROAD, CALDY, CH48 2HZ 

Application Type: Listed Building Consent 

Proposal: 

Refurbishment of existing dwelling and new 
single storey rear extension with associated 
landscaping, including demolition of existing 
garage and outbuildings, creation of additional 
parking space and removal of part of boundary 
wall to facilitate same 

Application No: LBC/22/02229 

Decision Date:  

Decision Type:   

    
 

   

Summary Of Representations and Consultations Received: 

   

Page 58



1. Ward Member 
Comments 

No comments received. 

  

2. Summary of 
Representations 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Having regard to the Council Guidance on Publicity for Applications 
8 notifications were sent to adjoining properties. In total, 5 
objections were received, together with 1 statement of support. A 
sixth objection was received, however this could not be counted as 
it was submitted by an existing objector. The planning issues raised 
in the objections were as follows: 

1. Appearance and design of development and materials 
proposed; 

2. Effect on listed building and conservation area; 
3. Impact on the character and appearance of the area; 
4. Scale and dominance; 
5. Overlooking/Loss of privacy; and 
6. Light pollution. 

A qualifying petition of objection has also been received based on 
the concerns raised by the local residents and the Caldy Society.   

  

  

CONSULTATIONS 

1. Conservation – No objection, subject to 1no. condition; 
2. Highways – No objection. 1no. informative provided; 
3. Wirral Wildlife – No objection, subject to 3no. conditions. 

3no. informatives provided; 
4. Historic England – No comment; and 
5. Caldy Society and Caldy Conservation Area – Objection, the 

planning issues raised were as follows:  
1.  

i. Scale and dominance; 
ii. Appearance and design of development and 

materials proposed; 
iii. Effect on listed building and conservation 

area; 
iv. Impact on the character and appearance of 

the area; and 
v. Negative impact on rear side garden of No.96 

‘Sunnyfold’ 

  

3.1 Site and 
Surroundings 

  

3.1.1 No.94 Caldy Road (also known as ‘Dee Haven’) in Caldy is, to all 
intents and purposes, a detached property, albeit it is adjoined to 
neighbouring No.92 at its porch and entrance hall having originally 
incorporated No.92. The dwelling is a Grade II Listed Building 

Page 59



comprising a black and white mock timber framed building at the 
front of the plot, a sandstone building behind this which is set within 
the rear garden, and a later two-storey link between the two 
buildings. 

3.1.2 The property fronts Caldy Road and backs onto The Green estate 
road hammerhead. The site is bounded by No.92 Caldy Road and 
No.1A The Green to the west and No.96 Caldy Road and No.1 The 
Green to the east. The site is within a Primarily Residential Area, 
Caldy Conservation Area and a Density and Design Guidelines 
Area, it is an Archaeological Site and Caldy Road, onto which it 
fronts, is a B Class Road. 

  

3.2 Proposed 
Development 

  

3.2.1 The proposal is for the refurbishment of existing dwelling, erection 
of new single storey rear extension with associated landscaping, 
including demolition of existing garage and outbuildings, creation of 
additional parking space and removal of part of boundary wall to 
facilitate same, and erection of garden store at rear. 

A Listed Building Consent application LBC/22/02229 has also been 
submitted and not yet determined.  

3.2.2 The proposal was amended on 19 December 2022 following Officer 
feedback as follows: 

1. gross internal area reduced from 46m² to 38m²; 
2. ridge height reduced by 0.3m; 
3. window installed in the previously blank rear elevation; 
4. reduction in the number of roof lights from 3 to 1; 
5. sandstone surround provided to the new window on the rear 

elevation and to the glazed corner door; and 
6. reduction in size of hard landscaped terrace, retention of 

more lawn and soft landscaping. 

  

3.3 Development 
Plan 

  

3.3.1 The Wirral Unitary Development Plan is the current local 
development plan. The following policy and guidance are relevant 
to this planning application: 

3.3.2 1. Policy HS11: House Extensions; 
2. Policy CH1: Development Affecting Listed Buildings and 

Structures; 
3. Policy CH2: Development Affecting Conservation Areas; 
4. Policy CH3: Demolition Control within Conservation Areas; 

and 
5. Policy CH11: Caldy Conservation Area; and 
6. Policy NC7: Species Protection. 

Page 60



  

3.4 Other Material 
Planning 
Considerations 

  

3.4.1 National Planning Policy Framework sections 12: Achieving Well 
designed places and 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment are a material planning consideration in the 
determination of this planning application. 

3.4.2 The Emerging Local Plan 

Wirral Borough Council has submitted the Wirral Local Plan 2021-
2037 for examination. 

On the 21 March 2022 full council approved publication of the Draft 
Local Plan Under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 before submission 
to the Secretary of State. The plan was published in May 2022 and 
representations were available to be submitted until 25th July 
2022.  The Local Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State on 
the 26th October 2022.  The local plan and supporting evidence 
base can be viewed online at www.wirral.gov.uk/lpexam  

As the Wirral Local Plan has been submitted for examination it (and 
the supporting evidence base) is a material consideration and can 
be afforded weight in the decision-making process. In attaching 
weight to individual policies, paragraph 48 of the NPPF is relevant 
as it states: 

  

“Local planning authorities may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 

the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced 
its preparation, the greater the weight that may be given); 

the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant 
policies (the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater 
the weight that may be given); and 

the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging 
plan to this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan 
to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be 
given)." 

 The following Emerging Plan Polices are relevant to the 
determination of this planning application: 

 WD 2.1 Protecting Heritage Assets; 
 WD 2.2 Conservation Areas; 
 WD 2.3 Archaeological Assets; 
 WP 6.1 Conservation Areas - Caldy (CON-SA6.1); 

Page 61



 WD 5 Residential Extensions; 
 WS 6.1 Placemaking Principles (not householders); 
 WS 7.1 Design Principles;  
 WS 7.2 Privacy and Amenity; 
 WS 8.3 Improvements to Historic Buildings. 

3.4.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 11: House Extensions is a 
material planning consideration in the determination of this planning 
application 

3.4.4 The Caldy Village Conservation Area Appraisal and Management 
Plan is a material planning consideration in the determination of this 
planning application. 

3.4.5 Corresponding listed building consent application ref: 
LBC/22/02229 is a material planning consideration in the 
determination of this planning application. 

3.4.6 Pre-application enquiry ref: PRE/22/00054/ENQ which was a pre-
cursor to the current householder and listed building consent 
applications is also a material planning consideration in the 
determination of this planning application. 

 
  

3.5 Assessment   

3.5.1 The main issues pertinent in the assessment of the proposal are; 

 Principle of development (appropriateness of residential 
extensions in a Primarily Residential Area); 

 Scale and design; 
 Heritage; 
 Highways; 
 Environmental/Sustainability; and 
 Amenity. 

  

3.6 Principle of 
Development 

  

3.6.1 The principle of development (appropriateness of residential 
extensions in a Primarily Residential Area) is acceptable subject to 
compliance with relevant policies and guidance outlined above. 

  

3.7 Scale and 
design 

  

3.7.1 The scale of the proposed single storey extension as amended on 
19 December 2022 is appropriate to the size of the plot projecting 
an acceptable distance of no more than 7.1m from the main rear 
face of the host dwelling at its greatest extent and 4.95m at its least 
extent. It does not dominate the existing building, its ridge having 
been reduced by 0.3m and its footprint reduced by 8m² to ensure 

Page 62



that it is subordinate to the original dwelling, and it does not take up 
significant areas of soft landscaping/amenity space which are 
characteristic of the area. Furthermore, located at the rear of Dee 
Haven, the extension would barely be visible in the street scene 
aside from a fleeting glimpse of the upper section of the west facing 
gable between buildings. The scale of the proposed garden store at 
the lower level to the rear of the extension is also 
considered acceptable and reflects the design of the extension in 
terms of roof pitch and materials. 

3.7.2 The proposed materials including weathered red multi-facing brick 
in Flemish bond with natural mortar, which will be weather struck 
providing an attractive subtle pattern in the brickwork, sandstone 
copings, sandstone surround to door and window, dark grey natural 
slate roof tiles, dark grey conservation roof light and dark grey PPC 
Aluminium glazing will complement those of the original building 
and surrounding area. Likewise, the proposed garden store at the 
lower level will be finished with a slate roof and facing brick walls to 
match the main extension, which is acceptable. 

3.7.3 The proposed design features, whilst unquestionably modern 
overall, and comprising extensive glazing on the eastern elevation, 
nevertheless speak to the evolution of the original dwelling 
elements, with a glazed link replicating the earlier link between the 
two original buildings, sandstone coping to one side of the roof 
imitating the roof form of the original buildings and sandstone 
surround to the rear door and window ensuring a continues golden 
thread of sandstone. Similarly, the layout continues the somewhat 
irregular evolution of the original buildings. Overall, the proposed 
design offers an appropriate modern take on the old, with some 
contrasting and some sympathetic elements, the summation of 
which is acceptable. The proposed garden store is more 
conventionally designed and is acceptable. 

3.7.4 Overall, the scale and design of the proposed development is not 
considered to be detrimental to the character and appearance of 
the host dwelling, street scene or the surrounding area. The 
proposal complies with Policy HS11, SPG11, emerging local plan 
WD 5, WS 6.1 and WS 7.1 and the provisions of the revised NPPF. 

  

3.8 Heritage   

3.8.1 Where the Listed building status is concerned, the proposal as 
amended is now deemed to be of a nature and scale appropriate to 
retaining the character and design of the original building and its 
setting. Furthermore, given that no original internal walls or other 
features are to be removed as part of the original dwelling’s 
refurbishment, and given that the original sandstone façade at the 
rear of the main dwelling will continue to be exposed thanks to the 
proposed glazed link, it is also deemed that adequate provision is 
made for the preservation of the special architectural and historic 
features of the building. Overall, it evident that the proposals will 
help to secure the viable, long-term future of the building by 

Page 63



ensuring that the property is compatible with modern living as 
envisaged by Policy CH1. 

3.8.2 Where the surrounding conservation area is concerned it is deemed 
that this modern addition to the rear of Dee Haven, with its use of 
complimentary building materials and its mix of unifying and 
contrasting design features will, in line with Policy CH2 and CH11, 
preserve the distinctive characteristics of the area, including 
important views into and out of the designated area, which will 
remain unaffected by this modest rear extension. Furthermore, 
given that the scheme will barely be visible within the highly 
sensitive street scene, it is deemed that the extension will preserve 
the general design and layout of the area, as well as its mature 
garden character and setting by virtue of its reduced footprint and 
reduced hardstanding relative to the scheme as submitted. 

3.8.3 Overall, there are no heritage implications relating to the amended 
scheme. The Conservation Officer was consulted and raised no 
objection to the amended scheme, subject to the provision of 
appropriate materials samples for review and approval by the LPA 
prior to commencement of works. The requirement is secured by 
condition. The scheme as amended complies with heritage-related 
policies CH1, CH2, CH3 and CH11 as well as the provisions of 
section 16 of the revised NPPF. 

  

3.9 Highways   

3.9.1 There are no Highway Implications relating to this proposal. 
Highways were consulted but raised no objection. One informative 
was provided concerning the need for consent under the Highways 
Act for the construction of a new or the amendment/ removal of an 
existing vehicular access. This informative has been added to the 
decision notice. 

  

3.10 Environmental/ 
Sustainability 

  

3.10.1 Wirral Wildlife were consulted in respect to the proposal given the 
proposed demolitions of the rear outbuildings and garage. A dusk 
survey was submitted, following a review of this the Ecologist 
confirmed that Wirral Wildlife had no objection subject to 3no. 
conditions pertaining to the need for exterior lighting to be designed 
and used to minimise impact on bats and their insect food, the need 
for bat and bird boxes to be erected onto/incorporated into the 
development and, unrelated to bats, the need for any dense 
vegetation (trees, shrubs, and hedgerow) to be removed outside the 
bird nesting season. Additionally, 3no. informatives were provided. 
All have been added to the decision notice. 

3.10.2 Subject to compliance with the above conditions, the proposal is 
considered to comply with UDP Policy NC7 and the provisions of 
the revised NPPF. 

  

Page 64



3.11 Amenity   

3.11.1 The single storey rear extension has 1no. window on its west side 
elevation, 1no.window on its rear elevation, and extensive 
fenestration to its east side elevation. Despite having unobscured 
side windows, these are at ground floor level and so will face 
intervening boundaries. There will therefore be no elevated viewing 
points from which to look down on neighbouring gardens, including 
from the rear window which might have been a concern due to 
reducing levels at the rear, so overlooking is not a concern. 
Furthermore, given the reduction in scale which has occurred 
relative to the scheme as submitted, including a reduction to the 
height of the ridge and footprint, it is deemed that the single storey 
extension as amended will not have an overbearing impact where 
neighbouring properties are concerned. Finally, given the relatively 
modest scale of the proposed extension as amended, and its 
distance from adjacent properties, it will have no impact in terms of 
overshadowing.  

3.11.2 Separation distances do not apply in this instance as no first-floor 
habitable room windows on main elevations are proposed.  

3.11.3 In total, a Qualifying petition was received following re-consultation, 
5 objections were received, together with 1 statement of support. A 
sixth objection was also received, however this could not be 
counted as it was submitted by an existing objector. The issues 
raised by the sixth objector were in any case covered in the other 
objections. The Caldy Society and Caldy Conservation Area 
Advisory Committee also objected. 

The planning issues raised in the objections were as follows: 

1. Appearance and design of development and materials 
proposed – addressed in section 3.7; 

2. Effect on listed building and conservation area – addressed 
in section 3.8; 

3. Impact on the character and appearance of the area – 
addressed in section 7 and 3.8; 

4. Scale and dominance– addressed in section 3.7; 
5. Overlooking/Loss of privacy – addressed in section 3.11; 

and 
6. Light pollution – light emitted from a ground floor rear 

extension, even were the glazed elevation is largely 
orientated to one side, would be comparable to the light 
emitted from a rear conservatory. This level of domestic light 
will not have a detrimental impact on neighbouring 
properties, the closest of which are located generous 
distances away. There is also intervening vegetation 
between these properties and the extension. 

3.11.4 In terms of amenity, it is considered that the proposed development 
as amended would not be so extensive as to be overbearing or to 
result in overshadowing or overlooking in relation to neighbouring 

Page 65



properties. On this basis, the proposal is compliant with Policy 
HS11, SPG11 and provisions of section 12 of the revised NPPF. 

  

Summary of 
Decision 

Having regards to the individual merits of this application the 
recommendation to grant Planning Permission has been taken 
having regards to the relevant Policies and Proposals in the Wirral 
Unitary Development Plan (Adopted February 2000) and all 
relevant material considerations including national policy advice. In 
reaching this decision the Local Planning Authority has considered 
the following:- 

  The proposal as amended is acceptable having regard to scale, 
appearance, amenity and Wirral's Unitary Development Plan 
Policies HS11, CH1, CH2, CH3, CH11 and NC7, SPG11, relevant 
Emerging Local Plan policies and the revised National Planning 
Policy Framework.   

  

Recommended 
Decision: 

Approve subject to the following conditions. 

  

Recommended Conditions and Reasons: 

 1  The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from the date of 
this decision. 

Reason: To comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 
 
 2  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
plans received by the local planning authority on 12 January 2023 and 10 March 2023 and 
listed as follows: 

B104 E (Proposed Ground Floor Plan), dated: 12 January 2023; 

B105 D (Proposed First Floor Plan), dated: 12 January 2023; 

B106 C (Proposed Roof Plan), dated: 12 January 2023; 

B107 B (Proposed Front and West Side Context Elevations), dated: 12 January 2023; 

B108 C (Proposed East Side and Rear Elevations), dated: 12 January 2023; and  

B109 D (Proposed West Side Elevation and Garden Store Plan and Elevations), dated: 10 
March 2023. 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to define the permission. 
 
 3  No development involving the use of any facing or roofing materials shall take place 
until samples of the materials to be used in the construction of external surfaces of the 

Page 66



building have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it 
contributes to the character and appearance of the area having regards to Wirral Unitary 
Development Plan Policies HS11, CH1, CH2 and CH11. 
 
 4  No external lighting shall be installed until details of the proposed lighting scheme to 
include type, location and illuminance level has been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority, thereafter development should be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details.  

Reason: To protect the habitats of commuting and foraging bats and to comply with Policy 
NC7 in the Wirral Unitary Development Plan and Paragraph 180 of the NPPF. 
 
 5  No tree, shrub or hedgerow felling is to be carried out on the site between 1 March and 
31 August in any year. If it is necessary to undertake works during the bird breeding 
season then all buildings, trees, scrub, hedgerows and vegetation are to be checked first 
by an appropriately experienced ecologist to ensure no breeding birds are present. If 
present, details of how they will be protected are required to be submitted for approval. 

Reason: To protect birds during their breeding season 

 
 6  Prior to construction, a scheme for the provision of bird nesting and bat boxes within the 
development shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The 
boxes so approved shall be completed and available for use prior to first use of the 
development and shall thereafter be retained. 

Reason: To protect important wildlife species having regards to NC7 in Wirral Unitary 
Development Plan. 
 
 INFORMATIVES  

   Consent under the Highways Act is required for the construction of a new or the 
amendment/removal of an existing vehicular access.  Such works are undertaken at the 
developer's expense, including the relocation/replacement and/or removal of street furniture 
and vegetation as necessary.  Submission of a S50 Highway Opening Notice is required 
prior to commencement of any works on the adopted highway. Please contact the Council 
Highway Management team area manager via www.wirral.gov.uk prior to the 
commencement of the works for the approval of the proposed details. 

   

Bats may be present in your building.  Bats are protected species.  If you discover bats, 
you must cease work immediately. Contact Batline on 01704 385735 for advice.  You are 
reminded that unauthorised interference could result in prosecution. Bats are protected 
under Schedule 5 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), as well as under 
Schedule 2 of the Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations 2010 and it is 
therefore an offence to cause damage to a bat roost. 

   

Page 67



Lighting should be designed and used to minimise the impacts on bats known to forage in 
this area as well as their insect food from excessive light spill onto their habitats. All 
exterior lighting should follow the guidance of the Bat Conservation Trust. Current (June 
2014) advice is found at http://www.bats.org.uk/news/2018/09/new-guidance-on-bats-and-
lighting  
  

Soft landscaping should include the provision of native and non-native flowering perennial 
species, to provide a pollen and nectar source for invertebrates. 

Where practically possible Tree planting should comprise the provision of native species. 
  

  

Last Comments By:  10-11-2022 

Expiry Date: 10-03-2023 

             

  

 
 
 
  

: 
 
  

  

Page 68



  

Planning Committee 8th June 2023 

  

Reference: Area Team: Case Officer: Ward: 

APP/22/00334 DM Mr P Roberts Rock Ferry 

  

Location: Camell Laird, Campbeltown Road, Birkenhead, Wirral, CH41 9BP 

Proposal: 
Construction of a building for employment purposes Class E(G)IIII, B2 and 
B8, along with a gatehouse associated infrastructure including: service yard, 
car parking, drainage and hard and soft landscaping 

Applicant: Peel L & P & Tungsten Properties 

Agent: Eleanor Overton (Pegasus Group) 

  

Qualifying Petition No  

  

Site Plan: 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100019803 You are not 
permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any 
form. 
  

Development Plan 
designation: 

Primarily Industrial Area 
Employment Development Site 
Coastal Zone 
Waste Disposal Site 

   

Planning History: APP/16/00601 – Temporary warehouse, offices and contractor 
storage facilities. APPROVED  

APP/15/00592 - Full planning application for a proposed crew 
transfer and storage facility. APPROVED 

Page 69

Agenda Item 7



APP/12/00729 – Temporary planning permission for three years for 
a temporary warehouse to be used for the dry storage of high value 
equipment and components to be used for the construction of 
Gwynt y Mar Offshore Wind Farm. APPROVED 

APP/12/00030 – Temporary planning permission for three years to 
erect amenities to facilitate the coordination of construction of parts 
of the Gwynt y More Offshore Wind Farm. APPROVED 

   
Reason for listing on Strategic Applications Sub Committee Agenda: 
 
Large scale development of more than 10,000 square metres. 

 
 

Summary Of Representations and Consultations Received: 

   

1. Ward Member 
Comments 

None. 

2. Summary of 
Representations 

REPRESENTATIONS 

In response to the public consultation exercise a total of 2 responses 
were received raising the following comments: 
 

- Overdevelopment 
- Increased traffic with pressures on local roads, junctions and 

prejudicial to highway safety 
 
In addition, objections from Eversheds on behalf of neighbouring operator 
Essar Oil Limited as well as Stanlow Terminals Limited (Essar) were 
received on 15 April 2022, 29 April 2022, 23rd June 2022 and 13th 
February 2023.  
 
The first objection states that Essar operates Tranmere Oil Terminal 
which is considered Critical National Infrastructure along with the Stanlow 
Manufacturing Complex. The Tranmere Terminal receives vessels 
carrying up to 170,000 tonnes of crude oil and up to 9 million tonnes of 
crude oil a year which is processed at Stanlow. The site is designated as 
a top tier site under the Control of Major Accident Hazards Regulations 
2015 (“COMAH”) because of the quantity of dangerous substances 
present. It has an existing Hazardous Substance Consent (HSC) issued 
by Wirral Council in 2017 in connection with the maximum quantity of 
flammable liquids, petroleum products and alternative fuels present. 
 
A summary of comments raised is set out below: 

- Major accident prevention should be based on the principle of 
reducing risk to a level as low as is reasonably practicable 
(“ALARP”) for both human and environmental risks and a change in 
circumstances may impact on Essar’s ability to demonstrate that it 
is operating its site to reduce major accident hazards to reasonably 
practical levels. If approved, there is the potential that the Health and 

Page 70



Safey Executive (HSE) would require enhanced measures to lower 
accident risks adding material costs and prejudicing future growth 
and operations in a highly competitive market.  

- In protecting Critical National Infrastructure, it is necessary to 
consider flexibility regarding future operations as well as existing 
potentially hazardous substances on-site. For instance, in 
connection with the planned introduction of a Low Carbon Biofuels 
Hub.  

- The submitted Transport Assessment (TA) is deficient in terms of 
methodology and assessing impact on highway network capacity. 

- This application does not fully assess or conclude on the ecological 
and ornithological impacts of the proposal including in respect of the 
Habitats Regulation Assessment.  

- The Impact of COMAH Report fails to have regard to the way in 
which Essar’s sites are used and relies solely upon the response 
received by the HSE, which is not sufficient for a full assessment. 

- The Design and Access Statement (“DAS”) is not fit for purpose. 

- The proposed development may have implications for the existing 
COMAH Safety Report for the Tranmere Oil Terminal site, 
increasing the number of persons that may be subjected to risk and 
potentially causing increased costs, and potentially prejudicing 
future expansion of the Essar business.  

- Traffic impact of the proposed development and the ability of the 
emergency services to access Tranmere Oil Terminal in the event 
of a major accident.  

- The need for future flexibility is underlined by the recent Health and 
Safety Certificate (HSC) application. A significant increase in people 
present within the inner, middle and outer COMAH consultation 
zones may well make it more difficult for Essar to ensure that major 
hazard risks remain ALARP. This may in turn make it more difficult 
to secure future consents and approvals to allow Essar to remain 
competitive and to help deliver on the Government’s hydrogen and 
net zero ambitions.  

- Essar considers that the Application has not demonstrated that the 
criteria in Policies EM6, POL1 and PO9 have been satisfied and so 
the proposed development does not comply with the Development 
Plan. 

- National policy and guidance is clear that existing nationally 
important infrastructure must be protected against inappropriate 
development in its surrounds, presently and into the future.   

- In summary, Essar considers that the proposal fails to comply with 
the development plan and other material considerations, such as 
national policy and guidance, which indicate that permission should 
be refused. 

 
A second objection was received on 29th April 2022 containing 
comments on the transport submission submitted on the applicant’s 
behalf by RSK Limited. In summary this stated: 

- The traffic generation section of the TA downplays the impact of a 
B8 use and utilises the generation figures for a B2 use. While this 
offers a robust assessment of total traffic, this offers a reduced 

Page 71



volume of HGVs and potentially underestimates the overall impact 
of the proposals.  

- The daily volume of HGVs for a B8 use is estimated to be as high 
as 488 two-way movements. There has been no assessment of 
environmental impacts, despite the proposals increasing HGV 
volumes by 50%.  

- The junction modelling of both roundabouts on the A41 is 
considered to be inaccurate. 

- Deficiencies in the site access junction for HGVs. It is positioned 
close to the access for the land use immediately to the north. A 
greater separation distance is appropriate to allow for vehicle 
manoeuvring while avoiding conflict between HGV movements.  

- The access itself has been shown with 6m radii, which are 
inappropriate for an industrial use and require every HGV turning out 
left to use the full width of the carriageway. Given the high volume 
of HGVs, particularly turning south, the design is sub-standard.  

- The entry to the site is inadequate, indicating a dual-lane entry yet 
is clearly illustrated in swept path drawings that it can only 
reasonably operate as a single lane.  

- The available stacking space at the entry is also inadequate given 
the high HGV volumes and will lead to a high risk of vehicles waiting 
on Campbeltown Road in both directions and causing obstruction to 
other vehicles. On this basis, the proposed access arrangements 
are considered to be sub-standard and present a risk to highway 
safety. 

 
A third objection letter was submitted on 23rd June 2022. The below is a 
summary of the points raised: 

- A request that the Council considers the appropriateness of the 
proposal in light of the application (ref: HSC/22/00720) to modify the 
HSC for the introduction of different fuels to the terminal on the basis 
that the proposals are located in close proximity to each other and 
modification to chemicals capable of being stored may affect the 
COMAH consultation zones. 

- The assessments carried out do not take account of the hazardous 
substances that may be stored at the site in the future.  

- It would be irresponsible and a failure to have regard to material 
considerations to set aside the HSC application when determining 
this submission. It must be factored into evaluation of any other 
scheme proposed which might affect those operations.  

- Where a HSC is modified, the consultation zone is required to be 
reconsidered on the basis of what is now permitted. It would be 
entirely unreasonable to inhibit the operation of the COMAH site for 
a nearby planning application which has not properly assessed such 
development.  

- The HSE has not yet provided a consultation response. The 
COMAH Report supporting the Application has been prepared on 
the basis that a response of ‘Do Not Advise Against’ is likely to be 
received, and this assumption flows through into other supporting 
documents. This assessment fails to have regard to the way in which 

Page 72



Essar’s sites are used and is not sufficient to demonstrate that the 
proposals are acceptable from a safety perspective. 

- Determination should not take place in the absence of a formal 
consultation response from the HSE.  

- The Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service (MFRS) has an Emergency 
Plan in respect of Tranmere Oil Terminal which is updated every 3 
years. The Plan sets out that there are no watercourses running 
through the Terminal and no stored water. Water would be extracted 
from the Cammel Laird basin in the event of a fire when the river is 
low and if there was a large-scale fire MFRS would use connections 
at the Terminal for fire water hoses to feed into with the hoses and 
pumps connected to the basin to transfer water. MFRS utilises the 
land lying within the application site to lay the hoses between the 
basin and the Terminal. Accordingly, it is argued that the proposal 
would interfere with the ability of MFRS to provide additional water 
in the case of a major event.  
 

A fourth letter was received from Eversheds on 13 February 2023 which 
was written in response to the document prepared by PDC in December 
2022. The letter which is attached for reference rebuts some of the claims 
made by PDC. The following represents a summary of the comments 
made: 

 

- Domestic UK refinery closures are not inevitable. The 
Government’s Ten Point Plan strategy is to support industrial 
decarboonisation in the UK through Carbon Capture, Usage and 
Storage and low carbon hydrogen production and the Hynet 
project at Stanlow has been selected by BEIS as a Track 1 cluster 
to manufacture and deliver low carbon hydrogen. Stanlow and 
Tranmere terminals will be at the heart of the North West 
hydrogen economy.   

- the continued importance of Tranmere Oil Terminal and the 
Stanlow Oil Refinery to regional and national infrastructure. It is 
wrong to suggest refineries are not required to provide supply 
security. Domestic energy manufacturing facilities are needed to 
provide resilience to international supply chain disruptions. 
Stanlow and Tranmere are central to regional energy supply. The 
ability of other UK refineries to meet required volumes without 
Tranmere and Stanlow is not logistically possible. Due to capacity 
contsraints on alternative supply systems and the lack of 
alternative import terminals in the Northwest.  

- the HSE consultation zones referred to by PDC do not factor in 
the additional zone (DPZ) and the larger other zones around large 
scale petrol sites which is considered by Essar to apply in this 
situation and would mean that the proposed building would fall 
under Sensitivity Level 2 and lead to an ‘Advise Against’ 
response;  

- the LPA have been advised by BEIS (Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy), that both Stanlow Refinery and 
Tranmere Oil Terminal are Critical National Infrastructure, forming 
a key part of the energy supply chain; are key parts of the regional 
economy, and the loss, closure and disruption to Tranmere Oil 

Page 73



Terminal would have a significant impact on refinery operations 
and fuel supply resilience;  

- the proposal would potentially damage the terminal and refinery’s 
role in the transition to net zero;  

- the automated HSE response cannot be relied upon in this 
circumstance;  

- the PDC letter fails to understand the intention of the NPPF to 
integrate new development with existing uses and businesses, 
including those that require HSC’s;  

- Tranmere Oil Terminal should be considered as a large-scale 
petrol site and this development falls within the inner consultation 
zone;  

- the PDC document has a too narrow interpretation of the NPPF 
and is misleading and factually incorrect.  

 
  

  

CONSULTATIONS 

Environmental Health (28th March 2022): No objections, subject to any 
subsequent plant installation associated with this development that is likely 
to impact noise levels at the site boundary being submitted for approval. 
 
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service (1st April 2022): No objections, subject 
to informative 
  
Transport (11th April 2022): No objections subject to conditions and 
informative. 
 
Natural England (30th March 2023) – No objection subject to appropriate 
mitigation being secured. The scheme is considered to have adverse 
effects on protected areas but these adverse effects on can be mitigated 
and the development made acceptable by the production of a detailed 
Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP). An appropriate 
assessment of the proposal in accordance with regulation 63 of the 
Conservation Species and Habitats Regulations 2017 (as amended) has 
been provided. The assessment concludes that the authority is able to 
ascertain that the proposal will not result in adverse effects on the integrity 
of any of the sites in question. This followed and earlier response (19th April 
2022) requesting further information required in relation to a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment. 
 
United Utilities (29th April 2022): No objections subject to condition and 
informatives.   
 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS) (Comments received 
on 27th. March 2023; 20th March 2023; 14th October 2022 & 12th April 2022): 
Following the submission of further information including an updated 
shadow Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA), Wintering Bird Survey 
Report and an Ecological Impact Assessment along with the Preliminary 
ecological Assessment originally submitted, MEAS have no objections 
subject to planning conditions. 
 

Page 74



Environment Agency (comments on 29th June 2022 & 12th April 2022): 
Following the submission of further information, no objection subject to 
condition. 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority (25th May 2023): Following the submission of 
further information an earlier objection (22nd April 2022) is withdrawn and 
no objections are given to the proposal subject to conditions.   
 
Health and Safety Executive (10th June 2022): Do not advise against. An 
email was received on 13th April 2023 stating that there is not at present a 
Development Proximity Zone associated with the Tranmere Oil Terminal. 

  

3.1 Site and 
Surroundings 

  

3.1.1 The application site consists of a large area of hardstanding located 
adjacent to the River Mersey accessed off the eastern side of 
Campbeltown Road. The site was previously occupied by manufacturing 
sheds and ancillary structures. The immediate area is commercial in 
character with shipbuilding infrastructure, including a large shed to the 
north of this site and the Tranmere Oil Terminal is located to the south.  

  

3.2 Proposed 
Development 

  

3.2.1 The proposal seeks full planning permission for the construction of a 
rectangular shaped industrial/warehouse building measuring 
approximately 43,233 (Gross Internal Area) square metres. Rising to a 
height of over 18.4 metres with a barrel vault roof design, the majority of 
the facility would be a single level served by 72 HGV of vehicle loading 
bays (64 set below ground floor level) along the north and south elevations 
with office space located at the southwestern edge of the building over 
ground and two additional floors. Two control rooms are attached centrally 
to the north and south elevations built to two storeys with a single with 
single roof pitch below that of the main building.  

The building will primarily consist of metal cladding save for the elevations 
enclosing the three-storey office activity which will be glazed.  

The development would comprise a total of 131 HGV parking spaces, 421 
car parking space, 18 motorcycle spaces and 30 cycle stands. The HGVs 
would utilise a new access point to the north-western edge of the site, 
adjacent to which would be located a single storey gatehouse. Areas of 
landscaping will be provided along the boundary of the site including new 
hedgerows and trees. 

  

3.3 
Development 
Plan 

At the current time the statutory development plan for the area comprises 
saved policies of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan (2000) (UDP) and 
the Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste Plan (2013). 

Page 75



3.3.1 The following Wirral Unitary Development Plan 2000 policies are 
relevant: 

 URN1 (Development and Urban Regeneration)  
 TRT1 (Provision for Public Transport)  
 TRT3 (Transport and the Environment) 
 NCO1 (Principles for Nature Conservation) 
 LAN1 (Principles for Landscape)  
 WAT1 (Fluvial and Tidal Flooding) 
 WAT2 (Protection of the Water Environment) 
 COA1 (Principles for the Coastal Zone) 
 POL1 (Restrictions for Polluting and Hazardous Uses) 
 REN1 (Principles for Renewable Energy) 
 EMP1 (Provision of Employment Land)  
 Proposal EM1 (Former Cammell Laird’s Shipyard) 
 EM6 (General Criteria for New Employment Development)  
 EM7 (Environmental Criteria for New Employment Development)  
 EM8 (Development within Primarily Industrial Areas)  
 GR5 (Landscaping and New Development) 
 GR7 (Trees and New Development) 
 NC1 (The Protection of Sites of International Importance for 

Nature Conservation) 
 Proposal NC2 (Sites of International Importance for Nature 

Conservation) 
 NC3 (Protection of Sites of International Importance for Nature 

Conservation) 
 NC4 (Sites of International Importance for Nature Conservation) 
 NC5 (The Protection of Sites of Local Importance for Nature 

Conservation) 
 NC6 (Sites of Biological Importance) 
 NC7 (Species Protection)  
 TR9 (Requirements for off street parking)  
 TR11 (Provision for cyclists in highway and development 

schemes)  
 TR12 (Requirements for Cycle Parking)  
 TR13 (Requirements for disabled access)  
 WA1 (Development and Flood Risk)  
 WA2 (Protection of the Water Environment) 
 WA3 (Development and Groundwater Protection) 
 WA4 (Safeguarding Water Resources) 
 WA5 (Protecting surface waters)  
 PO1 (Potentially Polluting Development)  
 PO2 (Development near existing sources of pollution)  
 PO3 (Noise)  
 PO4 (Noise Sensitive Development) 
 PO5 (Criteria for Development of Contaminated Land) 
 PO9 (Criteria for Development Near Notifiable Hazards 

Page 76



The following Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and Halton policies 
are relevant: 

 WM2 Sub-regional Site Allocations 
 WM8 Waste Prevention and Resource Management 
 WM9 Sustainable Waste Management Design and Layout for 

New Development 

  

3.4 Other 
Material 
Planning 
Considerations 

  

3.4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 

 Introduction 
 Achieving sustainable development 
 Decision-making 
 Building a strong, competitive economy  
 Promoting healthy and safe communities 
 Promoting sustainable transport 
 Making effective use of land  
 Achieving well-designed places 
 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change 
 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

3.4.2 Supplementary Planning Document 4: Parking Standards 

3.4.4 Wirral Borough Council is in the process of submitting a new local plan 
for examination. 

On the 21 March 2022 full council approved publication of the Draft Local 
Plan Under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning Act (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 before submission to the 
Secretary of State. The Local Plan was submitted to the Secretary of 
State on the 26th of October 2022.  The local plan and supporting 
evidence base can be viewed online at www.wirral.gov.uk/lpexam 

As the Wirral Local Plan has been submitted for examination it (and the 
supporting evidence base) is a material consideration and can be 
afforded weight in the decision-making process. In attaching weight to 
individual policies, paragraph 48 of the NPPF is relevant as it states: 

“Local planning authorities may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 

 the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more 
advanced its preparation, the greater the weight that may be 
given); 

Page 77



 the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant 
policies (the less significant the unresolved objections, the 
greater the weight that may be given); and 

 the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging 
plan to this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging 
plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that 
may be given).” 

The following policies are considered to be relevant to this proposal: 
WS1, WS2, WS4, WS5, WS6, WS7, WS8, WS9, WS10, WP2, WD1, 
WD2, WD3, WD4, WD14, WD15, WD16, WD18, WM6.  

At the present time, the Wirral Local Plan is a Material Consideration and 
can be afforded weight in the decision making process. 

3.4.5 Wirral Tree, Hedgerow and Woodland Strategy 2020-2030 and National 
Design Guide (2021) are also material considerations. 

  

3.5 Assessment Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
requires applications for planning permission to be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The adopted Development Plan where the site is 
located, comprises the saved policies of the Wirral Unitary Development 
Plan (Adopted 2000) and the Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and 
Halton (Adopted 2013) 
 
The NPPF is also a material consideration in the determination of 
planning applications. The development plan has been used as the 
starting point for the assessment of the proposal submitted for 
consideration and the following policies topics are considered to be 
particularly relevant to this application.   
 
The emerging Wirral Local Plan, together with its up-to-date evidence, 
is considered to be a material consideration in the determination of 
planning applications.  

  The application has been assessed against development plan policies, 
national planning policy and guidance, and other material planning 
considerations and the advice of statutory consultees. The key planning 
issues raised by the proposal include:  

 Principle of Development  
 Design 
 Heritage matters 
 Neighbouring Amenity;   
 Highways;   
 Drainage and flood risk matters;   
 Ecology;   
 Contaminated Land matters; 
 Waste matters. 

  

Page 78



3.6 EIA & HRA 
Matters 

  

3.6.1 The proposal is an industrial estate development project which falls under 
Schedule 2 10(a) of the EIA Regulations 2017. The proposal exceeds 5 
hectares of the EIA screening thresholds for this type of development and 
therefore screening is required. Having considered the project against the 
provisions of the EIA Regulations (including screening criteria presented in 
Schedule 3) and the relevant National Planning Practice Guidance it is 
considered that the proposals are unlikely to give rise to significant 
environmental effects from an EIA perspective, and that an EIA is therefore 
not required in this case. 

3.6.2 In line with Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations (2017), it is the LPA’s responsibility as competent authority to 
ensure a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) is undertaken if the 
proposal has the potential to impact nearby designated sites. The 
application site lies immediately adjacent to the Liverpool Bay SPA and is 
also near to the following internationally designated sites:  

 Mersey Estuary SPA (750m S); 

 Mersey Estuary Ramsar (750m S); 

 Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore SPA (2.8km N); 
and 

 Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore Ramsar (2.8km 
N). 

These sites are protected under the Conservation of Habitats & Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) and UDP policies NC1 and NC2 apply. 

To enable the Council to complete a HRA, during the course of the 
application the applicant submitted a shadow Habitats Regulations 
Assessment in conjunction with bird and other surveys (including on land 
take), in order to assess the impact of the proposal on protected sites. An 
acceptable level of survey work is considered to have been undertaken 
following the submission a Wintering Bird Survey Report in 2023 alongside 
previously submitted material. The 2022/23 non-breeding bird surveys 
recorded a peak count of 62 bar-tailed godwit within the intertidal area to 
the east of the proposed development site. This equates to 1.85% of the 
Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore SPA and Ramsar site 
population which is significant (numbers above 1% of the internationally 
designated site population are considered to be significant). A significant 
number of shelduck (peak count of 107) were also recorded within the 
intertidal area to the east and this represents 1.65% of the Mersey Estuary 
SPA population.  Other qualifying species were recorded during the survey 
such as curlew, dunlin and oystercatcher, including within the application 
site itself. However, these were not present in significant numbers. 
 
Following previous MEAS advice of 20 March 2023, the applicant 
submitted a revised shadow HRA report (Rev E, Final). MEAS consider 
that this adequately addresses the matters which were previously raised 
and that the shadow HRA can be accepted by the Council as its own 

Page 79



assessment. Natural England also form the opinion that this is an 
appropriate assessment and concur with the conclusions. 

 
 

3.7 Principle of 
Development 

  

3.7.1 The application proposes the creation of a building to be used for 
employment purposes falling under class E(G)III, B2 and B8. The 
application does not seek consent for a specific floorspace for each of 
the proposed uses rather a flexible consent for uses falling under these 
use classes. Use Class E(G)III was created in the amended Use 
Classes Order in September 2020 when the former B1 use was replaced 
and subsumed. This particular use (E(G)III) is identified as any 
“industrial processes, being a use, which can be carried out in any 
residential area without detriment to the amenity of that area by reason 
of noise, vibration, smell, fumes, smoke, soot, ash, dust or grit.”. 

The development site is situated within an urban area and is an 
Employment Development Site within a Primarily Industrial Area as 
allocated in the UDP. This means that the principle of the proposal is 
suitable for development in planning terms subject to the considerations 
below, and also prioritised for development given that it is a previously 
developed site. Development of this site will comply with paragraph 119 
of the NPPF and Policy URN1 of the UDP, by making more efficient use 
of previously developed land within an allocated employment site and 
making effective use of land.  

Moreover, the majority of the site is allocated within the emerging Local 
Plan for employment use (Site EMP SA.2.2), the Policy (WP 2.3) stating 
that the site is allocated for main employment uses including industrial 
processes, research and development and storage and distribution with 
priority given to uses which support the maritime sector. The policy goes 
on to note that development on the site should take a comprehensive 
design approach providing flexible business premises adaptable to 
changing circumstances and one that connects to the local highway 
network, provides permeability for cyclists and pedestrians to the Wirral 
Circular Trail and uses landscaping to soften the Cambeltown Road 
frontage. Any development should also demonstrate that unscheduled 
archaeological remains have been evaluated. The site is also allocated in 
the emerging Local Plan as being located within a Port and Maritime Zone 
and the proposal must therefore satisfy policy WS4.3, which sets out that 
non-port related development will only be permitted where consideration 
has been given to its impact on the future needs of the Port.  

The applicant is the owner of the land subject of this application, which 
sits within the area of land that is allocated in the emerging Local Plan as 
Cammell Lairds Shipyard (DKS-SA2.3). The applicant is also the owner 
of the adjacent land which forms the entirety of this allocation.  

Page 80



The applicant has provided a statement making the case that the 
proposed development (to be used for employment purposes) will not 
unacceptably prejudice the continued operations of the Port and that 
consideration has been given to the future needs of the port.  The 
statement sets out that the site was formally part of the Cammell Laird 
facility. When under previous ownership the area consisted of workshops 
and storage buildings, serving ancillary functions to the adjacent wet dock, 
wet basin, landside assembly area and the general assembly hall. The 
site was not in use when Peel took ownership of the facility as whole in 
2008 and the buildings were subsequently cleared.  The statement states 
that since that time the site has been offered back to Cammell Laird, 
however they have no commercial use for the site. This is backed by the 
Chief Financial Officer of Cammell Laird who have stated via email that 
there is no objection to the proposals, confirming that the site was offered 
to Cammell Laird some time ago, but there is no need for the site as part 
of their commercial operations. 

The site was also marketed by Legat Owen and LSH during the summer 
of 2021.  Expressions of interest were received from 11 parties and 
offers received from 8 parties. Of the 11 parties, none of them were what 
could be termed as port and maritime uses.  
 
In addition, the application site is stated to not have a useable 
waterfront, with even at hightide the waterline is distant from the 
riverbank/site because of mud flats. Hence, the statement argues that 
without extensive dredging or land build-out into the River, the site 
cannot function as a port, thus rendering the safeguarding policy 
somewhat unnecessary. 

Taken together, satisfactory evidence in this specific case has been 
provided and it is considered that there is no realistic prospect of the site 
coming forward or being required for Port-related development associated 
with the Cammell Laird shipyard. It is also consistent with Proposal EM1 
in the UDP, 

The site is also situated within a Coastal Zone UDP designation. 
Proposals on this former Cammell Laird must therefore satisfy Policy 
COA1 and Policy CO1 adhering to a variety of criteria incorporating nature 
conservation, landscaping, flood defences and coastal character 
(discussed elsewhere in this report). On a principle level, the proposed 
site is on brownfield land that was formerly used by Cammell Laird 
Shipyard but has remained derelict since 2004 and as such is in keeping 
with UDP aspirations.  

 

3.7.2 The application is supported by an Economic Benefits Statement. 
Paragraph 81 of the NPPF sets out that significant weight should be 
placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking 
into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for 
development. The Statement provides an economic overview of the 

Page 81



locality and identifies the construction and operational phase benefits 
associated with the development. Included within the benefits are over 
500 temporary construction jobs, over 500 full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs 
once the development is built and occupied, added contribution to 
economic output; business rates; additional spend within Wirral, which 
support existing businesses and help create demand for new businesses 
in the locality.  

3.7.3 A portion of the south-western part of the site (approximately 1.74 
hectares of a 5.9-hectare area) is in addition to the above designations 
identified on the Proposals Map as being within a sub-regional allocation 
as set out in the Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and Halton (2013). 
Policy WM2 lists six sites, one which incorporates part of this site, as being 
allocated to provide waste facilities. The policy states that planning 
permission on all but 2 sites (including this one (W1)) will not normally be 
granted for any other use that would prejudice its use as a waste 
management facility, noting that within the port and dock estates (as 
applies here) the waste allocation does not override other port related 
uses. The Plan also sets out that the sub-regional sites would be needed 
by 2015 and the uptake of sites and ongoing site requirements will be 
reviewed at regular intervals. 

The application is accompanied by a Waste Deviation Assessment. This 
notes that if this development proceeded then the sub-regional waste site 
would reduce to 4.16ha, below the sub-regional 4.5ha threshold, however 
it could still operate as a waste management site, indeed in theory, the 
proposed uses could enable a waste business to operate from the site 
(eg, a recycling facility).  

The Implementation and Monitoring Report for the waste plan shows that 
between April 2017 to March 2019, 19 waste related planning applications 
came forward, all on unallocated sites, with 63% of these being 
developed. Since the Plan’s adoption, an additional waste management 
capacity of 1,926,785 tonnes per annum has been added, the majority of 
this additional capacity coming from unallocated sites. As such the waste 
report argues that given the success that has been achieved in developing 
waste sites in the region that it is not demonstrated that the need for this 
allocation is maintained.  

The new waste capacity highlighted in the Assessment however does not 
take account of that lost during the plan period. Moreover, there has been 
no detailed assessment, as yet, of the new capacity, nor does it include 
any consideration of the contribution, or not, Wirral has made to the new 
facilities. In addition, the Environment Act introduces new duties with 
regard to types of waste collected, and this is likely to have an impact on 
the requirement for future waste sites in the Plan Area.  Therefore, at this 
point in time, it is not possible to state that there is no longer a requirement 
for this waste allocation as the applicant argues.  

Page 82



However, it is worth noting that the waste designation which applies to this 
site does state that other non-waste uses (port related) would be 
appropriate to this site, and as such the JWLP gives recognition to the fact 
that waste development may not come forward and waste capacity 
factored accordingly. The site also covers less than 30% of the waste 
allocation and has not been subject to no waste application since the Plan 
was adopted. Therefore, even should this proposal be approved there 
remains 4.16ha that could be used for waste purposes, a large area more 
than suitable for district level waste sites and just shy of the strategic level 
threshold. In that regard it is considered that despite the loss of some 
allocated land, this proposal will not prejudice the possibility of an 
important waste operation at this location whilst supporting a scheme that 
would bring significant employment and economic benefit to the area. 
Importantly, the proposal has been reviewed by MEAS and considered to 
be acceptable from a Waste Local Plan perspective.    

3.7.4 As outlined above, objections have been raised by the operators of the 
Tranmere Oil Terminal focussed on several matters including the potential 
for this development to compromise existing and future operations. 
 
A key part of the planning assessment is to appraise the potential impact 
of neighbouring hazardous uses on this proposal as well judge the impact 
this development would have on the continued and future operation of a 
piece of critical infrastructure.  Policies POL1 PO2 and PO9 of the UDP 
are relevant in addition to the NPPF and National Planning Policy 
Guidance.  
 
Paragraph 174 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural environment by preventing 
development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or 
being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise 
pollution or land instability. Paragraph 45 requires that Local planning 
authorities consult the appropriate bodies when considering applications 
for the siting of, or changes to, major hazard sites, installations or 
pipelines, or for development around them. In addition, paragraph 187 
states that planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 
development can be integrated effectively with existing businesses who 
should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of 
development permitted after they were established. Where the operation 
of an existing business could have a significant adverse effect on new 
development in its vicinity, the applicant (or ‘agent of change’) should be 
required to provide suitable mitigation before the development has been 
completed. 
 
Policy POL1 of the UDP sets out that the real or perceived impact of a 
pollution incident occurring should not have unacceptable land-use 
implications beyond the boundaries of a site. Policy PO2 states that 
proposals located near existing developments will only be permitted if it 
would not be vulnerable to pollution from existing uses and would not 
result in the need for a higher standard of pollution control measures at 
existing development or lead to a failure to renew the relevant pollution 

Page 83



control authorisations. Particular regard will be had to proposed uses 
which would lead to a material increase in the numbers of people working 
or living within or visiting areas close to sources of pollution which pose a 
risk to human health.  
 
Policy PO9 provides that proposals falling within the consultation zone of 
a hazardous installation or where toxic, highly reactive, explosive or 
flammable substances are present, will only be permitted where the level 
of risk resulting from proximity to the hazardous installation is within 
acceptable limits and according to specific criteria, specifically in relation 
to: the size, nature and compatibility of the development proposed; 
whether the proposal would lead to a material increase in the numbers of 
people working within or visiting the consultation zone; the vulnerability of 
those people, in terms of ease of evacuation and other emergency 
procedures; and the nature of the hazard to which those people would be 
exposed.  Proposals will only be permitted which would not expose 
significant numbers of people to unacceptable levels of risk or require the 
modification or revocation of an existing Hazardous Substances Consent. 
 
Alongside this, policy EM6 requires that new employment development, 
on sites allocated for employment use or within Primarily Industrial Areas 
should not lead to an unacceptable loss of amenity, have an adverse 
effect on the operations of neighbouring uses or compromise the future 
development of land in the vicinity for employment or other uses. 

To address this matter of the relationship with neighbouring uses, the 
applicant has submitted the following: Planning Statement; Impact of 
COMAH report and a further report (produced by PDC) during the course 
of the application. The appropriate body, that is the Health and Safety 
Executive (HSE) were consulted during the course of this application.  
 
The applicant’s COMAH report accompanying the proposal identifies that 
the application site lies adjacent to two sites which are subject to the 
Control of Major Accident Hazard (COMAH) legislation, being Tranmere 
Oil Terminal to the south and a Calor Gas LPG cylinder storage depot to 
the western side of Campbeltown Road. The report notes the obligation 
on the LPA to consult the HSE and the HSE’s methodology for assessing 
development within the consultation of a major accident establishment. 
The methodology is based upon a number of principles which are 
summarised as follows: 

a) Risk which remains after all reasonably practicable preventative 
measures have been taken to ensure compliance with the Health and 
Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and its relevant statutory provisions. 

b) The likelihood of an accident as well as its consequences. 

c) Account is taken of the size and nature of the proposed development, 
the inherent vulnerability of the exposed population and the ease of 
evacuation or other emergency procedures for the type of 
development proposed. Some categories of development (e.g. 

Page 84



schools and hospitals) are regarded as more sensitive than others 
(e.g. light industrial) and advice is weighted accordingly. 

d) Consideration of the risk of serious injury, including that of fatality, 
attaching weight to the risk where a proposed development might 
result in a large number of casualties in the event of an accident. 

In considering applications, HSE's advice is usually determined by a 
combination of the consultation zone in which the development is located, 
and the 'Sensitivity Level' of the proposed development which is derived 
from HSE's categorisation system of development types. 

The consultation zones are normally determined by an assessment of the 
risks and/or hazards of the installation taking into account a range of 
factors including the quantity of hazardous substances; details of storage 
and/or processing; the range and consequence of major accidents 
involving the substances that could be present. The HSE details three 
consultation zones (inner, middle and outer), defined by the individual risk 
of fatality from each establishment (inner is closer and of greater risk). A 
fourth, Development Proximity Zone was introduced following the 
Buncefield incident in 2005 in relation to large-scale petrol sites (covers 
an area of 150 metres from the boundary of the relevant storage tank 
bunds). HSE have confirmed that despite the claims asserted by Essar a 
DPZ for the Tranmere Oil Terminal does not currently exist.  

There are 4 sensitivity levels associated with development which are: 

Level 1 - Based on normal working population;  
Level 2 - Based on the general public - at home and involved in normal 
activities 
Level 3 - Based on vulnerable members of the public (children, those with 
mobility difficulties or those unable to recognise physical danger) and 
Level 4 - Large examples of Level 3 and very large outdoor 
developments. 
 
The above categories lead to a HSE decision matrix based on the 
consultation zones and sensitivity levels which is shown in the table 
below: 
Sensitivity 
Level 

Development in 
Inner Zone 

Development in 
Middle Zone 

Development in 
Outer Zone 

1 DAA DAA DAA 

2 AA DAA DAA 

3 AA AA DAA 

4 AA AA AA 

DAA = Do not Advise Against development 
AA = Advise Against development 
Table 1: HSE Decision matrix 

The COMAH report notes that based on consultation zones, the site 
straddles all zones in connection with the Tranmere Oil Terminal site and 

Page 85



the middle and outer zones as per the Calor site. The area within the Oil 
Terminal inner zone is proposed to be used for car parking associated 
with the development. In terms of the proposal the report notes that the 
HSE planning advice resulted in a ‘Do not Advise Against’ development.  

The Council as required, undertook a consultation exercise with HSE. On 
10 June 2022, the HSE responded with a Do Not Advise Against, 
recommendation, stating that, HSE “does not advise, on safety grounds, 
against the granting of planning permission in this case”. This was backed 
up by an email on 13th April 2023 which confirmed that there is no DPZ 
around the Tranmere Oil Terminal site, contrary to the assertions made 
by Essar. 

In that regard and on the advice of the required statutory consultee it is 
considered that as matters stand, the proposed development would 
preserve the safety of the future users of the site and not prejudice the 
established operations of neighbouring operators and is therefore in 
accordance with policies EM6, POL1, PO2 and PO9 of the UDP and the 
NPPF. 

3.7.5 The operators of the adjacent Tranmere Oil Terminal have suggested that 
the granting of this planning application could make it more difficult (and 
expensive) for the operator to reduce risk on this site to a level of risk as 
low as is reasonably practicable (ALARP). However, specific convincing 
evidence for this suggestion is not provided and the HSE’s advice is based 
with their knowledge of existing consents associated with the oil terminal. 

 
Comments have been received regarding the implications that this 
proposal could have on the future operations of the Terminal as it looks to 
adapt to changing demand and pressures and a request has been made 
to the Council to consider the appropriateness of the proposal in light of 
the concurrent application (reference HSC/22/00720) to modify the Health 
and Safety Certificate for the introduction of gasoline, Jet A-1 (kerosene), 
bio-ethanol (ethanol denatured with gasoline) and sustainable aviation 
fuel (SAF) onto the site. This application remains live awaiting HSE 
advice.  The objector highlights the close geographical proximity of the 2 
proposals and the potential for both to impact on each other in terms of 
the chemicals capable of being stored at the Tranmere Oil Terminal, and 
as a consequence the COMAH consultation zones associated with that 
site. It is argued that it would be irresponsible and be a failure to have 
regard to material considerations, to set aside the HSC application when 
determining this Application, the HSC application being integral to any 
evaluation of another scheme given it may affect the operations of a piece 
of infrastructure of national importance. 

 
The current HSC application is in support of the establishment of a Low 
Carbon Biofuels Hub at Tranmere Oil Terminal. The PDC report notes that 
the maximum quantity of products stored will not be increased and there 
is no expansion of the facility proposed and that the majority of the 
terminal will continue to store crude oil destined for Stanlow. The report 
goes on to state that if the HSC is granted the operations would be no 

Page 86



closer to the proposed development site than the existing facility, with only 
the car parking area of the development falling under what is the HSE 
consultation Inner Zone. Hence, on the basis of existing HSE processes, 
the application would remain to fall within the Do not Advise Against 
advice even if the HSC were granted.  The conclusion reached by the 
applicant’s consultant in this regard appears sound and is backed up by 
the independent consultee responses the local planning authority have 
received.  

 

It is noted that at the same time that Essar are objecting to this proposal 
there exist a number of existing commercial operations within the 200 
metre plus distance between the nearest storage tank and the proposed 
building, indeed one of the buildings within 140 metres of an oil tank is 
currently operating as a KFC restaurant. The potential impacts on all 
properties and their occupiers within the Consultation Zones would 
likewise be considered during any HSC application process. The Oil 
Terminal is located within an already populated area and as such the 
operators have responsibility for the safety of those users of sites within 
the vicinity. The introduction of another facility set at further distance than 
many existing, may pose additional cumulative pressures on the occupier 
to safeguard the safety of neighbours and could potentially lead to 
increased costs in the future. However, the applicant has not 
demonstrated what those additional costs caused by this proposal are and 
whether they would, for instance, be in excess of those required to protect 
existing businesses from the existing HSC approvals or further expansion. 

 

Paragraph 68 of the National Planning Policy Guidance on Hazardous 
Substances sets out that Local Planning Authorities are required to 
consult the Health and Safety Executive and other expert bodies on 
certain development proposals where the presence of hazardous 
installation is relevant as in this case.  

The guidance goes on to say that “for each type of development where 
the Health and Safety Executive (an ‘expert body’) is consulted, the 
Executive’s advice to local planning authorities will take account of the 
maximum quantity of a substance permitted by a hazardous substances 
consent and any conditions attached to it. The Health and Safety 
Executive’s advice will be based on the following general principles: 

 The risk considered is the residual risk (that is the risk that 
unavoidably remains even after all legally required measures have 
been taken to prevent and mitigate the effects of a major accident) 
to people in the vicinity. 

 Where it is beneficial to do so the advice takes account of risk as 
well as hazard that is the likelihood of an accident as well as its 
consequences. 

 The advice takes account of the size and nature of the proposed 
development and the inherent vulnerability of the population at 
risk. 

 The advice takes account of the risk of serious injury, including 
that of fatality, attaching particular weight to the risk where a 

Page 87



proposed development might result in a large number of casualties 
in the event of a major accident.” 

 
In addition, paragraph 15 from the HSE’s land use planning methodology 
states, “Following the Buncefield incident in 2005, HSE reviewed the 
CD’s (Consultation distances) of all sites which met the criteria for large-
scale petrol storage sites, and an additional zone - a Development 
Proximity Zone (DPZ) was introduced 150 metres from the boundary of 
the relevant storage tank bunds. 

The HSE is the expert body in this matter and the relevant statutory 
consultee. HSE has stated that Tranmere Oil Terminal is not subject to a 
Development Proximity Zone and have not advised against this proposal. 
Despite the claims made by Essar, the representations made by the HSE 
are considered sound and accordingly this proposal is considered to 
accord with planning policy in respect of its impact on existing 
neighbouring uses and businesses. 

3.7.6 Essar suggest that planning permission should be refused at this stage so 
that additional costs are not placed on the Tranmere Oil Terminal now or 
into the future. This argument would in the council’s view prejudice future 
development opportunities without sufficient basis. The Council is obliged 
to consider the application with regard to the current circumstances, and 
as stated the submission has been considered acceptable by HSE and 
there is no valid planning reason to ignore that advice. As such the 
proposal is considered to accord with planning policy and the NPPF 
including paragraph 187. 

3.7.7 In the emerging Local Plan, the majority of the application site is subject 
to an employment designation as part of the Plan’s allocation of 65.60 
hectares of additional employment land to accommodate jobs growth over 
the plan period. This includes land such as this which sits in a wider Ports 
and Maritime Zone designation, an umbrella term for the port of Liverpool 
including Birkenhead Docks and Tranmere Oil Terminal. Policy WP 2.3 
allocates the 5.52 hectares of Campbeltown Road at this site for 
employment uses including industrial processes and storage and 
distribution. The policy states that priority would be for uses which support 
the maritime sector however the B2 and B8 uses proposed are judged to 
be in keeping with the emerging policy. Essar Oil have made 
representations and prepared hearing statements in respect of emerging 
plan policy, including that in relation to the Ports and Maritime Zone and 
policy WD16.2, ‘Development near Notifiable Hazards’. At present these 
policies are considered to carry weight. 

3.7.8 As outlined, representations have been received from nearby occupiers 
and interested parties querying the principle of development of the site, 
and particularly employment development in this location close to an 
existing oil terminal. As can be seen from the above, it is however 
considered that the principle of development of the site for employment 
development in the manner proposed is acceptable in this instance. 

  

3.8 Design   

Page 88



3.8.1 This section seeks to assess the design of the proposal, for which the key 
considerations are the impact the proposal would have on Local Character 
and Townscape. These are all intrinsically linked and, are considered 
together in this section. Other sections of this report also inform the design 
of the proposal and are interlinked. The applicant has provided plans which 
indicates the design scale and height of the proposed development.    

3.8.2 Policy GR5 is relevant to this proposal. Development proposals should be 
of a scale that relates well to surrounding property with regard to existing 
densities and form of development. Proposals should not result in 
detrimental change in the character of the area. 

3.8.3 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure 
that “developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the 
area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the development, 
are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 
appropriate and effective landscaping and establish or maintain a strong 
sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types 
and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, 
work and visit”. Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states that “development that 
is not well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to reflect 
local design policies and government guidance on design.” 

3.8.4 The NPPF should be read alongside the National Design Guide 
(2021). Paragraph 21 of the Design Guide advises that “a well-designed 
place is unlikely to be achieved by focusing only on the appearance, 
materials and detailing of buildings. It comes about through making the 
right choices at all levels, including: the layout (or masterplan); the form 
and scale of buildings; their appearance; landscape; materials; and their 
detailing” 

3.8.5 The application site is located within a commercial and industrial setting 
immediately adjacent to the River Mersey. The appearance of the building 
reflects its commercial function. The longer elevation faces the existing and 
substantially larger Cammell Laird shed to the north and the oil terminal to 
the south with the side elevation facing the road and the river. The principal 
view of the building would be gained from the area adjacent to the site with 
wider views afforded principally from the river. This proposal would off-set 
the stark appearance of the adjoining building by providing a step up to this 
prominent construction and in doing so improve views the townscape.  The 
scale and height of the proposal is acceptable in the context of what is 
being proposed and the surrounding commercial location. The materials 
proposed are compatible with the use and the location, and details of them 
will be secured by condition to secure requisite quality. The introduction of 
landscaping to the Campbeltown Road is welcomed, softening the frontage 
of this street. The proposed site does not provide for the permeability to the 
Wirral Circular Trail however, a result of the nature of the use and the 
security requirements and the layout of the building together with potential 
conflicts between HGV traffic and pedestrians and cyclists. It is noted as 
highlighted below that the that overall, in accordance with the NPPF, the 
site is well connected by various means of transport.  

Page 89



The proposed single storey gatehouse construction is proposed to be sited 
adjacent to the HGV entrance at the north edge of the site off Campbeltown 
Road. The building will be utilised to control access and egress from the 
site and will be clad in material to match the main building. The construction 
is in keeping with this commercial setting. 

3.8.6 It is considered that the design and access statement, alongside the 
submitted plans is sufficient to enable a full assessment of the proposed 
construction and it is concluded that the local landscape/townscape and 
views have the capacity to accommodate the proposed changes without 
significant harm to either. 

3.8.7 On this basis the design of the proposal, is appropriate in form, scale and 
appearance, it is considered to be in accordance with relevant policies from 
the development plan, including Policy GR5 of the UDP the relevant 
sections of the NPPF and the relevant policies from the emerging Local 
Plan, and other material considerations (e.g. National Design Guide). 

 

3.9 Heritage 
Matters 

  

3.9.1 This section seeks to appraise the proposal against the impact this may 
have on nearby heritage and archaeological heritage assets, both 
designated and non-designated assets. The NPPF and the Wirral UDP 
seek to protect heritage assets and are relevant to this application. Policies 
CHO1, CH25 of the Wirral UDP are relevant to this section, as is section 
16 of the NPPF. MEAS have provided comments to help compile this 
section of the report and provide advice on archaeological matters to the 
Council.  

3.9.2 The desk-based assessment (Historic Environment Desk-based 
Assessment by Pegasus February 2022) submitted with the application 
has fully reviewed the site and its archaeological potential. It considers that 
the proposed development site was reclaimed from mud flats during the 
mid-20th-century and was subsequently subject to industrial development. 
Hence, the potential for significant archaeological remains of any period to 
be present within the site is considered to be low. The history of the site 
revealing previous development and subsequent demolishment also 
shows that the land has already been disturbed by construction reducing 
archaeological potential even further. There are no heritage assets 
recorded on the Merseyside Historic Environment Record within the 
proposed development. 

3.9.3 On this basis the above, it is in accordance with relevant policies from the 
development plan, including Policies CHO1, CH25 of the Wirral UDP, the 
relevant sections of the NPPF and the relevant policies from the emerging 
Local Plan, and other material considerations.    

 
 

Page 90



3.10 
Neighbouring 
Amenity 

  

3.10.1 NPPF Paragraph 130 requires that planning should always seek to secure 
high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and 
future occupants of land and buildings. Paragraph 180 requires that 
planning decisions should aim to avoid impacts on health and quality of 
life. Chapter 12 of the NPPF stresses the importance of planning positively 
for the achievement of high quality and inclusive design for all 
development. Policies EM6 and EM7 list general and environmental 
criteria that new development should meet in order to meet high standards 
and not prejudice the amenity of neighbouring occupiers.  

3.10.2 Based on the plans submitted the layout and scale of the development is 
deemed to be acceptable and demonstrates satisfactory separation 
distances to neighbouring buildings. There are no residential properties in 
the immediate vicinity with neighbouring occupiers being commercial in 
nature.  

3.10.3 In terms of noise/acoustic impacts, the application is supported by an 
Acoustic Report prepared by Tungsten Properties. The report confirms 
that with appropriate mitigation in place, the proposed development 
accords with Policies PO3 and PO4. Specifically, the proposal has 
considered sources of noise (level, tone, duration, and regularity), 
background noise, and any mitigation required. 

3.10.4 The application is also supported by an Air Quality Assessment produced 
by Hoare Lee. This concludes that the site is suitable for the proposed 
development in air quality terms. The energy strategy for the warehouse 
has not been determined however no combustion sources are anticipated, 
should that change further impact from energy plant would need to be 
assessed. A condition in this regard is considered appropriate.   
 
There will be mechanical ventilation to office spaces consisting of 
mechanical heat recovery ventilation systems but not to the warehouse. 
The impacts of demolition and construction work on dust soiling, ambient 
fine particulate matter concentrations and nearby ecological receptors 
have been assessed within the Air Quality Assessment. The construction 
dust assessment identified that there is a medium to high risk of dust 
soiling impacts, a low risk of increases in particulate matter concentrations 
and a low risk of ecological impacts due to construction activities Mitigation 
measures are proposed to suppress any impacts including the submission 
of a Dust Management Plan. The operational road traffic emissions 
associated with the Proposed Development have been modelled for their 
impact on NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 concentrations. The impacts on 
pollutant concentrations at existing sensitive receptor locations in the 
vicinity are considered to be negligible and the overall effect of road traffic 
associated with the scheme is not considered to be significant. 
 

Page 91



Accordingly, and subject to condition, the application site is considered to 
be suitable for the uses proposed in air quality terms in accordance with 
policies TRT3, PO1 and PO2 and the NPPF in this regard. 

3.10.5 To confirm, the Environmental Health Team have commented on the 
proposal and have confirmed they have no objection, subject to condition 
and this development will not lead to significant amenity impacts for 
neighbouring occupiers. 
 
The Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service were consulted during the 
course of the application and raised no objections to the proposal. Given 
that they are a relevant authority charged with dealing with emergencies it 
is considered that an objection on this basis as raised by Essar is not 
supported. 

3.10.6 It is therefore considered that the proposal, subject to conditions, is 
compliant with the relevant policies in the Development Plan including 
Policies EM6, EM7 CHO1, CH25 of the Wirral UDP, relevant sections of 
the NPPF and those in the emerging Local Plan. 

 

3.11 Highways   

3.11.1 This section seeks to appraise the impacts that the proposal may have on 
the surrounding Highways and Transport Network. Typically, the key 
issues around Highways and Transport matters in relation to employment 
developments, such as this, are Highway Safety, Access, Car Parking and 
Sustainable Transport Options. Policies TRT1, TRT3, TR9 and TR12 of the 
UDP are relevant in relation to this section. SPD4 is also relevant to this 
application, which sets out the Parking Standards. In addition to drawings, 
plans and elevations the applicant has submitted the following which have 
relevance to this section:  

 Planning Statement 

 Design and Access Statement; and  

 Transport Assessment.  

Consultation has been undertaken with the Wirral Highways Team and 
their comments are considered as part of the commentary below.     

3.11.1 The requirements for off-street vehicle and cycle parking are set out as 
maximums under Policies TR9 and TR12 of the UDP and the 
accompanying Supplementary Planning Document on Parking Standards. 

3.11.2 Paragraph 110 of the NPPF states “In assessing sites that may be 
allocated for development in plans, or specific applications for 
development, it should be ensured that: a) appropriate opportunities to 
promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have been – taken up, 
given the type of development and its location; b) safe and suitable access 
to the site can be achieved for all users; and c) any significant impacts from 
the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and 
congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an 
acceptable degree.”    

Page 92



3.11.3 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that “development should only be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative 
impacts of development are severe.”   

3.11.4 Paragraph 112 of the NPPF adds to this and states “Within this context, 
applications for development should: a) give priority first to pedestrian and 
cycle movements, both within the scheme and with neighbouring areas; 
and second - so far as possible – to facilitating access to high quality public 
transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus or other 
public transport services services, and appropriate facilities that encourage 
public transport use; b) address the needs of people with disabilities and 
reduced mobility in relation to all modes of transport; c) create places that 
are safe, secure and attractive - which minimise the scope for conflicts 
between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street 
clutter, and respond to local character and design standards; d) allow for 
the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency 
vehicles; and, e) be designed to enable charging of plug in and other ultra 
low emission vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient locations.” 

3.11.5 The application site currently benefits from one vehicular entrance off 
Campbeltown Road towards the southern edge of the site. This would be 
brought into use as a car, pedestrian and cycle entrance with a new 
entrance created near the northern part of the site specifically for HGV’s.   

The site is located in close proximity to the A41 and is anticipated to 
generate some 151 movements (staff and visitors) and 49 HGV trips in a 
morning peak hour and 114 vehicle movements and 19 HGV trips in the 
evening peak hour. The impact of the additional trips has been assessed 
at four off-site junctions: 

 Campbeltown Road/Turbine Road T-junction;  

 A41 New Chester Road/Turbine Road T-junction;  

 A41 New Chester Road/Wirral Circular Trail;  

 A41 New Chester Road/Rock Ferry Bypass 

The Assessment concludes that the impacts of the new development 
would not have in itself a significant impact on the highway network.  

The contents of the TA were the subject of objection on behalf of the 
neighbouring occupier citing deficiencies in the methodology and the 
underplaying of traffic movements and impacts on neighbouring junctions. 

There were concerns raised regarding; 

- The lack of a cumulative assessment within the TA. 

- A down-playing of the impact of a B8 use at the proposed 
development. 

- Inaccurate junction modelling at both A41 New Chester Road 
roundabouts either side of Campbeltown Road, and 

- Sub-standard access arrangements potentially presenting a risk to 
highway safety. 

Following the objection, a Technical Note was produced by ADC to 
addresses the concerns raised by Eversheds Sutherland and the RSK 
Group. The Note concludes that the traffic growth associated with 

Page 93



development in the area is considered within the TEMPRO (Trip End Model 
Presentation Program) growth rates used in the Transport Assessment. 
This is regarded as standard practice by the Council’s Traffic and 
Transportation team and prevents any potential for double counting of trips. 

  

In addition, whilst a B8 occupier would result in a small increase of cars in 
the evening peak hour when compared to the trip generation of a B2 
occupier, the impact of the additional traffic movements would not change 
the conclusions within the TA. The study area junctions as set out above 
have the capacity to accommodate the proposed development and 
associated development trips. It is accepted that the junctions would be 
impacted during peak periods however the Traffic and Transport team 
concur that it is highly likely that the majority of HGV traffic would travel 
through the network outside of the commuter peaks, when the network is 
most trafficked, and would travel in the interpeak periods when there is 
further capacity. In that regard, the assessment shows that the junctions 
are able to accommodate the planned increase in traffic due to the 
development requirements and that there would not be otherwise 
significant pressure on the highway network so as to prejudice highway 
safety including in respect of Campbeltown Road 

 

Traffic and Transportation also consider that any emergency vehicle 
needing to attend the location and negotiate the nearby junctions would be 
running under blue lights and as such would be given appropriate priority 
by other drivers. 

 

In terms of the suitability of the site entrance, the swept path analysis 
produced shows the overrun area at the entrance to the site being used, 
as a vehicle turns into the site from Campbeltown Road. The largest vehicle 
at the development site would be a 16.5m articulated HGV. It is considered 
that appropriate vehicle tracking has been submitted which shows that an 
HGV is able to enter and leave the development in a forward gear. On the 
occasions that two HGV are present at the site entrance they can also be 
accommodated without blocking back onto Campbeltown Road. 
Moreover, a satisfactory visibility splay of 2m x 43m has been submitted 
which is also appropriate and in line with the associated visibility 
recommendations for Campbeltown Road which has a 30mph speed limit. 

 

The proposed HGV access is located 48m from the existing HGV access 
to the north. The visibility splays from the proposed access junction would 
not be blocked by a HGV waiting to turn out of the site to the north and 
HGVs turning in and out of both access junctions would not conflict with 
each other. The Swept path assessments not only show that two HGVs 
can access the proposed development but also that the access 
arrangement could accommodate up to three HGVs waiting off the local 
highway without blocking the Campbeltown Road carriageway. 

3.11.6 With regards to parking, the Council’s Parking standards set out a 
maximum of one parking space per each 45 sqm of new gross floorspace. 

Page 94



In this development a total of 421 car parking spaces are provided, 
equating to 42% of the maximum standard. The applicant has produced a 
parking accumulation assessment setting out likely parking numbers 
throughout the day, this sets out a car parking demand of up to 226 cars 
and 20 HGVs at any one time. Hence, the level of parking associated with 
the scheme is considered acceptable. It is noted that the site is within 500 
metres of Green Lane rail station and in close proximity to a number of bus 
stops. In addition, the area is accessible to pedestrians and cyclists.  
 
In terms of the HGV parking, the Council’s Parking Standards state that the 
number of service vehicle parking spaces is to be assessed case by case, 
based on the maximum size and number of vehicles expected to serve the 
site. The proposal shows a total of 72 HGV loading bays plus an additional 
131 HGV parking spaces for HGVs waiting to load/unload. This is 
considered adequate for this development, will not lead to pressures to 
park on the highway and will not compromise highway safety. 
 
One in every 17 parking spaces will be accessible (1 in 25 required) and 
18 motorcycle parking spaces and 60 cycle spaces are proposed. This is 
considered to be in keeping with policy requirements. Shower facilities are 
also provided which is welcomed. 
 
The applicant has also produced a Framework Travel Plan to accompany 
the proposal. This sets outs a number of measures to encourage 
employees and other users of the site to use more sustainable methods of 
transport than the car to access the development. The applicant intends to 
appoint a Travel Plan Co-ordinator prior to the operation of the 
development to implement and review a Travel Plan which will be 
monitored for a total of 5 years following occupation. This approach is 
supported, and the recommendations set out in the Framework Travel Plan 
are conditioned.  
 
Satisfactory parking and transportation solutions have been provided 
within the scheme, subject to conditions appended to this report.  

3.11.7 The development is supported with a transport assessment, the results of 
which are accepted by Traffic and Transportation. They confirm they have 
no objection, subject to conditions. Further to this, as a scheme within an 
urban setting having onward pedestrian and cycle links in close proximity 
to public transport services, the scheme can also be considered to comply 
with paragraphs 110 and 112 of the NPPF. Subject to the imposition of the 
highway conditions on any grant of permission, it is considered that there 
would be no grounds to refuse the application in relation to highway safety 
and the proposal would accord with relevant UDP policies including TRT1, 
TRT3, TR9 and TR12.   

3.11.8 Representations from an interested party have been received objecting to 
the proposal. As set out above, these concerns are noted, however, it is 
considered that the proposal’s impact on highway and transport matters 
(including highway safety) is not significant enough as to warrant the 
refusal of the application and the scheme can be supported. 

 

Page 95



3.12 Drainage 
and Flood Risk 
Matters 

  

3.12.1 This section seeks to appraise the proposal in the context of flood risk and 
drainage matters. Chapter 14 of the NPPF forming the national planning 
policy context, Policies WA2, WA5, WAT2. The applicant has submitted 
the following: Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy; and a Design and Access 
Statement.   

3.12.2 The National Design Guide (September 2019) is also relevant to this 
element of the report, particularly the section relating to ‘resources’. In 
relation to ‘resources’ the National Design Guide states “Well designed 
places: have a layout, form and mix of uses that reduces their resource 
requirement, including for land, energy and water; are fit for purpose and 
adaptable overtime, reducing the need for redevelopment and 
unnecessary waste; use materials adopt technologies to minimise their 
environmental impact”.    

3.12.3 Consultation has taken place in relation to surface water drainage with 
the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) and, as well as consultation with 
the Environment Agency (EA) and United Utilities (UU) who have differing 
remits with regards to Flood Risk, Drainage and Water related matters.    

3.12.4 A flood risk assessment (FRA) was submitted alongside the application. 
This demonstrates that that the site has not flooded within the recent past. 
Most of the site is located with Flood Zone 1 of the Environment Agency’s 
flood map with a ‘low probability’ of tidal flooding and less than a 1 in 1000 
annual probability of sea flooding in any year (<0.1%). A small proportion 
of the site, on the eastern boundary, is located within Flood Zone 2 and 
has a ‘medium probability’ of tidal flooding, with between a 1 in 200 and 1 
in 1000 annual probability of sea flooding (0.5% 0.1%) in any year. The 
proposed warehouse building is entirely within Flood Zone 1.  

Guidance included within the NPPF recommends that the effects of climate 
change are incorporated into FRA to account for the projections of future 
climate change indicating more frequent high intensity short term rainfall 
episodes plus more regular periods of long duration rainfall. The proposed 
lifetime of the development in flood risk terms is 60 years for ‘less 
vulnerable’ uses such as this, and the design fluvial flood level for the site 
is provided at a 1 in 100 year (+44%) event. The design tidal flood level for 
the site is the 1 in 200 year in 2181 event to account for projected sea level 
rises. 

The principal flood risk to the site is from tidal flooding from the River 
Mersey which runs adjacent to the site, however, given the minimum 
ground level of 8.7m AOD, the site is not projected to be inundated with 
floodwater including the 1 in 1000 year event (water levels have been 
modelled at 7.18mAOD). There are no records of groundwater flooding at 
or near to the site and the susceptibility of the site to it based on geological 
conditions, is low.  

Most of the site has a very low risk of surface water flooding with a chance 
of flooding of less than 1 in 1000 years (0.1%) but a small proportion does 

Page 96



have a high risk of surface water flooding with a chance of flooding of 1 in 
30 years (3.3%) associated with low spots around the site. There will be no 
increase in the volume or runoff rate of surface water runoff from the site 
and be no increase in flooding to people or property off-site as a result of 
the development. Despite the limited areas associated with the potential 
for high risk, overall, the likelihood of surface water flooding is low and can 
be managed by flood mitigation measures. 
 
The FRA identifies that there are existing public sewers within roads 
adjacent to the site which have a limited capacity so in extreme conditions 
there may be flooding, but the provision of adequate level difference 
between the ground floors and adjacent ground level would reduce the 
annual probability of damage to property from this source to 1 in 100 years 
or less and therefore, sewer flooding poses a low flood risk to the site. 
 
The risk-based Sequential Test in accordance with the NPPF aims to steer 
new development to areas at the lowest probability of flooding (i.e. Flood 
Zone 1) This site has a designation for employment development in the 
UDP.  The FRA provides for a number of recommended mitigation 
measures to ensure the site is well protected from the most severe flood 
risk and a condition in this regard is recommended as well as a condition 
recommended by United Utilities that requires full details of the surface and 
foul water strategies are to be provided to and approved prior to the 
development commencing. This is attached. 
 
An objection was received from the Local Lead Flood Authority because of 
the lack of information provided by the applicant in respect of surface water 
management and sustainable drainage. Following the production of detail 
including a SUDS proforma and a drainage layout, the proposal has been 
re-assessed by the LLFA and the objection withdrawn subject to 
conditions. The application site is a previously developed brownfield site 
subject to a long-standing allocation for employment use, and subject to 
conditions, it is considered that a pre-commencement condition requiring 
the submission and approval of a SUDS strategy would alongside the one 
proposed by United Utilities provide the requisite level of control to enable 
compliance with NPPF and Wirral planning policies objectives in this 
regard. 

3.12.5 Following consideration of the responses of consultees, it is considered 
that the application has demonstrated that appropriate flood risk, drainage 
and water related matters can be successfully achieved on site and subject 
to satisfying condition requirements the proposed development would not 
increase the risk of flooding to the area. The proposals are therefore 
compliant with the NPPF.   

3.12.6 The proposal is therefore considered to be compliant with the relevant 
policies in the Development Plan, including Policies WA2, WA5, WAT2 of 
the UDP, the NPPF, and with those in the emerging Local Plan,  in relation 
to surface water drainage matters.    

  

3.13 Ecology   

Page 97



3.13.1 This section seeks to appraise the proposal and protect and enhance the 
biodiversity and geodiversity of the district, particularly in relation to its 
impact on habitats and protected species and, especially those areas 
designated as of international, national and local importance. Policies 
NCO1, NC1, NC7 of the Wirral UDP are relevant to this section, as is 
Section 15 of the NPPF. Relevant ecological information has been 
submitted in support of the planning application including an Ecological 
Assessment Report.  

3.13.2 NPPF, Chapter 15, Paragraph 174 requires the planning system to 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising 
impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where 
possible. Paragraph 180 requires Local Planning Authorities to encourage 
opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments. 

3.13.5 In addition to the work undertaken in relation to the Habitats Regulations 
Assessment, the application was accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal (PEA) report in line with UDP policy NC7. Following requests 
made by MEAS, the applicant also submitted an Ecological Impact 
Assessment in October 2022 which incorporated further survey work in 
respect of non-breeding birds; breeding birds (including peregrine falcon 
and black redstart); reptiles; and invertebrates. 
 
Following the result of the survey work it is considered that the presence of 
roosting bats is not reasonably likely and after breeding bird surveys, 
undertaken on a number of dates, no confirmed breeding was recorded 
within the application site and the assemblage of birds recorded during the 
survey work was not notable. A condition on restricting works within bird 
breeding season is recommended alongside one providing for bird boxes 
on this development site to encourage biodiversity. 
  
As noted above, in regard to non-breeding birds a peak count of 62 bar-
tailed godwit was reported in winter 2022/23 within the intertidal area, east 
of the proposed development site, equating to 1.85% of the Mersey 
Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore SPA and Ramsar site population 
which is considered significant (numbers above 1% of the internationally 
designated site population are considered to be significant). In addition, a 
significant number of shelduck (peak count of 107) were also recorded 
within the intertidal area to the east and this representing 1.65% of the 
Mersey Estuary SPA population. Other qualifying species were recorded 
during the survey such as curlew, dunlin and oystercatcher, including within 
the application site itself. However, these were not present in significant 
numbers. To accord with the HRA and to safeguard these bird species a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan is recommended to be 
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority setting out 
amongst other matters pollution prevention and noise and lighting 
prevention and mitigation measures. This is attached as a planning 
condition. 
 
No evidence of badger or hedgehog was recorded upon the site. However, 
as a precaution a pre-commencement check for terrestrial mammals 

Page 98



should be undertaken as recommended prior too development. A condition 
in this regard is recommended. 
  
The conditions on site were considered to be suitable for reptiles, although 
no records were returned during the desktop study and the site is relatively 
isolated from other areas of potentially suitably reptile habitat. In any case, 
a reptile survey was undertaken, comprising 7 survey visits in April and 
May 2022, and no evidence of reptiles was found. Invertebrate surveys 
were undertaken across three survey visits (23 June, 14 July and 25 
August 2022). A total of 18 no. invertebrate species were recorded across 
the site. None were species of conservation concern. 
  
A species of cotoneaster is present at several locations within the site 
boundary (labelled as TN1 and TN2 in the PEA report). Several species of 
cotoneaster are listed on Schedule 9 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
and national Planning Policy Guidance applies. MEAS has requested a 
suitably worded condition to ensure these species are control and removed 
responsibly. This is attached.   

3.13.6 A Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) Assessment has been undertaken for the 
site, with the aim of achieving almost 15% enhancement of BNG. This was 
after the enhancement of scrub to the east from bramble to mixed scrub 
and retaining the scrub in the west and adding in street trees.  

3.13.7 An EIA Screening Report has been prepared to summarise all potential 
impacts and provide information to allow the LPA to consider whether EIA 
is required. The report concludes that a formal EIA is not considered to be 
required, based on the scale of impacts predicted. 

3.13.8 Revised landscaping proposals for the site were submitted. MEAS raised 
concern with the proposed tree and shrub planting along the eastern site 
boundary which was not considered suitable to this site and should be 
removed. The adjacent rocky shoreline has been identified as providing 
potential breeding habitat for waterbirds and several different species were 
considered to be possibly breeding in this area. Trees and shrubs may 
harbour predators (such as corvids or foxes) which may predate the nests 
of waterbirds and deter them from breeding (or roosting or foraging) 
adjacent to the site. A condition is recommended that notwithstanding the 
submitted plans the landscaping in this location is replaced with a suitable 
alternative habitat, such as coastal grassland; and both varieties of 
Cotoneaster horizontalis should be removed from the proposed ornamental 
shrub mix. 

The rest of the landscaping proposal are considered to acceptable and will 
provide biodiversity and visual amenity benefit.      

3.13.9 It is considered that a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) document is required to manage and mitigate the main 
environmental effects during the construction phases of the proposed 
development. This is to be secured The CEMP should address and 
propose measures to minimise the main construction effects of the 
development and, amongst other things, should include details of 

Page 99



ecological mitigation. The CEMP would be expected to include the agreed 
method statements to mitigate or avoid adverse environmental impacts:  

3.13.10 In light of the above, the proposal is, therefore, subject to conditions, 
considered to be compliant with the relevant policies in the Development 
Plan including Policies NCO1, NC1, NC7 of the Wirral UDP, the NPPF, and 
with those in the emerging Local Plan.  

 
 

3.14 
Contaminated 
Land Matters 

  

3.14.1 As a site that has a historic use for industrial development, the potential 
for contaminated land should be taken into account. The application has 
been submitted with a Ground Investigation Report by Tier Consult dated 
November 2021. The Council’s Public Protection/Environmental Health 
Team have been consulted, as have the Environment Agency and MEAS 
in relation to these matters. Policies POL1, PO1, PO2 PO5 of the UDP and 
Section 15 of the NPPF.  

3.14.2 Paragraph 174 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural environment by preventing new and 
existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk 
from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water 
or noise pollution or land instability. Development should, wherever 
possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air and 
water quality, taking into account relevant information such as river basin 
management plans; and by remediating and mitigating despoiled, 
degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land, where appropriate. In 
order to prevent unacceptable risks from pollution and land instability, 
planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development is 
appropriate for its location. The effects (including cumulative effects) of 
pollution on health, the natural environment or general amenity, and the 
potential sensitivity of the area or proposed development to adverse 
effects from pollution, should be taken into account. Where a site is 
affected by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for 
securing a safe development rests with the landowner. 

3.14.3 The site historically formed part of the River Mersey until it was gradually 
reclaimed between early 1920s and 1950s when it was incorporated into 
a ship builder’s yard and associated railway. A landfill complex is sited 
within the eastern and southern site area from 1962 to 1978, becoming a 
‘works’ by 1981 and vacated by 2010.  The report identifies potential 
contaminative features consisting of made ground associated with historic 
landfill and land reclamation; the historic industrial land use as a 
shipbuilders etc; and associated with adjacent industries such as 
Tranmere Oil Terminal. 

The Ground Investigation report concludes that following sampling and 
testing, robust lines of evidence exist to demonstrate that the site may be 
reasonably be regarded as a Characteristic Situation 2 – Low Risk 

Page 100



scenario for which basic ground gas protection measures are required. 
Amongst the other findings there are also concentrations of lead and 
mercury which present a potential risk to end-users and asbestos has 
been found on-site.  

A series of recommendations are made in respect of safeguarding areas 
of soft landscaping, dealing with asbestos, basic ground gas protection 
measures unexploded ordinance, and a barrier pipe may be required for 
potable water supplies to the site. Any approval should be undertaken in 
accordance with the findings and recommendations of the report.  

The Environment Agency have recommended a condition in respect of any 
unidentified contamination found on site in order to accord with paragraph 
174 of the National Planning Policy Framework. To confirm, MEAS and 
Environmental Health/Public Protection have been consulted in relation to 
this application, and they have no objection to the proposal on these 
grounds. 

3.14.4 The proposal is therefore, subject to conditions, considered to be 
compliant with the relevant policies in the Development Plan including 
Policies POL1, PO1, PO2 PO5 of the UDP, the NPPF, and with those in 
the Emerging Local Plan. 

 
 

3.15 Waste 
Matters  

  

3.15.1 The proposal is major development and involves excavation and 
construction activities which are likely to generate significant volumes of 
waste. Policy WM8 of the Merseyside and Halton Waste Joint Local Plan 
(WLP), the National Planning Policy for Waste (paragraph 8) and Planning 
Practice Guidance (paragraph 49) apply. These policies require the 
minimisation of waste production and implementation of measures to 
achieve efficient use of resources, including designing out waste and 
minimisation of off-site disposal. 

In accordance with policy WM8, evidence through a waste audit or a 
similar mechanism (e.g. a site waste management plan) demonstrating 
how this will be achieved must be submitted and can be secured by a 
suitably worded planning condition. 

3.15.2 The proposal is major development and involves excavation, demolition 
and construction activities which are likely to generate significant volumes 
of waste. Policy WM8 of the Merseyside and Halton Waste Joint Local 
Plan, the National Planning Policy for Waste (paragraph 8) and Planning 
Practice Guidance (paragraph 49) apply.  

3.15.3 The Sustainability Statement (Yonder 18th February 2022) indicates that 
recycled materials will be used where possible, and also commits to 
production of a SWMP. This is welcomed. The applicant has provided 

Page 101



sufficient information in Proposed Site Plan (Drawing No. P402 RevE 
September 2021) to comply with policy WM9 (Sustainable Waste 
Management Design and Layout for New Development) of the Merseyside 
and Halton Joint Waste Local Plan (WLP) and the National Planning Policy 
for Waste (paragraph 8). 

 

Summary of 
Decision 

Having regards to the individual merits of this application the 
recommendation to approve Planning Permission, subject to conditions, 
has been taken having regards to the relevant Policies and Proposals in 
the Wirral Unitary Development Plan (Adopted February 2000) and all 
relevant material considerations including national policy advice. In 
reaching this decision the Local Planning Authority has considered the 
following: 

  CONCLUSION 

The redevelopment of this site would in summary, provide a modern 
employment generating facility on an allocated employment site within a 
designated industrial area well connected to existing infrastructure.  

The proposed development is sustainably located, will not prejudice 
highway safety or neighbouring amenity, have biodiversity and visual 
benefit, preserve heritage, not pose flooding risk or have other negative 
environmental impacts subject to mitigation measures asset out in the 
attached conditions. The proposed development is not considered to 
prejudice existing businesses including neighbouring critical national 
infrastructure. The development would result in part of the loss of a waste 
allocation but for the reasons outlined above and in consideration of the 
adopted planning policy as whole, the material considerations in favour of 
the proposal are considered to outweigh any limited harm. 

The proposal is therefore considered to comply with the Relevant 
Development Plan Policy, principally formed by the Wirral Unitary 
Development Plan Policy; and other material considerations, such as the 
National Planning Policy Framework.   

  

Recommended 
Decision: 

Approval, Subject to Conditions 

  

Recommended Conditions and Reasons: 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.  
 
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 
 
2. Except where modified by the conditions attached to this planning permission, the 
development hereby approved relates to and shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

Page 102



P21-2391_01-A Detailed Soft Landscaping Proposals 
P21-2391_02-A Detailed Soft Landscaping Proposals   
Proposed Boundary Treatments Site Plan P403 Rev. D  
Proposed Elevations Dwg no. P200 rev. D  
Gatehouse Information Dwg no. P110 rev. B 
Proposed Roof Plan Dwg no. P101 rev. B 
Proposed Floor Plan Dwg no. P100 rev. C 
Proposed Site Plan Dwg no. P402 rev. E 
Proposed Surface Treatments Site Plan Dwg no. P404 rev. C 
Proposed External Lighting Layout Dwg No. 2390/E01 rev. P1 
Site Location Plan Dwg no. P401 rev. B 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans, 
in the interests of proper planning. 
 
3. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application, no above ground 
construction works shall take place until samples and / or full specification of materials to be 
used externally on the building(s) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the material type, colour and texture. The 
development shall be carried out only in accordance with the agreed schedule of materials 
and method of construction.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the development in the interests of visual 
amenity and to comply with Policy GR5 of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan.  
 
4. Prior to commencement of development, a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) document shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in consultation with Natural England. The CEMP should address and propose 
measures to minimise the main construction effects of the development and, amongst other 
things, should include details of ecological mitigation, pollution prevention and soil resource 
management. The CEMP would normally be expected to include the agreed method 
statements to mitigate or avoid adverse environmental impacts. The CEMP should include, 
but not be limited to, the following:  
 

 pollution prevention measures as set out in paragraph 6.3.3 of the shadow 
HRA report (Information for a Habitats Regulations Assessment, RPS, 
ECO02904 March 2023, Rev E, Final); 

 details of construction lighting, designed to avoid light spillage into the 
adjacent Liverpool Bay SPA; 

 details of measures to reduce significant noise effects to waterbirds during 
construction. These details should include the location and specification of 
acoustic fencing to be installed upon site boundary; and 
  

 details of the Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW) that will be employed on-
site throughout construction period to assist with avoidance of visual 
disturbance effects to waterbirds within the adjacent Liverpool Bay SPA, as 
set out in paragraph 6.4.9 of the shadow HRA (Information for a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment, RPS, ECO02904 March 2023, Rev E, Final). 

 

Page 103



Reason: To manage and mitigate the main environmental effects during the construction 
phases of the proposed development. 
 
5. A scheme of noise control for any plants and equipment to be installed on site shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the development 
is brought into use. The approved scheme shall be implemented before the plant and 
machinery is brought into operation and the approved noise protection measures shall 
thereafter be retained unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To prevent the emission of noise above a level which would be detrimental to aural 
amenity of the area and to comply with Policy EM6 of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan.  
 
6. The development shall be undertaken in full accordance with the recommended mitigation 
measures set out under section 7 of the approved Air Quality Assessment (Hoare Lee, 
Revision 01, 18 February 2022). This shall include a Dust Management Plan which shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
development and the scheme constructed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  To manage and mitigate the air quality impacts of the proposed development in 
accordance with Policy EM6 of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan. 
 
7. The development shall not be brought into use until a Travel Plan has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council as Local Planning Authority. The Plan shall include 
immediate, continuing and long-term measures to promote and encourage alternative modes 
of transport to the single-occupancy car. For the avoidance of doubt, the Travel Plan shall 
include, but not be limited to: a) Involvement of employees b) Information on existing 
transport policies, services and facilities, travel behaviour and attitudes c) Access for all 
modes of transport d) Targets for mode share e) Resource allocation including Travel Plan 
Co-ordinator and budget f) A parking management strategy g) A marketing and 
communications strategy h) Appropriate measures and actions to reduce car dependence 
and encourage sustainable travel i) An action plan including a timetable for the 
implementation of each such element of h above j) Mechanisms for monitoring, reviewing 
and implementing the travel plan. 
 
The Approved Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the timetable contained 
therein and shall continue to be implemented as long as any part of the development is 
occupied and in use. An annual report shall be submitted to the Council no later than 1 month 
following the anniversary of the first occupation of the development for a period of 5 years. 
The annual report shall include a review of the Travel Plan measures, monitoring data and 
an updated action plan.  
 
Reason: To maximise opportunities for travel by modes of transport other than the private 
car, and to ensure that the development is sustainable in accordance with TRT3 and Wirral 
UDP and Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
8. Construction of the development authorised by this permission shall not begin until the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) has approved in writing a full scheme of works and timetable 
for the construction of the new highways and/or amendment of the existing highway made 
necessary for this development, including new carriageways, footways, street lighting, 
surface water drainage, traffic signs, road markings, traffic calming, tactile paved pedestrian 

Page 104



crossings, street furniture, access onto the adjacent highway, road safety audit and 
monitoring. The approved works shall be completed in accordance with the LPA approval 
prior to the occupation of the development. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to comply with Policy EM6 of the Wirral UDP. 
 
9. Prior to the commencement of development, a Construction Management Plan shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA). The provisions 
of the Construction Management Plan shall be implemented in full during the period of 
construction and shall not be varied unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to comply with Policies EM6 and EM7 of the 
Wirral UDP. 
 
10. The parking provision shown on the approved Proposed Site Plan (Dwg no. P402 rev. E) 
shall be provided prior to first occupation of the building hereby approved. The parking area 
shall be hardsurfaced and shall be made available for its intended use at all times thereafter 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policy EM6 of the Wirral UDP. 
 
11. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the principles set out within the flood risk assessment (Rev 1, 02/12/2021, 
Tier Consult). The measures shall be fully implemented prior to the first use of the 
development and in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the 
scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local 
planning authority in consultation with the lead local flood authority.  
 
Reason To ensure satisfactory sustainable drainage facilities are provided to serve the site 
in accordance with the Paragraphs 167 and 169 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Planning Practice Guidance and Defra Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage 
Systems. 
 
12. Prior to the commencement of development, details of a sustainable surface water 
drainage scheme and a foul water drainage scheme shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage schemes must include: 
(i) An investigation of the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice 
Guidance (or any subsequent amendment thereof). This investigation shall include evidence 
of an assessment of ground conditions and the potential for infiltration of surface water in 
accordance with BRE365; 
(ii) A restricted rate of discharge of surface water agreed by the local planning authority (if it 
is agreed that infiltration its discounted by the investigations); 
(iii) Levels of the proposed drainage systems including proposed ground and finished floor 
levels in AOD; 
(iv) Incorporate mitigation measures to manage the risk of sewer surcharge where 
acceptable; and 
(v) Foul and surface water shall drain on separate systems. 
 

Page 105



The approved schemes shall also be in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent replacement 
national standards. 
Prior to occupation of the proposed development, the drainage schemes shall be completed 
in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the 
development. 
 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the 
risk of flooding and pollution.  
 
13. No tree felling, scrub clearance, hedgerow removal, vegetation management and / or 
ground clearance is to take place during the period 1 Marc to 31 August inclusive. If it is 
necessary to undertake works during the bird breeding season then all trees, scrub, 
hedgerows and vegetation are to be checked first by an appropriately experienced ecologist 
to ensure no breeding birds are present. If present, details of how they will be protected are 
required to be submitted for approval, and the approved details adhered to in full. 
  
Reason: In the interests of ecology having regards to Wirral Unitary Development Plan Policy 
NC7. 
 
14. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of bird boxes to 
include number, type and location on an appropriately scaled plan as well as timing of 
installation, has been provided for approval and implemented in accordance with those 
details. 
 
Reason: To maintain the favourable conservation status of protected species and maintain 
bird nesting sites in accordance with Policy NC7 of the Wirral UDP and Section 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
15. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the principles set out within section 5.4.2. of the Ecological Impact 
Assessment (Ref: August 2022RSE_5581_R1_V1_ECIA). The measures shall be fully 
implemented prior to the construction of the development and in accordance with the timing 
/ phasing arrangements embodied within the report, unless otherwise agreed in writing, by 
the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: To maintain the favourable conservation status of protected species and maintain 
bird nesting sites in accordance with Policy NC7 of the Wirral UDP and Section 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
15. Prior to the commencement of development, the applicant should submit a method 
statement on the removal of Cotoneaster, an invasive species, which includes the following 
information:  
 A plan showing the extent of the plant(s). 
  The method(s) that will be used to prevent the plant/s spreading further, including 
demarcation.  
 The method(s) of control that will be used, including details of post-control monitoring.  
 How the plants will be disposed of after treatment/removal.  
 

Page 106



Reason: To remove an invasive species as listed under Schedule 9 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act (1981) and ensure the protection of the native natural environment in 
accordance with Policy NC01 of the Wirral UDP. 
 
16. Notwithstanding the approved plans a revised landscaping scheme which shall include 
coastal shrubland or other suitable alternative habitat along the eastern side of the site shall 
be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. The approved scheme shall 
be implemented in full prior to the development being brought into use. Any trees of plants 
that within a period of five years of planting, are removed, die or become, in the opinion of 
the local planning authority, seriously damaged or defective shall be replaced with others of 
a species, size and number as originally approved within the first available planting season.  
 
Reason: To maintain the favourable conservation status of protected species in accordance 
with Policy NC7 of the Wirral UDP and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
17. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the recommendations set out in section 13 of the Ground Investigation 
Report (Ref: TE1338-TE-00-XX-RP-GE-001-V0, Version 01, Tier Consult).  
 
Reason: To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health or the water 
environment in line with Policy WA3 and WA4, and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
18. If, during the undertaking of site works, contamination not previously identified is found 
to be present, then further site works shall be suspended until the extent of contamination 
has been determined and defined in agreement with the local planning authority. Written 
Agreement shall then be obtained from the local planning authority to enable onsite works to 
recommence within the area(s) not affected by the contamination identified. 
Works shall not recommence with the defined area of contamination until the developer has 
submitted and obtained written approval, from the local planning authority, of a remediation 
strategy detailing how the identified contamination shall be dealt with. The remediation 
strategy shall be implemented as approved.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution from 
previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site. This is in line with 
Paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
19. Prior to any part of the permitted development being brought into use, a verification report 
demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved remediation strategy and the 
effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to, and approved in writing, by the local 
planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling and monitoring carried out in 
accordance with the approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation 
criteria have been met.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health or the water 
environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification plan have 
been met and that remediation of the site is complete. This is in line with Policy WA3 and 
WA4, and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Page 107



20. No development shall take place on site until a Site Waste Management Plan confirming 
how demolition and construction waste will be recovered and re-used on the site or at other 
sites, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved plan shall thereafter be implemented in full unless otherwise agreed in writing. 
  
Reason: To achieve the efficient use of resources and reduce the amount of waste to be 
sent to landfill in accordance with Policy WM8 of the Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside 
and Halton.   
 
21.  No development shall commence until a final detailed sustainable drainage design for 
the management and disposal of surface water from the site, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Lead Local Flood 
Authority. The details of the ‘Final’ Sustainable Drainage Strategy must be based on the 
principles and details identified in Proposed Foul and Surface Water Drainage Layout 
(T_21_2487-55-01 rev P2 dated 1 March 2022 – drawing produced by Tier Consult).  
 
The final Detailed Sustainable Drainage Design will be required to comply with DEFRA’s 
technical standards for sustainable drainage systems and the SuDS Manual and include:  

• Justification of final design  
• The new outfall/headwall shown on the Proposed Foul and Surface Water Drainage 

Layout drawing (T_21_2487-55-01 rev P2 dated 1 March 2022) is shown as outside 
the red line boundary; therefore written confirmation / evidence is required to prove 
/ confirm the surface water outfall / headwall is situated within land owned / controlled 
by the applicant or provision of evidence of a legal agreement between the applicant 
and the land owner is required. 

• Provision of evidence of any licences and agreements that must be obtained / 
required for provision of a new outfall / headwall into The River Mersey at an 
uncontrolled discharge rate. 

• Drawings to include:   
- Final layout of roads, buildings, finished floor levels, external levels and boundaries; 
- Final layout of sewers; outfalls; SuDS; flow control details (must match flow control 
in calculations) hatched above ground storage areas with depths indicated;   
- Overland flow paths designed for exceedance of the 1 in 100 plus climate change 
event, system blockages, etc. An impermeability of 100% for the whole site area 
(including soft landscaped areas) should be used in all cases when determining 
exceedance flows;  
- Invert levels (to OS datum), manhole and pipe sizes; pipe gradients; SuDS; 
emergency overflows and annotation that correlates to the hydraulic calculations;  

 Hydraulic modelling for final drainage strategy to include:  
- System performance for following return periods; 1, 30, 100 plus appropriate current 
climate change allowance;  
- Demonstration of sufficient storage for the 1 in 100 year (plus climate change) 
critical rainfall event with a limiting discharge rate as stated in the above referenced 
drainage strategy;  
- Design criteria summary, Full network details table, pipe and manhole schedules, 
contributing area summary, control/storage structure details, results summary print 
outs;  
- Flow control device design calculations demonstrating compliance with limiting 
discharge rate as stated in the above referenced drainage strategy at the correct 
design head;  
- Volumetric runoff co-efficient (Cv) should be set to ‘1’;  

Page 108



- Apply the correct climate change allowance: For further information on the correct 
climate change allowance to apply you should refer to ‘Flood Risk Assessments: 
Climate Change Allowances’.  

• Timetable demonstrating completed SuDS construction prior to occupation 
• Construction phase surface water management plan  

 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory sustainable drainage facilities are provided to serve the site 
in accordance with Paragraphs 167 and 169 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
22. The development hereby permitted by this planning permission, including all components 
of the sustainable drainage system, shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
final Sustainable Drainage Strategy, including any phasing embodied within, and maintained 
in perpetuity in accordance with an agreed Operation and Maintenance Plan, to be submitted 
for each development phase, approved by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with 
the Lead Local Flood Authority.  
The approved drainage scheme shall be fully constructed prior to occupation in accordance 
with the approved details, phasing and timetable embodied within the approved final 
Sustainable Drainage Strategy, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, 
in writing, by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Lead Local Flood Authority. 
‘As built’ drainage design/layout drawings and a final Operation and Maintenance Plan, 
confirming asset details and maintenance arrangements, shall be submitted to the Lead 
Local Flood Authority, in accordance with any approved phasing, prior to occupation.  
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory sustainable drainage facilities are provided to serve the 
site in accordance with the Paragraphs 167 and 169 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
   

Informatives 

1.The plans relating to the above application have been examined and below are the Fire 
Authority’s observations: 
 
 Access for fire appliances should comply with the requirements of Approved Document B5 
of the Building Regulations.  
 Water supplies for firefighting purposes should be risk assessed in accordance with the 
undermentioned guidance in liaison with the water undertakers (United Utilities - 0161 907 
7351) with suitable and sufficient fire hydrants supplied.  
* The premises should comply with Section 55 of the County of Merseyside Act 1980. 
 
2. In order to fulfil highway conditions it will be necessary to enter into a legal agreement with 
the Council to secure the works under the Highways Act and the New Roads and Streetworks 
Act. The agreements would include details of the works to be carried out including all 
necessary new carriageways, footways, street lighting, surface water drainage, traffic signs, 
TROs, road markings, traffic calming, tactile pedestrian paved crossings, street furniture, 
Road Safety Audit and Road Safety Audit Monitoring. 
 
3. The recommendation of the LLFA to accept a sustainable surface water drainage proposal, 
is always predicated on the fact that maintenance of the surface water drainage system is 
secured in perpetuity to manage flood risk for the lifetime of the development.  
It is the advice of the LLFA that the maintenance arrangements capable of ensuring an 
acceptable standard of operation for the lifetime of the development, to satisfy paragraph 
169 of the NPPF, are adoption by a statutory undertaker/public body or a s106 agreement 

Page 109



with the developer to ensure maintenance of the system as per the approved Operation and 
Maintenance Plan. The proposed drainage strategy includes communal storage components 
that will NOT be adopted by United Utilities. The LPA should be satisfied that maintenance 
of all communal components has been secured in perpetuity via an appropriate mechanism 
/ agreement. 

 

  

Last Comments By:  
 

Expiry Date: 
 

  

  

  
 

Page 110



 

  

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Thursday, 8 June 2023 

REPORT TITLE: APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO STRATEGIC 

APPLICATIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE  

 

REPORT SUMMARY 

The purpose of this report is to enable the Planning Committee to establish a 

Strategic Applications Sub Committee with the Terms of Reference which are set out 

within this report.  

This matter affects all Wards within the Borough  

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Planning Committee is recommended to approve that: 

(1) The Terms of Reference of the Strategic Applications Sub-Committee, as 

referred to in paragraphs 3.1 and 3.2 of this report, be noted;   

(2) The size of the Strategic Applications Sub-Committee, having regard to the 

options referred to at paragraph 5.3 of this report be between 6 and 9 

Members, politically balanced.  

(3)  The Monitoring Officer be authorised as proper officer to carry out the wishes 

of the Group Leaders in allocating Members to membership and substitute 

membership of the Strategic Applications Sub-Committee and to appoint 

those Members with effect from the date at which the proper officer is advised 

of the names of such Members.  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 111

Agenda Item 8



SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1.1  The Constitution, as approved by Council, requires the establishment of the 

Strategic Applications Sub–Committee. The membership of the Sub-

Committee may comprise between 6 and 9 members of the Planning 

Committee, politically balanced. The proposals within this report enable the 

Committee to decide upon the size of the Sub-Committee and to agree the 

allocation of seats to different political groups.  

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

2.1  Various options are set out within the second recommendation to this report.  

2.2 Planning Committee could resolve to make further alterations to the terms of 

reference of the Strategic Applications Sub-Committee. 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

3.1  The Committee is requested to note that the terms of reference of the 

Strategic Applications Sub-Committee as approved by Council on 24 May 

2023 is described follows: 

A Sub-Committee of between six (6) and nine (9) members of the Planning 

Committee, politically balanced, with responsibility for making decisions 

regarding: 

(a) the implications of major developments outside of the Borough that could 

have an impact on local residents; and  

(b) the following categories of applications for planning permission: 

(i) large-scale major developments (defined by the Ministry for Housing, 

Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) as those of 200 houses or 

more or 10,000 square metres of non-residential floor space) which, by their 

nature, (e.g. scale, location etc.) have wider strategic implications and raise 

issues of more than local importance; 

(ii) planning applications for mineral extraction or waste disposal, other than 

small scale works which are ancillary to an existing mineral working or waste 

disposal facility;  

(iii) significant applications by Wirral Borough Council to develop any land 

owned by the Council, or for development of any land by the Council or by the 

Council jointly with any other person (Regulation 3 application); 

(iv) applications which, if approved, would represent a significant departure 

from the policies of the statutory development plan, where they are 

recommended for approval; 

Page 112



(v) any application where the Director responsible for the planning service 

considers it inappropriate to exercise delegated powers having regard to the 

public representations received and consultee responses;  

And 

(c) consideration of documents relating to the Local Development Framework 

and advise the Economy, Regeneration [and Housing] Committee where 

appropriate. 

3.2 Planning Committee in June 2022 resolved that to amend the respective 

responsibilities of Planning Committee and Strategic Applications Sub 

Committee so that the latter has responsibility for the following matters.  

  

(i) Large-scale major developments (defined by the Ministry for Housing, 

Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) as those of 200 houses or 

more or 10,000 square metres of non-residential floor space) which, by their 

nature, (e.g. scale, location etc.) have wider strategic implications and raise 

issues of more than local importance. 

  

(ii) significant applications by Wirral Borough Council to develop any land 

owned by the Council, or for development of any land by the Council or by the 

Council jointly with any other person (Regulation 3 applications). 

  

(iii) Applications where it was proposed to make a decision that is a significant 

departure from the policies of the development plan, with the exception of 

domestic extensions. 

  

(iv) Decisions that would need to be referred to the Secretary of State with the 

exception of applications for Planning Permission and/or Listed Building 

Consent to Grade I listed buildings, where there are no objections on 

conservation grounds. 

  

(v) informal pre-application discussions with developers in relation to any 

matter which potentially may come before the Sub-Committee for later 

decision.” 

 

3.3 Committee is requested to agree the size of the Sub-Committee having 

regard to the options with the consequential proportions of seats to the 

relevant political groups set out at paragraph 5.3 of this report. Under the 

proposals within this report leaders of Political Groups will notify the 

Monitoring Officer of nominations to membership and substitute membership 

of the Sub-Committee. 

 

Page 113



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1  There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 

5.1  The establishment of the Strategic Applications Sub Committee is in 

compliance with the Council’s Constitution and the proposed options for 

membership as set out in the recommendation are politically balanced as 

required in the Sub-Committee’s Terms of Reference. 

5.2 The Council must comply with the requirements of sections 15 to 17 of the 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989, and the relevant regulations 

concerning political balance on committees and sub-committees. 

5.3 The proportionality arrangements in terms of allocations of seats to political 

groups for 6 to 9 members are as follows: 

(i) 6 members – 2 Labour Members, 2 Conservative Members, 1 Green 

Member and 1 Liberal Democrat member; 

(ii) 7 members – 3 Labour Members, 2 Conservative Members, 1 Green 

Member and 1   Liberal Democrat Member; 

(iii) 8 members – 4 Labour Members, 2   Conservative Members, 1 Green 

Member and 1 Liberal Democrat Member; and 

(iv) 9 members – 4 Labour Members, 2 Conservative Members, 2 Green 

Members and 1 Liberal Democrat member. 

 

5.4 Planning Committee established a Sub- Committee for the 2022/23 municipal 

year with 7 members.  
 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1  There are no implications.  
 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 Failure to establish the Sub-Committee would not accord with the Council’s 

Constitution and would have a detrimental impact on effective decision 
making and sound governance with regards to planning matters. 

 
8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  

8.1  There are no engagement/consultation implications arising from this report.  

9.0  EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 

carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. There are no equality 

implications arising from the proposals within this report.  

 

Page 114



10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 The recommendations contained within this report are expected to have no 

impact on emissions of Greenhouse Gases. 

11.0  COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 The recommendations contained within this report are expected to have no 

impact on Community Wealth.  

REPORT AUTHOR:  Matthew Neal, Lead Principal Lawyer    

 email: matthewneal@wirral.gov.uk  

APPENDICES 

None 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

The Constitution 

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Meeting  Date 

Planning Committee meeting  

Appointment of Members to Strategic Applications 

Sub-Committee 

15 October 2020 

Planning Committee meeting  

Appointment of Members to Strategic Applications 

Sub-Committee 

10 June 2021 

Council Meeting- Constitution  25 May 2022 

Planning Committee meeting  

Appointment of Members to Strategic Applications 

Sub-Committee 

 9 June 2022 

 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee – Terms of Reference: 
 
The principal role of the Planning Committee is to act as the administrative 
committee responsible for making decisions as local planning authority on planning 
applications, development control and similar regulatory matters, which are more 
particularly described as Functions relating to town and country planning and 
development control and related matters as set out at Schedule 1 of the Local 
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (as 
amended). 
 
The Committee is charged by full Council to fulfil those functions:  
 
(a) to consider and determine applications submitted under the Planning Acts for 

planning permission, listed building consent, and reserved matters pursuant to 
major planning applications; 

(b) to consider and determine applications for the display of advertisements 
submitted under the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) 
(England) Regulations; 

(c) to determine whether prior approval applications for the construction, installation, 
alteration or replacement of telecommunications masts submitted under Part 24 
Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
Order 1995 should be granted or refused;  

(d) related matters including but not limited to: 

(i) applications for ‘hedgerow removal’ (Hedgerow Regulations 1997, as 
amended); 

(ii) applications to undertake works to trees subject to a Tree Preservation Order 
or within a Conservation Area (Town and Country Planning Trees 
Regulations 1999, as amended); 

(iii) applications for remedial notices in respect of high hedges (Anti Social 
Behaviour Act 2003, as amended); 

(iv) applications for Hazardous Substances Consent (Planning Hazardous 
Substances Act, 1990, as amended); 

(v) the obtaining of particulars of persons interested in land under Section 16 of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976; 

(vi) powers related to Commons Registration; 

(vii) functions relating to public rights of way; 

(viii) the licensing and registration functions relating to the New Roads and 
Street Works Act 1991 and the Highways Act 1980; and 

(ix) functions relating to Town and Village Greens; 

Page 117

Agenda Annex



(e) to exercise any other function of the Council under the Planning Acts and related 
legislation, whether as a local planning authority or otherwise, which may be 
referred to it by the Director for Economic and Housing Growth or other officer 
authorised by him/her. 

 
 

Page 118


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 27/04/2023 Strategic Applications Sub Committee
	Minutes


	5 APP/23/00471: Grazing Land Leasowe Road, Wallasey Village, Wirral, CH45 8LP, Erection of 13 dwellings together with associated infrastructure, access, internal roads, landscaping and associated works
	6 APPH/22/01521: Dee Haven, 94 Caldy Road, Caldy, Wirral, CH48 2HZ, Refurbishment of existing dwelling, erection of new single storey rear extension with associated landscaping, including demolition of existing garage and outbuildings, creation of additional parking space and removal of part of boundary wall to facilitate same, and erection of garden store at rear.
	7 APP/22/00334: Camell Laird, Campbeltown Road, Birkenhead, Wirral, CH41 9BP, Construction of a building for employment purposes Class E(G)IIII, B2 and B8, along with a gatehouse associated infrastructure including: service yard, car parking, drainage and hard and soft landscaping
	8 Appointment of Members to Strategic Applications Sub-Committee
	 Planning Committee Terms of Reference

